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BY WRITING A MANIFESTO, WE REINFORCE OUR DUAL COMMITMENT TO BUSINESS SUCCESS AND SOCIAL PROGRESS AND,
HEREBY, ACKNOWLEDGE THAT WE CANNOT WORK FOR HEALTHIER CHOICES AND LIFESTYLES WITHOUT CARING ABOUT THE
HEALTH AND WELLNESS OF OUR COMMUNITIES. THIS MANIFESTO EMBODIES OUR COMMITMENT TO BUILD AN ALIMENTA-
TION REVOLUTION FOR THE HEALTH OF DANONE, THE HEALTH OF OUR PLANET AND OUR WHOLE ECOSYSTEM, THE HEALTH

OF CURRENT AND FUTURE GENERATIONS..

OUR CONVICTIONS

At Danone, we believe that...

600D HEALTH IS EVERYTHING TO ALL OF US

Good health is a state of general well-being. It involves the
mind as well as the body, and emotion as well as sensation.

FOOD IS HEALTH'S MOST SIGNIFICANT PARTNER

Healthy eating is an essential part of life, to build and to
maintain our well-being. From the earliest times, all over the
world, people have always understood this.

HEALTH CANNOT LIVE LONG WITHOUT
PLEASURE

Without appetite and delight, no-one would eat or keep
eating well. Pleasure in food is a precondition of every
healthy lifestyle.

FOOD IS THE WARMTH BEHIND EVERY CULTURE

Healthy eating is an idea that goes beyond nutritional needs
and appetites. Its richness is a part of every culture - always
different and always special - and worth taking the time to
understand..

THE WEALTH OF NATIONS GROWS FROM
A HEALTHY PLANET

Everything we eat depends on the earth that it grows in or
feeds on. As gardeners of this planet, we have a duty of care
to manage its resources responsibly and sustainably.

RESEARCH IS OUR BEST ALLY

Food is more than nature. It is the outcome of human
endeavour, combining technological progress with deeper
understanding of its value and its potential..

PREPARING FOR TOMORROW IS THE BUSINESS
OF TODAY

New ways can and will be found, to better serve this genera-
tion and the next, and to bring healthy, affordable food and
safe water to the greatest number, across the world.

MISSION IN ACTION

At Danone, we stand for...

FOR HEALTH AND WELL-BEING

We will stand next to our employees and our consumers
in their quest for good health, by encouraging diets and lifes-
tyles that will bring the most benefit in people’s lives.

WITH THE BEST WE CAN DO, ALWAYS

We will stand by all our products and services, with pride,
as a guarantee of their quality and integrity - whatever
a consumer may choose, and wherever they may choose it.

FOR EVERY INDIVIDUAL, AT EVERY AGE,
WITH PLEASURE

We will stand for the widest range of products and services
to feed the needs and wishes of every person at every key
stage of life, encouraging balanced nutritional habits or deli-
vering specific health benefits.

FOR YOUR HOME, NOT SOMEONE ELSE'S

We will stand up for the principle that every culture has
the right to preserve its own way of eating and living well,
by offering products inspired and developed out of local
needs and ideas.

FOR OUR PLANET AND ITS LIVING HERITAGE

We will stand together for a healthy planet and devote all our
energies to protect and preserve the abundance of life and
the variety of nature, in all its forms and ecosystems.

FOR WHAT IS INVENTED AND WHAT STILL
NEEDS TO BE INVENTED

We will always respect our obligation to prepare the future
through new, sustainable ways to provide healthy food and
access to safe water for all, by bonding with communities
and stakeholders. We will keep our place at the forefront of
these efforts.

NOT ALONE, BUT WITH PARTNERS AND FRIENDS

We will stand firmly by our belief that it is better to walk toge-
ther than apart, by engaging always with more consumers
and more communities, in our common quest to find better
health through better food, for the greatest number.

MANTFESTO
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‘Bringing health through
food to as many people as possible”

'I :

‘With organic growth of «4.4% and trading operating margin up +17 basis paints Like-for-Like, our results
are very solid and perfectly aligned with our objectives. They confirm that we have taken this mission
to & new Level, paving the way for strong, profitable and sustainable growth by 2020.

We have moved toward an optimal combination of more agility and discipline in our resource atlocation
and decision processes.

Our choices in 2015 delivered these solid results, which came from the combination of our businesses
In both developed and emerging markets across all four of our categories.

In 2016, in & global context that remains volatile, Danone will continue to invest behind its brands and
witl mark a further important step to develop a balanced model of strong, profitable and sustainable
growth.”

Emmanuel FABER, Danone Chief Executive Officer

447 “1710ps 047

2015 like-for-like 2015 like-for-like 2015 recurring
Sales growth Trading operating EPS growth at constant
margin growth exchange rates
Sales Dividend
(in € billions) (in € per share)
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REY FIGURES

e 39,781 employees
e Reduction of carbon intensity® of 464% from 2008 to 2015
o Reduction of water intensity of 5% in 72015

o Ranked in Leading social responsibility indexes: Dow Jones Sustainability
Index, Vigeo, Ethibel Sustainability Index

(a) Based on constant scope of consolidation and on emissions under Danone’s direct responsibility
[packaging, industrial activities, logistics and end of life].

Sales Sales
by Division by geographical area
(in € millions) (in € millions)

- Fresh Dairy Products
- Waters

- Early Life Nutrition
Medical Nutrition

- Europe

- CIS & North America

| YR

Key Financial Figures 1013 1014 1015
Sales @ 21,298 21,144 22,412
Like-for-like growth () +4.8% +4.7% +4.4%
Trading operating income (@ (b} 2,809 2,662 2,892
Trading operating margin ® 13.19% 12.59% 12.91%
Like-for-like growth [ -81 bps -12 bps +17 bps
Net income @ 1,550 1,253 1,398
Recurring EPS bl (@) 2.78 2.62 2.93
EPS (@ 2.42 1.88 2.10
Free cash-flow excluding exceptional items (2] (b 1,549 1,401 1,529

(a) In € million.
(b) Financial indicators not defined in IFRS, see definition in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined by IFRS.
[c) In € per share.
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER AND INFORMATION ON THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

1.1 INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

1.1 INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

Legal name and trade name

The Company’'s legal name is “Danone” (hereafter the “Company”], having been changed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23, 2009

from “Groupe Danone”.

Registration number in the Register of commerce and companies

The Company is registered in the Paris Register of commerce and companies under number 552 032 534.

The Company’'s APE Industry code is 7010Z, which corresponds to the activity of registered offices.

Date of start of activity and term of the Company

The Company business activities started on January 1, 1908. The Extraordinary Shareholders” Meeting of April 25, 2013 extended the

term of the Company to April 25, 2112.

Registered office

The Company’s registered office is located at 17, boulevard Haussmann, in Paris (75009], France. The telephone number of the registered

office is +33 (0) 144 3520 20.

Legal form and applicable Lauw

The Company, a French corporation (société anonyme) with a Board of Directors, is subject to the provisions of Book Il of the French

commercial code.

Corporate purpose

In accordance with Article 2 of Danone’s by-laws, the purpose of
the Company, whether directly or indirectly, in France and in any
country, shall be:

® industry and trade relating to all food products;

® the performance of any and all financial transactions and the
managementofanyandall propertyrights and securities, whether
listed or unlisted, French or foreign, together with the acquisi-
tion and the management of any and all real estate properties
and rights.

In general, the Company shall be entitled to effect any and all pro-
perty, real estate, industrial, commercial and financial transactions
relating directly or indirectly or possibly useful in any connection
whatsoeverto the Company in the fulfillment of its corporate purpose.

Statutory auditors

Principal Statutory auditors
Ernst & Young et Autres

Member of the Compagnie Régionale des Commissaires aux comptes
de Versailles

Tour First, 1, place des Saisons

TSA 4444

92037 Paris-La Défense Cedex

Represented by Gilles COHEN and Pierre-Henri PAGNON
Start date of first term of office: April 22, 2010

Expiration date of terms of office: date of the Shareholders’ Meeting
deliberating on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2015

b DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015

Itshall be entitled toactand to effect the aforementioned transactions
directly or indirectly, in any form whatsoever, on its own behalf or
on behalf of third parties, and whether alone or in a joint-venture,
association, grouping or company involving any other individuals
or companies.

It shall also be entitled to acquire interests and holdings in any
and all French and foreign companies and businesses, regardless
of the purpose thereof, by means of the establishment of special
companies, through asset contributions or subscriptions, through
the acquisition of shares, bonds or other securities and any and all
company rights and, in general, by any means whatsoever.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

Member of the Compagnie Régionale des Commissaires aux comptes
de Versailles

63, rue de Villiers

92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex

Represented by Anik CHAUMARTIN and Philippe VOGT
Start date of first term of office: May 21, 1992

Expiration date of terms of office: date of the Shareholders’ Meeting
deliberating on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2015



INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER AND INFORMATION ON THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

substitute Statutory auditors
Auditex

Tour First, 1, place des Saisons

TSA 4444

92037 Paris-La Défense Cedex

Start date of first term of office: April 22, 2010

Expiration date of terms of office: date of the Shareholders’ Meeting
deliberating on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2015

1.7 INFORMATION ABOUT THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Yves NICOLAS

63, rue de Villiers

92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex

Start date of first term of office: April 22, 2010

Expiration date of terms of office: date of the Shareholders” Meeting
deliberating on the financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2015

1.7 INFORMATION ABOUT THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

selected financial information

The financialinformation presented in section Key figures is extrac-
ted from section 3 Danone’s business highlights in 2015 and outlook
for 2016 and from Danone’s consolidated financial statements for
fiscalyear 2015 preparedinaccordance with International Financial

Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the consolidated
financial statements for fiscalyear 2015 are presented in section 4.1
Consolidated financial statements and Notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Reporting Standards (IFRS).

References and definitions

Unless otherwise noted, all the references mentioned hereafter refer to the following elements:

ALMA All references herein to the "ALMA” region refer to the Asia/Pacific, Latin America, Middle East and
Africa region;

CIS Commonwealth of Independent States;

Company All references herein to the “Company”, the “Group” or "Danone” refer to the Company and its consoli-

dated subsidiaries;
Consolidated financial state-
ments, Notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements

All references herein to consolidated financial statements and Notes to the consolidated financial sta-
tements refer to consolidated financial statements for 2015 fiscal year;

All references herein to DANONE call options refer to DANONE share purchase options subscribed by
the Company to hedge certain stock-option plans described in section 7.2 Treasury shares and DANONE
call options held by the Company and its subsidiaries;

Danone’s market shares and
positions

All references herein to Danone’s market shares or market positions are derived from third-party mar-
ket studies and databases provided in particular by Nielsen, IRI, Euromonitor and Canadean institutes;

All references herein to “Division” or “Divisions” refer to one or all of Danone's Fresh Dairy Products,

Waters, Early Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition businesses;
Allreferences herein to “Early Life Nutrition” and the early life nutrition business or market refer to baby
formula (infant milk formula, follow-on milk, growing up milks), milk- and fruit-based desserts, cereals,
jars of baby food and ready-made baby food;
All references herein to “emerging countries” refer to countries other than mature countries where
Danone is present;

All references herein to “Fresh Dairy Products” and the fresh dairy products business or market refer
to processed dairy products and exclude cream and butter;

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015 !
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1.7 INFORMATION ABOUT THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

GPS
(Group performance shares)

GPU

(Group performance units)

Market shares
and market positions

Put options granted
to non-controlling interests

Value of GPS (Group
performance shares)
and stock-options

Waters

Allreferences herein to GPS (Group performance shares) refer to Company shares subject to performance
conditions granted to certain employees and corporate officers described in section 6.3 Compensation
and benefits of corporate officers and governance bodies;

All references herein to GPU (Group performance units) refer to multi-annual variable compensation
described in section 6.3 Compensation and benefits of corporate officers and governance bodies;

All references herein to the “Group”, the “Company” or "Danone” refer to the Company and its consoli-
dated subsidiaries;

All references herein to "markets” for products in particular, or to market shares, refer to markets for
packaged products and exclude products that may be otherwise marketed or sold;

All references herein to “mature countries” refer to Western Europe (particularly France and Southern
Europe, including Spain, Italy and Portugal), North America, Japan, Australia and New Zealand;

All references herein to “Medical Nutrition” and the medical nutrition business or market refer to adult
or pediatric clinical nutrition products to be taken orally or through a tube in the event of malnutrition
related to illness or other causes;

All references herein to “put options granted to non-controlling interests” refer to put options granted
by Danone to certain non-controlling shareholders on all or part of their equity investment in certain
consolidated subsidiaries described in section 3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review;

All references herein to stock-options refer to options to purchase DANONE shares granted to certain
employees and corporate officers described in section 6.3 Compensation and benefits for corporate officers
and governance bodies;

All references herein to the value of GPS and stock-options refer to the fair value of those shares and
options calculated as of grant date in accordance with IFRS 2.

All references herein to “Waters” and the waters business or market refer to bottled water, water sold
in large containers (jugs), and water sold in small containers (cups).

Incorporation by reference

Pursuant to article 28 of regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 of the Euro- @
pean Commission dated April 29, 2004 and to section 36 of IAS 1,
Presentation of Financial Statements, requiring that at least one-year
comparative information be presented, this Registration Document
incorporates by reference the following information:

e theconsolidated financial statements and the Statutory auditors’
report relative to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 on
pages 67 to 138 of the Registration Document filed with the AMF
on March 21, 2014 under filing number D. 14-0186;

e the annual financial statements and the Statutory auditors’
report relative to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 on
pages 139 to 158 of the Registration Document filed with the

AMF on March 21, 2014;

the selected financial information, the Group’'s management
reportand all non-financial information pertaining to the fiscal
year ended December 31,2013 on pages 2to 3and 39 to 61 of the
Registration Document filed with the AMF on March 21, 2014;

e theconsolidated financial statements and the Statutory auditors’
report relative to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 on
pages 73 to 152 of the Registration Document filed with the AMF
on March 19, 2015 under filing number D. 15-0176;

e the annual financial statements and the Statutory auditors’
report relative to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 on
pages 153 to 173 of the Registration Document filed with the
AMF on March 19, 2015;

e the selected financial information, the Group’'s management
report and all non-financial information pertaining to the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2014 on pages 2 to 3 and 41 to 64 of
the Registration Document filed with the AMF on March 19, 2015.

§ DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015
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1.3 PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

1.3 PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Person responsible for the Registration Document
Emmanuel FABER
Chief Executive Officer

Danone

Statement by the person responsible for the Registration Document

This is a free translation into English of the Chief Executive Officer’s statement issued in French, and is provided solely for the convenience of
English-speaking readers.

Paris, March 16, 2016

“We hereby certify, after having taken all reasonable measures, that to our knowledge all the information in this Registration Document
is accurate, and that no information liable to alter its scope has been omitted.

We certify that, to our knowledge, the financial statements in this document have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting
standards and provide a faithful representation of the assets, financial situation, and results of the Company and of all companies within
its scope of consolidation, and that the management report referred to in the cross-reference table in the Appendix of this Registration
Document provides a faithful representation of the business trends, results and financial position of the Company and of all companies
within its scope of consolidation, as well as a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

The Statutory auditors have provided us with a letter (lettre de fin de travaux, or auditors’ completion letter] stating that their work has
been completed, and in which they indicate that they have verified the information included in this Registration Document relative to the
financial situation and the financial statements, and have read this Registration Document in its entirety.”

Chief Executive Officer

Emmanuel FABER

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015 g
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OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES, RISH FACTORS

1.1 HISTORY

L1 HISTORY

Company roots: from glass to food

Danone’s origins date back to 1966 when the French glass man-
ufacturers, Glaces de Boussois and Verrerie Souchon Neuvesel,
merged to form Boussois Souchon Neuvesel, or BSN. In 1970,
BSN began a program of diversification in the food and beverage
industry by successively acquiring three of its primary glass con-
tainer customers: Brasseries Kronenbourg, Société Européenne
de Brasseries and Société Anonyme des Eaux Minérales d'Evian.

1973-1990: European expansion

During the 1970s and 1980s, after selling off its flat glass opera-
tions, the BSN group focused its growth on food and beverages,
primarily in Western Europe. In particular, this expansion included
the acquisition of breweries, Générale Biscuit, a French holding
company that owned LU and other European biscuit brands, the

1990-1996: global ambitions

Inthe early 1990s, the BSN group started consolidating the positions
acquired in previous years in Western Europe, enabling the devel-
opment of synergies. In France, for example, BSN acquired Volvic
to strengthen its position in bottled water. During this period, the
Companyalso laid the groundwork forits international development
by completing numerous acquisitions and joint-ventures outside
of Western Europe [(in the Asia-Pacific region, Latin America and

1996-2007: refocus on health food

In 1997, the Company decided to focus on its global business lines.
Danone therefore steadily made divestitures in its Grocery, Pasta,
Prepared Foods, Confectionery Products, Beer, Sauces and Italian
Cheese and Meats activities. Danone also sold BSN Glasspack, the
holding company of its Glass Containers business.

These acquisitions made BSN France's market leader in beer,
bottled water, and baby food.

In 1972, Antoine RIBOUD, then the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of BSN, laid the foundation of the “dual economic and so-
cial project,” which has since guided the Company’s strategy. The
followingyear,in 1973, BSN merged with Gervais Danone, a French
food and beverage group specialized in dairy and pasta products,
becoming the largest food and beverage group in France.

biscuit subsidiaries of Nabisco, Inc. and also Galbani, Italy's leading
cheese maker. BSN group became the third-largest diversified
food and beverage company in Europe, and the largest in France,
Italy, and Spain.

Eastern Europe, aswellasinselected markets such as South Africa
and the Middle East).

In 1994, in order to consolidate its position as a multinational food
and beverage group, the Company decided to change the BSN parent
company’s name to “Groupe Danone” (in 2009, the shareholders
would subsequently approve the change of the legal name of the
Groupe Danone parent company to “Danone”).

In 2006, Danone formalized its mission of “bringing health through
food to as many people as possible,” and the following year it com-
pleted a 10-year period of refocusing its operations on the health
food sector. Indeed, in 2007 Danone sold nearly all of its Biscuits
and Cereal Products business and acquired Numico, which enabled
it to add Early Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition activities to its
portfolio.

1007-1014: acceleration of international development

Inorderto pursueitsinternational development strategy around its
four businesslines, Danone acquired the Unimilk group’s companies
in Russia in 2010 and the Wockhardt group’s nutrition activities
in India in 2012. In 2013, the Company forged a strategic alliance
with Mengniu, the Chinese fresh dairy products market leader, to
accelerate the growth of this product categoryin China. In 2014, an

agreementwas signed calling for this alliance to be extended to the
infant formula category through Danone’s acquisition of a stake in
Yashili, a Mengniu subsidiary. Since 2013, Danone has also accel-
erated its development on the African continent, notably with the
acquisition of a controlling interest in Centrale Danone in Morocco
and equity interestsin Fan Milk in West Africa and Brookside in Kenya.

Since 1014: toward strong, profitable and sustainable growth

In 2014 Danone marked a turning point, changing its governance
structure and launching its transformational “Danone 2020" plan,
which ambition is to generate strong, profitable and sustainable
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growth by 2020. In order to reinforce the Company’s economic and
socialimpact, Danone also created its "Manifesto,” the cornerstone
of the "Danone 2020" plan.
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1.7 PRESENTATION OF DANONE

Activities Principal markets

Danone’s strategy is in line with its mission of “bringing health ~ The Company is present in all of the regions of the world:
through food to as many people as possible™. Since 2007 and the
acquisition of Numico, this mission has beenimplemented through
four Divisions:

® FEurope, accounted for 40% of the Company sales in 2015, with
contributions from all four Divisions. The leading countries in
this region include France, the United Kingdom and Spain;

® the Fresh Dairy Products Division (production and distribution of
yogurts, fermented dairy products and other specialties of fresh
dairy products) accounted for 50% of Company sales in 2015;

® the CIS & North Americazone represented 20% of the Company
salesin 2015 thanks to the strong performance of the Fresh Dairy
Products Division in these markets;

e the Waters Division (production and distribution of packaged
natural, flavored and vitamin-enriched water] represented 21%
of Company sales in 2015;

® the ALMA zone -which combines the activities in the Asia/Pacific
region, Latin America, Africa and the Middle East - represented
40% of the Company sales in 2015:

e the Early Life Nutrition Division (production and distribution of
specialized food for babies and young children to complement
breast-feeding) accounted for 22% of Company sales in 2015;

¢ inthe Asia/Pacific region, China and Indonesia lead the way
thanks to robust sales in the Waters and Early Life Nutrition
Divisions;

e the Medical Nutrition Division (production and distribution of
specialized food for people afflicted with certainillnesses or frail
elderly people) made up 7% of Company sales in 2015.

e inLatin America, Argentina, Mexico and Brazil are the main
contributors for the Company’s four Divisions;

e in the Africa and Middle East regions, Morocco and South

Africaarethe largest markets, focused mainly on fresh dairy

Consolidated sales by Division products. The Early Life Nutrition Division is also growing
(in € millions) rapidly in this zone through an export model.

Consolidated sales by geographical area
(in € millions]

Fresh Dairy Products

- Waters

- Early Life Nutrition

- Medical Nutrition Europe
- CIS & North America
[ YA

Each Division has a global management unit, to which the dedicated
local entities report.

Danone enjoys, in value, the following leadership positions: No. 1
worldwide for fresh dairy products, No. 3 worldwide for packaged
waters, No. 2 worldwide for early life nutrition and No. 1 in Europe
for medical nutrition.
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Europe
- CIS & North America

B v

Top 10 countries in terms of sales

Year ended December 31

2015
United States 11%
France 10%
China 7%
Russia 7%
United Kingdom 6%
Indonesia 6%
Argentina 6%
Mexico 5%
Spain 5%
Germany 4%

The evolution of this ranking compared to last year should be read
taking currency fluctuations into account, especially their high

volatility on emerging markets.
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Top 10 customers

In 2015, Danone’s top 10 customers worldwide (of which five are
French] accounted for approximately 18% of its consolidated sales;
the top five customers represented approximately 12% of its con-
solidated sales.



1.3 STRATEGIC GROWTH AREAS

True to its mission of “bringing health through food to as many
people as possible,” Danone reaffirmed and translated this mission
into a Manifesto.

This Manifesto is the core of the transformational "Danone 2020”
five-year plan, which focuses on three main streams:

® Alimentation: encourage healthier eating behaviors;

Alimentation

Danone does not limit its mission to simply satisfying nutritional
needs. Italsoincludes acultural, social, emotionaland physiological
dimension linked to local eating habits in each region around the
world. Danone has chosen to provide food that takes into account
each community’s own way of life while using pleasure as means
to get people to adopt and maintain healthy eating behaviors. The
idea is therefore not to focus exclusively on the sale of food prod-
ucts but to adopt a broader vision and promote dietary practices
by offering a superior product and services experience as well as
a healthy alternative that is adapted to the communities while still
retaining the goal of building, fueling and protecting health capital.

In that context, demographic trends and the major nutrition chal-
lenges generate new growth opportunities for Danone. A balanced
dietisinfactagenuine challenge inaworld where 25% of the world's
population suffers from malnutrition and 10% of adults are obese. In
this context, each of Danone’s businesses - Fresh Dairy Products,
Waters, Early Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition - contribute to
this mission and playa rolein the profitable and sustainable growth
strategy that Danone has set. Danone is thus developingits activities
in all of the world's regions, notably in emerging countries. They
constitute a key lever for Danone to successfully carry out its mission
while ensuring its long-term growth. In 2015, emerging countries
accounted for 52% of the Company’s sales.

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES, RISK FACTORS
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® Strategic resources: strengthen Danone’s ability to protect and
optimize our essential resources—water, milk and plastic— and
secure its license to operate in a cycle-oriented way;

® People and the organization: the goalis tap into the full range of
talentat Danone to give its corporate architecture more solidity
and more relevance for today’s world.

To implement its strategy, Danone relies first on major growth
markets inwhich it enjoys strong positions such as Indonesia, China,
Russia, the United States, Mexico and Brazil. In these countries,
the Company continues to develop the consumption of its product
categories, especially through innovation.

Danone is also pursuing its expansion in new countries in order to
develop new sources of growth. Since 2013, Danone has accelerated
its growth in Africa, with the increase of its majority stake in Centrale
Danone (Fresh Dairy Products, Morocco) and the purchase of an
equity interest in Fan Milk (Fresh Dairy Products, West Africa) and
Brookside (Fresh Dairy Products, East Africa). Danone’s goal is to
take advantage of all of the growth opportunities Africa has to offer
in the near and medium term.

With a presence in more than 130 markets, Danone is committed
to developing and optimizing its organizational model to make
the most of its global size while providing strong support to local
businesses. In the near term, Danone’s priority is to strengthen its
various supply, distribution, manufacturing base and quality control
platforms and to fuel future growth by relying in particular on its
ability toinnovate. Innovation plays a key role in the implementation
of this strategy in order to adapt the products and distribution to
the local conditions and consumption patterns.

A new approach to managing strategic resource cycles

Danone has decided to focus increasingly on the upstream segment
of its activity (environmental management, raw materials supply,
manufacturing processes and logistics), not only to optimize costs
butalsoto create aleverforvalue creation and differentiate Danone
from the competition.

Thus one key stream of the transformational "Danone 2020 plan
is a new approach for managing strategic resources [milk, water
and plastic). For Danone, these resources are essential not just
froman economic standpoint but also an environmental and social
standpoint. Danone’s key raw materials come from nature and must
therefore be protected by creating shared value for ecosystems and
communities where Danone operates. These resources are there-
fore managed as cyclesin order to ensure their long-term viability,
limit their volatility and, lastly, gain a true competitive advantage.

® inthe milk industry, the Company is working closely with lo-
cal producers to improve animal husbandry practices in both

developed and emerging countries. Collection entities and
cooperatives open to small producers were created in several
countries (Egypt, Indonesia, India, Mexico, Turkey, Ukraine, etc.)
in order to help members manage their farms, optimize their
purchases, improve the herd’s feed or get veterinary treatment;

® inthe area of water, Danone has made commitments to protect
resources, particularly where they are scarce, and uses water
in harmony with local ecosystems and communities. By 2020,
Danone plans to deploy a new tool for measuring its water
footprint in allits subsidiaries. The Company is also committed
to reducing water consumption in its factories by 20% between
2010 and 2020;

® intheareaofplastics, Danoneis striving to reduce its weight and
excess packaging and to use recycled materials. In that regard,
Danone contributes to the development of recycling channels
for its packaging in many countries.
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People and the organization

As part of its transformational "“Danone 2020" plan, Danone has
adopted anew administrative organization thatis more robust and,
more importantly, better adapted to an environment that will remain
politically and financially complex, unstable and fragmented. Danone
has therefore launched several initiatives in order to enhance its
efficiency, expertise and flexibility, notably One Danone and Beyond
Budget projects.

® One Danone: this project seeks to make a lasting and positive
contribution to the success of Danone and its employees. Its
objective is to build a solid framework for Danone that supports
its unique spirit and culture. Danone’s goal is to make a bigger
impactand improve its consistency and efficiency by sharing and
strengtheningits expertise and using resources across business
lines to an even greater extent. These efforts will support the

development of its activities, while the Company remains close
to its markets. On the one hand, Danone needs to optimize its
organizational entities by pooling certain support functions,
and on the other it needs to invest in key functions, which are
essential to ensure the long-term viability of Danone’s model;

® alongwith One Danone, Danone has also reviewed how it steers
its performance, time frames and activity cycles in its Beyond
Budget initiative. This initiative marks a radical shift in how
Danone plans to allocate resources going forward. Danone is
thusreplacing the traditional budget process with a rolling fore-
cast, l.e.adynamic forecasting process based on new forecasts
determined at the end of each quarter with the aim to strengthen
discipline, flexibility, agility and the organization’s precision in
terms of resource allocation.

Towards a strong, profitable and sustainable growth by 2020

Danone’s ambition is to generate strong, profitable, sustainable
growth by 2020, meaning a growth greater or equal to 5% including
the following dynamics:

® between +3% and +5% for the Fresh Dairy Products Division;

® between +7% and +10% for the Waters and Early Life Nutrition
Divisions;

® between +6% and +8% for the Medical Nutrition Division.

Danone also commits to ayearly marginincrease to which the main
leveristhe structuralrecovery of the Fresh Dairy Products Division
margin. Danone anticipates an improvement of the Fresh Dairy
Products Division margin of more than 200 bps between 2015 and
2020 compared to 2014 with like-for-like exchange rates.

11 DESCRIPTION AND STRATEGY OF THE DIVISIONS

Danone implements its strategy in a specific manner for each of its four Divisions.

Fresh Dairy Products

The Fresh Dairy Products Division produces and markets yogurts,
fermented fresh dairy products and specialized dairy products.

The Division’s strategy consists of developing consumption of these
products in all regions around the world. The strategy is based
notably on:

® strengthening the Division’s main growth platforms such as
the United States, Russia, Brazil, Mexico, Morocco and South
Africa, where consumption of fresh dairy products offers strong
growth potential;

® maintaining business volume in mature European countries,
notably through product quality, constant product line renewal
and innovation;

e thedevelopmentof newregions, in particularin Africa (for example
in Egypt, Nigeria and Kenya) or Asia (notably in China through
the strategic alliance forged with Mengniu in 2013].

The Division continuously renews its product lines in terms of fla-
vor, texture, ingredients, nutritional content and packaging. This
innovative capacity enables it to reach new consumer segments
and develop new consumption moments while adapting to the local
tastes and dietary preferences of each market and making sure to
cover the full range of price points.

To promote the consumption of fresh dairy products, the Division
also strives to build a consensus around the central role of its
products as part of a balanced daily diet. Fresh dairy products
certainly do provide essential nutritional benefits for the human
body, notably proteins, carbohydrates, calcium, phosphorus and
vitamins B2 and B12.
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The Division relies on a solid portfolio of international and local
brands benefiting from a high profile and good reputation.

The Division’s main brands and product lines are as follows:

® so-calledcorebusiness brands, whichinclude basic fresh dairy
products such as plain and fruit yogurts;

® Greek-styleyogurt lines such as Oikos and Danio, which contain
twice as much protein as standard yogurt;

® theActivialine, which has been marketed for more than 20 years
and is now present in more than 70 countries;

® brandsaimedatchildrenand pre-adolescents, such as Danonino,
which have been replicated in more than 50 countries (notably
under the Fruchtswerge, Danoninho and Petit Gervais brand names),
as well as Danimals in the United States, Serenito in Argentina
or Téma in Russia;

e functional brands such as Actimel, Danacol or Densia;
® indulgentlinessuch as Danette, Fantasia, Danissimo or YoCrunch;

® Vijtalinea, also marketed under the Light & Fit, Taillefine or Ser
brand names, which comprises the low-fat product lines.



Waters

The Waters Division comprises the natural waters business along
with Aquadrinks (waters flavored and vitamin-enriched with natural
fruit juice extracts, fruit juice and vitamins).

The Division has international brands such as evian, Volvic and Badoit
and very strong local brands: Aqua in Indonesia, Mizone in China,
Bonafontin Mexico, Villavicencio and Villa del Surin Argentina, Fontvella
and Lanjardn in Spain and Zywiec Zdroj in Poland.

The Division’s strategy is based primarily on the development of
bottled water and Aquadrinks consumption, notably through the
following measures:

® promotion of hydration-related health benefits: Danoneis establish-
ing initiatives to promote healthier hydration through partnerships
with public health authorities and scientists and by communicating
directly with consumersinorderto inspire healthier hydration prac-
tices. In particular, the Company runs the "Hydration for Health”
scientific platform. For the past seven years, 150 scientists and
public health authority researchers from around the world have
met annually to share and promote the advances in the area of
hydration science and its positive effect on health;

Early Life Nutrition

The Early Life Nutrition Division focuses on the first 1,000 days of the
child, i.e. from the first day of pregnancy until age 2. The Division’s
activity consists of specialized foods for babies and young children to
complement breast-feeding while always complying with the World
Health Organization (WHO) Code and local laws. It also offers products
and services to pregnant women and nursing mothers.

Theinfant formula segmentaccounts for more than 80% of this Division's
activity, with a special emphasis on the development of second and third
stage follow-up milks (designed for children at least six months old).

Supplementary foods for babies, also known as “weaning food”,
account for more than 10% of the activity and are marketed mainly in
European countries such as France, Italy and Poland.

The Division's development strategyis builtaround a single main area
of focus, namely developing products suitable fora child’s first years,
and consists of three priorities:

® demonstrate the relevance of this category of Early Life Nutrition
brands as an answer to the specific needs of pregnant women,
nursing mothers, babies and young children by raising awareness

Medical Nutrition

The Medical Nutrition Division focuses mainly on dietary manage-
ment of patients receiving medical treatment, babies afflicted with
certainillnesses and frail elderly people. The Division’s products are
designed primarily to treat malnutrition due to disease in order to
satisfy special food needs. These products — most of which are eligible
for insurance reimbursement - are recommended or prescribed by
healthcare professionals [doctors, medical personnel in hospitals,
clinics and pharmacies).

Underthe umbrella brand Nutricia, the Company has a large portfolio
of brands marketed in several countries, including for example:

® Nutrison:tube feeding for dietary management of patientswho are
not capable of feeding themselves normally or who suffer from
illness-related malnutrition;

e fortimel/Fortisip: liquid oral nutritional supplements;

® Neocate: hypoallergenic products aimed at babies and children
with dairy or multiple food protein allergies;
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® long-term management and environmental protection of water
resources: Danone strives to preserve the unique quality and
sustainable nature of its natural waters products by strengthen-
ing the protection of its springs and respecting the water cycle.
Danone is also committed to getting all socio-economic players
involved through associations and partnerships that promote the
development of non-polluting activities and the establishment of
agricultural practices that do less harm to the environment around
the catchment areas;

e thedevelopmentofaline of lightand natural beverages, alternatives
tosodas and other sweetened beverages. The challenge is to facil-
itate the adoption of healthier hydration practices for consumers of
sweetened beverages. Many of the Company’s water brands also
come in flavored versions or mixed with fruit juice, i.e. Aquadrinks;

® packaginginnovation:inordertoreduceits environmentalimpact,
the Division has substantially reduced the weight of its bottles over
many years and uses new packaging materials such as ones made
from plant-based or recycled materials.

among parents, opinion leaders and healthcare professionals about
the importance of nutrition during the first 1,000 days;

® associatehealthandflavorastwoindivisible qualitiesin baby food.
The Early Life Nutrition Division is very active in research on taste
acquisitionintheyoungest childrenand prepares products offering
awiderange of flavors, in close collaboration with sensory experts;

® determine local nutritional needs, notably inthe new regions where
the Division is growing by studying local dietary practices as well
as the state of nutrition in order to provide answers to local public
health challenges in accordance with the requirements of health
authorities and local associations.

The Division deploys its local brands from international brand plat-
forms, thereby enabling the global and rapid dissemination of best
practices from each country. For example:

e the "Blue House" platform includes in particular the Aptamil,
Nutrilon, Almiron and Gallia brands;

e the "Heritage Brands” platform includes mainly the Bebelac,
Cow&Gate, Blédina, Malyutka and Dumex brands.

® Nutrini/Infatrini: oral and feeding tube food products adapted for
the dietary treatment of babies and children who, due to illness,
are incapable of feeding themselves normally or sufficiently or
suffer from malnutrition.

Danone’s strategy consists of increasing its global coverage by
establishing in new countries and developing various distribution
channels. The Company estimates that the medical nutrition market’s
growth potential is significant, mainly as a result of (i) the aging of
the population in some countries, [ii] the increased awareness of
the role of nutrition in health, [iii) the emergence of new illnesses
and allergies, and (iv] the growing number of screening procedures
enabling early management of afflicted patients. Moreover, current
research to accompany certain illnesses and allergies could con-
tribute to this growth potential.
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Distribution

Although theyvaryto reflect local specificities, Danone’s distribution
models reflect two main approaches:

® distribution aimed at major retail chains;
e distribution to traditional commercial sales points.

Moreover, a significant portion of the products in the early life
nutrition and medical nutrition markets are distributed through
more specialized distribution channels such as hospitals, clinics
and pharmacies.

Danone is constantly streamlining its logistics flows in order to
improve service quality while reducing costs. This policy is based
onanongoing assessment of its organization, notably through out-
sourcing of distributionin collaboration with specialized companies.

Major retail chains

Danone establishes global partnerships with its main distributors
in order to help develop the sales of its products. These partner-
ships are related in particular to logistics collaboration, online
sales development and food safety management. Mattersinvolving
pricing policies, which are up to each subsidiary, are not included
in these agreements.

In particular, Danone has taken severalinitiatives to work closely with
large retailersinorderto optimize the flow of goods and the inventory
levels of its customers with the Efficient Consumer Response (ECR)
approach. Inaddition to inventory management, automatic inventory
replenishments andjust-in-time delivery, ECR aims at working with
distributors to better manage consumer demand and expectations at
the sales points. To that end, the Company has implemented shared
inventory management systems with its leading distributors, that

Competition

The Company’s competitorsinitsrespective business lines include
(i) large multinational food and beverage corporations such as
Coca-Cola, General Mills, Kellogg's, Kraft Heinz, Mondelez, Nestlé,
PepsiCo, Unilever, (i) large corporations in the medical nutrition
and early life nutrition segments such as Abbott and Mead Johnson,
(iii) more local companies specialized in certain product lines or
markets such as Fresenius, Lala, Yakult and Biostime, or [(iv] retail
chains offering generic or private label products.

The packagedfood and beverage sectoris highly competitive due to
the large number of nationaland international competitors. Danoneis
confident thatits strategy for profitable growth is strongly supported
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are used to coordinate inventory levels among stores, as well as at
the distributors” and Danone’s warehouses.

Danone alsoworkswith its customers to develop specific marketing
activities such as joint promotions.

Traditional. market outlets

Globally, and inthe emerging countries particularly, a large portion
of Danone’s sales is generated through traditional market outlets
thanks to small-scale sales points networks. An in-house sales
force and exclusivity agreements with wholesalers represent a
competitive advantage for the Companyin countries where traditional
commerce and independent supermarkets continue to account for
a significant share of food and beverage sales.

Moreover, in Latin America and Asia, a significant portion of the
Waters Division’s products is directly distributed to consumers
(Home & office delivery or HOD].

Finally, in the emerging countries, Danone is developing new local
retail models through large networks of independent sellers.

Specialized distribution channels of hospitals,
cbinics and pharmacies

Inthe early life nutrition and medical nutrition markets, a significant
portion of products are marketed in hospitals, clinics and pharmacies,
through specialized distributors or following a tendering process.
Danone also maintains an ongoing relationship with healthcare
professionals through its medical representatives, who meet with
general practitioners and specialists [pediatricians, nutritionists,
etc.) as well as pharmacists.

by its products’ quality, taste, affordability and innovative aspect,
and by the powerful brand image conveyed on health, nutrition or
societal and environmental responsibility.

Considering that success in this food and beverage industry is
achieved through strong local market positions, Danone strives
to be the market leader of each segment in every country where it
operates, always in compliance with laws and regulations relating
to competition. This strategy allows for a long-lasting, balanced and
constructive relationship with major distribution networks, by mar-
keting key productsyielding growth and profitability for both parties.



Research and Development

Presentation of Danone’s Research and
Development

Research and Development plays a centralrole inthe implementation
of Danone’s growth strategy. Danone believes that food can play an
essential role in addressing health challenges.

The Research and Development strategy focuses on four main
innovation areas:

® progress: building bridges between science and food to contribute
tothe health of people of allages, from the youngest to the oldest;

e reliability: committing to the nutritional quality of the products
and managing natural resources sustainably;

® cultures: staying connected to eating practices, integrating
cultural differences and local needs and encouraging healthier
dietary practices within communities;

e well-being: promoting Danone’s product categories to support
daily health and well-being for all. Danone therefore conducts
nutrition research, educates and trains health professionals on
diet-related matters and contributes toward improved dietary
practices for the consumers through educational and informa-
tional campaigns.

The R&D strategy is based on a unique approach to nutrition. This
approach involves stakeholders who are concerned by the public
health challenges in the countries where Danone operates.

Research and Development organization

The Research and Development function at Danone Nutricia Research
has approximately 1,500 employees spreadin the following locations:

e two international research centers: Danone Research Centre
Daniel Carasso (Palaiseau, France) and Nutricia Research
[Utrecht, the Netherlands);

e five specialized centers:
e Danone Research Packaging in Evian, France,
e Nutricia Research Singapore, in Singapore,

e Danone Research Fresh Dairy Technological Expertise, in
Madrid, Spain,

e Danone Research Fresh Dairy Technological Expertise, in
Chekhov, Russia,

e Dumex Research, in Shanghai, China.

e |ocal teams in 55 Danone subsidiaries.

Scientific collaborations

In their research, the Research and Development teams regularly
work with external partners such as universities and public research
centers. For example:

® Danone benefits from the expertise of external scientific com-
mittees on strategic topics such as cultures, including ones with
probiotic potential, or water;
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e Danone maintains permanent contact with the scientific com-
munity to better understand health and nutrition issues. This
collaborative scientific approach allows us to the pooling of
investments, resources and skills. This ongoing dialogue with
scientists and researcher’s supports two of the commitments
made by Danone inits Food Nutrition Health Charter. This Charter
formalizes Danone’s strategy in the nutrition and health area and
is consistent with the main orientations set by health authorities
in many countries;

® aspartofits contribution to nutrition research, Danone created
the Danone Institutes (non-profit entities) to help strengthen the
understanding of the links between food, nutrition and health.
Asofend-2015, 16 Danone institutes are established worldwide.
Their initiatives cover everything from support for scientific
research to information and training for health professionals,
to educational programs for children and the general public.

Danone’s Research and Development innovation
areas

Danone determines its Research and Development areas in accor-
dance with the Company’s strategy based on four innovation areas:

Progress: bridging life science and nutrition

This innovation field consists of building bridges between science
and nutrition in order to develop food that strengthens the health
potential of each individual, from the youngest to the eldest.

To that end, Danone has developed scientific expertise in selecting
and characterizing lactic acid bacteria as well as understanding the
way these bacteria (known as probiotics) can benefit human health.

Inrecentyears Danone has therefore developed substantial knowl-
edge of the various genomic, molecular, cellular, physiological and
functional elements that form the basis for this link between the
microbiota, the immune system, intestinal walls and their overall
contribution to health.

To develop fermented dairy products that have an impact on the
human body's balance and homeostasis, Danone uses various ap-
proaches, including applying its extensive collection of lactic acid
bacteria and selecting the top-performing ones depending on the
desired physiological and clinical effects.

For all the work in these areas, the Research and Development
teams use the latest techniques in genomics, cellular and mo-
lecular biology, cytometry and robotics. They design and set up
clinical studies based on international standards and utilize the
latest statistical analysis methods. They also collaborate with other
internationally-recognized, high-level scientific partners such as
INRA (French National Institute for Agricultural Research) in Paris,
Harvard Medical School in Boston (United States), the Institut
Pasteur [Pasteur Institute) in Paris and University College of Cork
in Ireland. Furthermore, to further develop these research areas,
Danone sponsors conferences with these institutions in order to
share the latest findings to the international scientific community.
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Reliability: committing to nutritional quality

and resource preservation

Danone applies the recommendations of the World Health Organization
(WHO]J. Controlling the nutritional composition of its products is a
key component of its nutrition strategy, with a dual objective:

® strive to reach nutritional targets defined by nutrient, product
category and consumer group. These targets were redefined
in 2015 for all three Divisions: Fresh Dairy Products, Early Life
Nutrition and Waters (Aquadrinks);

® develop products that constitute an alternative, with nutritional
and taste qualities exceeding those of other market products or
categories that might be chosen ina given consumption situation.

Danone preparesand implements action plans to steadily improve its
products in order to maintain the sensory qualities of the products
and ensure continued consumer preference.

This approach is also conducted in accordance with a strict food
safety policy.

Cultures: embracing local eating and drinking
habits

Danone puts the consumer at the heart of its development proj-
ects. To that end, Danone relies on its Sensory & Behavior Science
Department within the Research and Development Department.

Danone firmly believes that consumers and their specific needs must
be taken into account early in product development, including the
identification of research areas. Danone’s Research and Development
seeks to understand the human parameters of food consumption
and identify consumer expectations in terms of taste, usage and
experience in everyday life and targeted benefits.

As mentioned above, understanding local challenges surrounding
nutrition and food as well as major challenges pertaining to public

Plants and equipment

Danone’s general policy is to own its production facilities. Danone
has many, widely-dispersed production facilities, except in the
Early Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition Divisions, whose sites
are more concentrated.

Danone has production facilities around the world in its principal
markets. As of December 31,2015, Danone had 194 production sites
[see section 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s social, societal and
environmental performance in compliance with the Grenelle Il law).
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health and involving food are also key to Danone’s strategy. This en-
ables Danone to develop products thatare relevantand more closely
adapted to local market conditions. To that end, Danone drafted a
“Nutriplanet” map of nutrition and public health thatidentifies food
deficiencies and excesses in specific countries and allows Danone
to adapt its product recipes accordingly. Today, Nutriplanet has
been completedin over 50 countries and is a resource for research
published in scientific journals.

This expertise also leads Danone to study dietary practices and
trends, and the role of various food groups in the local cultures
through a sociological approach.

Well-being: promoting Danone’s product
categories

Through its four Divisions, Danone focuses on product categories
that support primarily health and well-being:

e fermented fresh dairy products, because daily consumption of
yogurt is consistent with the recommendations for a balanced
diet, as evidenced by the official food pyramids of many countries;

® water, an essential beverage;

e carly life nutrition, because the diet in the first 1,000 days of life
is critical for good health;

® medical nutrition, because targeted nutrition works together
with medical treatment.

Danoneis developing a new research area that involves measuring
the impact of its products on consumer diets, an area that, among
other factors, includes: the creation of quantitative measurement
tools; the definition of diet quality indices; the development of
methods to classify consumers based on their dietary practices;
the quantified simulation of the impact of a change in a given food
on the overall quality of the diet.

Lastly, Danone rents some facilities, notably offices and warehouses
(see section 3.4 Balance sheet and financial security review).

The production sites are inspected regularly to assess possibilities
forimproving quality, environmental protection, safety, and produc-
tivity. Onthe basis of these reviews, management establishes plans
forthe expansion, specialization, upgrading, and modernization (or
closing) of specific sites.



Production during the year and main production sites
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1.5 OTHER ELEMENTS RELATED TO DANONE'S ACTIVITY AND ORGANIZATION

Year ended December 31, 2015

Division’s largest sites @

Division’s share of

Fresh Dairy Products
Waters

Early Life Nutrition
Medical Nutrition

Production ® Location production !

7 million tons Mexico, Brazil "M%

26 billion liters France, Indonesia 12%

1 million tons Ireland 16%
210 million liters Netherlands 49%

(a) The two largest sites for the Fresh Dairy Products and Waters Divisions, and the single largest site for the Early Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition Divisions.

(b) For the year.

Raw materials purchasing

Danone’s raw materials needs consist mainly of:

® materialsneeded to produce food and beverage products, mainly
milk and fruits (the “food raw materials”). On a value basis, milk
represents the main raw material purchased by Danone. These
purchases consist mainly of liquid milk, for which the operating
subsidiaries typically enterinto agreements with local producers
or cooperatives. Liquid milk prices are set locally, over contractual
periods that vary from one country to another. The main other
food raw materials are fruit-based preparations and sugar;

® product packaging materials, in particular plastics and card-
board (“packaging”). Packaging purchases are managed through
global and regional purchasing programs making it possible
to optimize skills and volume effects. Prices are influenced by
supply and demand at the global and regional levels, economic
cycles, production capacities and oil prices;

® energy supplies. They account for only a limited portion of the
Company’s overall purchases.

Danone’s strategy increasingly relies on the upstream portion of
its activities and in particular its supply of raw materials, not only
to manage its costs but also to make it a genuine source of value
added and differentiation relative to the competition (see section
2.3 Strategic growth areas).

These upstream activities are now managed as cycles in order to
ensure their sustainability, limit their volatility and gain a genuine
competitive advantage:

® regarding the milk cycle, the goal is to ensure a sustainable
long-term supply, continue to improve competitiveness and
reduce the dependency on this raw material by optimizing the
use of all milk components thanks to new technologies and the
pooling of needs among the various business divisions, notably
Fresh Dairy Products and Early Life Nutrition;

® as for the plastics cycle, the main challenge is to develop new,
100%-recyclable materials, give second life to plastic packaging

that will be distributed in the market, increase the share of re-
cycled PET from 10% to 25% in several countries and ultimately
produce bottles made from second-generation, 100% bioplastics;

® lastly, Danone’s main challenge at the heart of the water cycle
remains protecting its springs.

The price trends of major raw materials may affect the structure
of Danone’s results. In that context, the Company manages raw
materials cost volatility through the following measures:

® continuous productivity gains: Danone strives in particular to
optimize its use of raw materials (reductions in production waste,
lighter packaging and more effective use of milk sub-components
inthe Company’svarious products) and take advantage of pooled
purchasing foritsvarious subsidiaries. In 2013, for example, the
Company established centralized purchasing for the Fresh Dairy
Products Division other than milk;

e implementation of a purchasing policy ("Market Risk Management”)
that consists of defining rules for securing the physical supply
and price setting with suppliers and/or on financial markets when
they exist. The monitoring of exposures and the implementation
of this policy are made for each raw materials category by the
Company’s central purchasing team. The buyers typically ne-
gotiate forward purchase agreements with suppliers, since no
financial markets exist that would allow full hedging of the vola-
tility of Danone’s main raw materials purchase prices. Forward
purchase agreements are monitored at the Company level at
the end of each year. The information regarding these future
purchasing commitments is presented in section 3.4. Balance
sheetand financial security review. Also, with respect to Danone’s
two main raw materials categories [milk and dairy ingredients
and plastics including PET], a sensitivity analysis of the impact
of changes in their prices on the Company’s annual purchasing
costs (applied simultaneously in all countries where Danone has
aproduction activity) is presented in Note 5.7 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
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1.5 SIMPLIFIED ORGANIZATIONAL CHART AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2015

social and environmental responsibility

See sections 5.1 Danone’s social, societal and environmental responsibility approach, 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s social, societal and
environmental responsibility in compliance with the Grenelle Il law, and 5.3 Funds sponsored by Danone.

Financial risk management

See section 2.7 Risk factors.

1.6 SIMPLIFIED ORGANIZATIONAL CHART AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2015

The following simplified organizational chart presents the structure of Danone’s overall legal organization. Some subsidiaries may
nevertheless have a different parent company.

Danone SA
(France)

Compagnie Gervais Holding Internationale Danone Baby &
Danone SA de Boissons SAS Medical Holding SAS

(France) (France) (France)

Dan Investments SAS
(France)

Early Life Nutrition
and Medical Nutrition
Division subsidiaries

Other subsidiaries
and other investments

Fresh Dairy Products Waters Division
Division subsidiaries subsidiaries

Parent company Danone

Danone SA is the parent company of the Danone group. The company has mainly a role of (i] holding directly or indirectly companies of
the Group, and (i) coordination of the main functions and activities, with an average number of employees of 798 in 2015.

Consolidated subsidiaries

The lists, by Division, of the 20 largest, fully consolidated subsidiaries in terms of net sales are presented in Note 17 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The list of Danone’s consolidated subsidiaries by country is presented in the Appendix to this Registration Document.
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1.6 SIMPLIFIED ORGANIZATIONAL CHART AS OF DECEMBER 31, 7015

Main fully consolidated but not fully owned companies

Ownership of non-controlling interests as of December 31

Listing

(in percentage] Division Country market @ 2014 2015
Fresh Dairy

Danone-Unimilk group Products CIS 49.1% 29.1%
Fresh Dairy

Danone Spain ' Products Spain 23.1% 7.6%
Fresh Dairy

Centrale Danone @ Products Morocco Casablanca 9.1% 4.1%

(a) If the company is listed.

(b) As of December 31, 2015, the non-controlling interests in that group’s parent company have three representatives on the Board of Directors of the company

(out of a total of seven directors).

(c] As of December 31, 2015, the non-controlling interests of the company have one representative on the Board of Directors of the company (out of a total of

four directors).

(d) Since 2014, non-controlling interests of the company no longer have a representative on the Board of Directors of the company.

Each of these companies operates Danone’s fresh dairy products
activities in a given country or group of countries. Most of the
non-controlling shareholders of each of these companies held put
options on theirinterest as of December 31, 2014, with the majority
of these options exercised in 2015 as described in section 3.4 Balance
sheetand financial security review in the section on Liabilities related
to put options granted to non-controlling interests.

Main publicly traded companies

These put options constitute the principal commitments and/or
agreements between Danone and the non-controlling shareholders
of certain fully consolidated companies in which Danone does not
own a 100% equity interest.

As of December 31, 2015

Division Country Listing market
Centrale Danonel® Fresh Dairy Products Morocco Casablanca
China Mengniu Dairy!® Fresh Dairy Products China Hong Kong
Yakult Honsha'® Fresh Dairy Products Japan Tokyo
Yashili®) Early Life Nutrition China Hong Kong

(a) Fully consolidated company.
(b) Investments in associates.
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1.7 RISK FACTORS

LT RISK FACTORS

Risk identification and control policy

As any other company Danone is facing external and internal risks
which can affect the targets” achievement. The main risks Danone
is exposed to as of the date of this Registration Document are de-
scribed in the following part.

Danone maintains an active risk identification and management
policy aimed at protecting and developing its assets and reputation,

interests of its shareholders, employees, consumers, customers,
suppliers, the environment and its other stakeholders without
guaranteeing the total absence of risks.

This risk identification and management policy is described in the
Chairman’s report on internal control and risk management in
section 6.4 Internal control and risk management.

the achievement of its targets and objectives, and protecting the

Principal risk factors

summary of principal risk factors to which Danone believes it Is exposed as of the date of this
Registration Document

Risks associated with
Danone’s image and Risks associated with health and the positioning of certain products

reputation Other general risks associated with Danone’s image and reputation

Operational risks Raw materials: price volatility and availability
associated with Danone’s
business sector

Risks associated with product quality

Concentration of distribution, customer default
Competition

Geopolitical environment

Economic situation in Danone’s principal markets
Weather conditions and seasonal trends

Operational risks specific Concentration of purchases of certain products and services with a limited number of suppliers

to Danone’s activity and
organization

Danone’s position in certain markets
Innovation and consumer taste
Human resources and staff

Human resources and restructuring
Information systems

Internal control deficiency
Insurance coverage deficiency

Risks associated with Company acquisitions
external growth Partnerships

Unfavorable business performance and business forecasts and impact on intangible asset impair-
ment tests and Investments in associates

Legal and regulatory Intellectual property

risks Ethical and non-compliance risks
Environmental regulations

Other regulations

Natural, industrial and Natural and industrial risks

environmental risks Environmental risks

Consumer choices, preferences or environmental preferences

Financial market risks Financial market risks
Currency risk related to operating activities
Currency risk related to financing activities
Financial statements translation into euros
Liquidity
Interest rates
Counterparty, credit
Company shares
Other companies’ shares

These risk factors are described hereafter.
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1.1 RISH FACTORS

0ther risks

Otherrisks that could adversely affect the Company in the future may exist, even though the Company was unaware of them or considered
them immaterial as of the date of this Registration Document.

Description of principal risk factors

Risks associated with Danone’s image and reputation

Danone’s good reputation and the quality image of its brands and products are essential to its success. They may be affected at any time.

RISKIDENTIFICATION

RISK MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT

Risks associated with product quality

Its activity exposes Danone to the risk - known or merely
perceived, anticipated or alleged - of product contamination
or that its products are harmful.

This quality risk may arise through the actual or alleged exis-
tence of (i) chemical and microbiological contaminants (even
in infinitesimal amounts) in raw materials and packaging, [ii)
cross-contamination with allergens, and (iii) non-compliance
with the safety measures of finished products when they leave
the factory and throughout the distribution chain. These actual
or alleged contamination risks could also potentially occur (i)
upstream from Danone’s activity (with suppliers or while being
transported by suppliers), and (i) downstream from its activity
[by clients or distributors or during the transportation phase
by its distributors).

The materialization of such a risk could have multiple
consequences:

® Danone'ssalesandresults related to these products could
be severely affected;

® this impact could then extend beyond just the products
involved to include other products of the same brand;

® given media coverage andthe development of social networks,
this impact could also spread to other geographic areas
than the ones initially involved;

® the combined impacts could therefore have a significant
adverse effect on Danone’s overall sales and results;

® inaddition tothe immediate financialimpact, the reputation
of Danone, its brands and products as well as its quality
image could be adversely affected over the long term, thereby
exacerbating the financial risk for Danone.

Danone’s priority is to avoid any contamination risk.

Tothatend, Danone applies an uncompromising food quality and
security policy, which is implemented through a quality orga-
nization at both central and local levels and makes it possible
to achieve the targeted level of food quality and security. The
Company has established measures and procedures to limit the
contamination risk, in particular through the implementation
of multiple controls on the production lines and throughout the
distribution chain as well as reqular audits of its sites:

® the risk of product contamination is classified into four
categories (microbiological, chemical, physical and allergic]
and depends on the nature of the products;

® itis controlled at each stage of the production and selling
cycle: atthe time of the purchase and delivery of raw mate-
rials, the production process, the packaging of products, the
storage and delivery of finished products to distributors and
food retailers, the storage and shelving of finished products
at the final sales points.

Danone hasalso prepared and implemented a procedure at each
subsidiary that organizes (i) measures for halting production
and withdrawing or even recalling products in certain cases,
together with the relevant institutions, and (ii] systematic,
in-depth controls and inquiries to determine whether Danone
has liability exposure.

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015
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RISK FACTORS

RISKIDENTIFICATION

RISK MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT

Risks associated with health and the positioning
of certain products

In the event that certain of Danone’s products (including
recipes/formulas or certain active ingredients) presented as
having nutritional or health benefits or positioning proved to be
harmfulinthe shortorlongterm orhad no health effects, then
Danone’s activities, results and reputation could be adversely
affected to an even greater extent since Danone’s strategy is
based on the development of products with a strong nutrition/
health component.

In addition, the food industry must deal with the growth in
obesity while consumers, medical professionals and govern-
mental organizations are increasingly concerned about the
resulting public health consequences. Although Danone has
a large portfolio of product lines enabling it to offer a wide
variety of products meeting the various needs and changing
tastes of consumers, local governments could take actions
against the food industry, such as imposing surtaxes or more
stringent regulation on the advertising of certain products.
Such actions could adversely affect not only Danone’s results
but also its reputation.

Other general risks associated with Danone’s
image and reputation

In addition to the aforementioned risks linked to its products,
Danoneis exposed to criticisms of all types and origin, whether
well-founded or notand whetherin good or bad faith, that could
affect its image and reputation. Danone may therefore face
negative publicity that could result froma risk situation, or even
a simple allegation, concerning its activities, its brands or its
practices in commercial affairs orits societal responsibilities
toward its suppliers. The media publicity of such criticisms,
whethertheyare founded or not, is facilitated by the introduction
of new technologies and the development of social networks,
which can amplify the impact considerably.

Such events could adversely affect Danone’s image and have
repercussions on sales, activities, results and growth prospects.

Consumers health lies at the core of Danone's history and
mission of “bringing health through food to as many people
as possible” and Danone’s strategy in the nutrition and health
area is consistent with the guiding principles set by health
authorities in the respective countries and is formalized in
Danone’s Food Nutrition Health Charter. In implementing this
strategy, Danone pays close attention to scientific fundamen-
tals, the regulatory environment and the origin of ingredients
used through organizations, actions and procedures that it
implements, such as:

® the Research and Development strategy and organization,
which are described in section 2.5 Other elements related
to Danone’s activity and organization;

® thedevelopmentof partnershipswith internationally renowned
scientific organizations and an ongoing dialogue with public
health authorities and consumer associations;

® the establishment of an internal procedure to ensure the
consistency, credibility and scientific foundation of health
and nutrition claims that are disseminated in its commu-
nications (see section 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s
social, societal and environmental performance in compliance
with the Grenelle Il law relating to Fair trade practices).

Danone also pays close attention to risks “perceived” by consu-
mers such as obesity. To monitor this risk, Danone has developed
a network of key contacts (including, in particular, consumer
associations] in order to discuss common topics of concernin
both a formal and informal manner and to offer clarifications.

Further information is presented in sections 2.3 Strategic
growth areas, 2.5 Other elements related to Danone’s activity
andorganizationand 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s social,
societal and environmental performance in compliance with the
Grenelle Il law.

In order to limit the risk of criticism, Danone has developed
governance rules and best practices - which are communicated
to the subsidiaries - notably with respect to (i) business conduct,
(i) societal responsibility toward suppliers, (iii) relations with
local communities, and (iv) ethics. In orderto ensure that these
rulesand best practices are communicated and followed, Danone
has integrated the subsidiaries” assessments with respect to
these rules and best practices into its Danone Way approach.
Further information is available in sections 5.1 Danone social,
societaland environmental approach, 5.2 Information concerning
Danone’s social, societal and environmental performance in
compliance with the Grenelle Il law, and 6.4 Internal control and
risk management.

Danone has also established procedures to manage (i) risks
so as to avoid and anticipate potential crisis, and (ii] crisis in
order to prevent the spread and scope of such criticisms and
to limit their impacts as much as possible

16
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1.1 RISH FACTORS

Operational risks associated with Danone’s business sector

RISKIDENTIFICATION

RISK MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT

Raw materials: price volatility and availability
Danone’s principal raw material needs consist primarily of:

® materials needed to produce food and beverage products,
primarily milk and fruits (“food raw materials”);

e materials needed for packaging its products, primarily
plastics and cardboard (“packaging”);

® energy supplies. They account for only a limited portion of
Danone’s purchases.

Variations in supply and demand at global or regional levels,
weather conditions, government controls, regulatory changes
and geopolitical events (changesin production methods, trade
saturation, etc.) could substantially impact the price and avai-
lability of (i) raw materials, and (ii) materials needed to package
certain Danone products, which could have an adverse effect
on its results. In particular, a potential increase in the prices
of these raw materials (especially milk] and other materials
may not be passed on, eitherin fullorin part, in the sales price
of Danone’s products, notably in countries whose economic
environment has deteriorated, which could have a significant
adverse effect on Danone’s activities and results.

Concentration of distribution, customer default

While the end customers of Danone products are individual
consumers, Danone sells its products mainly to major retail
and grocery chains. Overall, the distribution market has become
increasingly concentrated globally and locally. A continuation
of the trend to concentrate distribution at the global level along
with the emergence of key players at the local level would result
inasmaller number of customers for Danone companies and
could lead to retailers demanding better terms. This could
affect the operating margin of these companies and therefore
of Danone, change their market shares and/or represent a
counterpartyriskin the event of a default by a major customer,
and consequently have a significant adverse effect on Danone’s
activities and results.

In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Early Life Nutrition and
Medical Nutrition Divisions also have commercial relations
with public and quasi-public organizations, health insurance
and supplementary health insurance companies, as well as
hospitals, which sometimes impose long payment terms. It is
possible that some of these organizations would collaborate
andissuejointtenders, which could have a significant negative
impact on the results of the respective Divisions.

In the context of high raw materials price volatility and to limit
itsimpacton Danone’s activityand results to the greatest extent
possible, Danone manages this cost inflation through actions
described in section 2.5 Other elements related to Danone’s
activity and organization.

Danone’s supply policy and exposure to principal raw materials
risks, including milk, are described in Note 5.7 of the Notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

The presence of Danone brands in different types of distribution
channels helps to mitigate the potential negative impact of the
concentration risk.

Theriskassociated with the default of a given customeris limited
thanks to Danone’s international development. The relative
share of Danone sales generated with its leading international
customers in 2015 is described in Note 5.4 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Danone has alsotaken measuresthat help toreduce thisrisk, in
particularaction programs related to the trade policy towards
key customer accounts (see section 2.5 Other elements related
to the Danone’s activity and organization) and Credit Committees
or their equivalent established in certain subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2015, Danone’s exposure to unpaid trade
receivables notyet depreciated was limited (see Note 5.4 of the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements).
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Competition

Danone conducts its business in highly competitive markets
thatinclude large multinational companies and numerous local
players of different sizes:

® in Western Europe and North America, Danone’s markets
tend to be relatively mature, and competition is therefore
particularly intense, both interms of pricingand innovations;

® withrespecttoDanone’sactivitiesin the rest of theworld, a
few internationalfood and beverage groups also hold strong
positions in some emerging markets and seek to expand
such positions or enter new markets.

Inaddition, certain retailand grocery chains, having developed
their own brands, could reduce the shelf space occupied by
Danone’s products in favor of their own products.

Danone is thus facing national and international competitors,
which are described in section 2.5 Other elements related to
Danone’s activity and organization related to Competition. This
competition could lead Danone to increase its advertising and
promotional expenditures, reduceits pricesin order to defend
its market shares or prevent it from raising its prices in order
to overcome cost increases, which could have a significant
adverse effect on Danone’s strategy and results.

Geopolitical environment

Danone’s activities and employees can be subject directly or
indirectly to the effects of a period of economic, political, social
or military instability in countries susceptible of experiencing
or having recently experienced such a period, in particular in
Africa, Argentina, and CIS countries.

Also, some countries where Danone operates have regula-
tions that are not very developed and/or not very protective (in
particularwith respect to intellectual property rights), and are
often unstable due to the influence of powerful local interests.
Some of these countries maintain foreign exchange controls
and/or control the repatriation of profits and invested capital,
impose taxes and other payments and impose restrictions,
sometimes retroactively, on the activities of multinational
groups. In some countries, national and/or local authorities
may also have recourse to laws and regulations, or to any
other measure having a similar effect, notably to foreign
interests, that restrict the ownership rights and/or access to
liquidity and assets availability and/or the freedom to exercise
its activity and/or equivalent to confiscation, nationalization or
expropriation of assets.

Lastly, Danone conducts business in certain countries, notably
Iran and Russia, which may be targeted by economic and
financial sanctions imposed in particular by U.S. or European
regulations. These regulations prohibit notably transactions
with certain financialinstitutions and require prior authorization
with the properauthorities before executing any fund transfers.
If the Company and/or its subsidiaries do not comply with these
regulations, Danone could be the subject of criminal penalties
and/or significant financial penalties. Any period of political or
economic instability in a country in which Danone operates or
any economic, regulatory or political measure such as the ones
described above that may be implemented in some countries
could have a negative impact on Danone’s activities, results
and reputation.
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Danone limits the effects of competition from the leading players
inits markets, notably through its strategy of (i) differentiation
relative toits competitors, especially in terms of product lines,
price/quality ratios and positioning, and (i) development through
organic and external growth. These elements of Danone’s stra-
tegy are described in sections 2.3 Strategic growth areas and
2.5 Other elements related to Danone’s activity and organization.

Danone’sinternational growth resultsinageographical distri-
bution that diversifies and limits the concentration of this risk
for a given country. In addition, Danone prepares action plans
and implements measures aimed at reducing the potential
impacts of this risk in the areas of human resources, finance
and legal affairs.

Depending on the situation, Danone’s Safety Department may
participate in the developmentand implementation of these plans
and measures. In certain regions, it creates or consolidates
relationships with State or private partners, which may be called
upon if necessary. The Safety Department also gets involved
in situations where the safety of the State and/or international
crisis may affect the activities of the Company’s subsidiaries.

However, Danone cannot guarantee that its results will not be
significantly affected by a disruption in economic, political or
regulatory conditions or by a crisis in some of the countries
where it is present.

Sales by geographic region and Danone’s top 10 countries in
terms of sales are presented in section 2.2 Presentation of Danone.
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RISKIDENTIFICATION

RISK MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT

Economic situation in Danone’s principal
markets

Danone’s activity and in particularits sales, trading operating
income and cash-flows depend on the economic conditions in
its principal markets.

Aside from the currency risks discussed hereafter, in periods
of slowing economic growth and/or deficit and public debt
reductions that may occur in some countries, Danone may
have to contend with the following phenomena:

® contractionin purchases by consumers, whose purchasing
power has diminished, and/or change in consumption pat-
terns as a result of economic conditions;

® increase of existing taxes or establishment of new taxes
on consumers and/or companies, especially in heavily-
indebted countries;

e specifically in the case of the Medical Nutrition Division,
a reduction in the insurance reimbursement of medical
products and/or pressure on prices and contraction in
healthcare expenditures.

These changes could have a negative impact on Danone’s
activities and results.

Also, as described in section 2.3 Strategic growth areas, in order
to ensure its long-term expansion, Danone’s growth strategy
is based primarily on a limited number of countries in which
Danone has strong positions in rapidly growing markets.
If Danone’s activity in one or more of these countries were
subjected to adverse trends, it could have negative effects on
Danone’s growth.

Finally, given their economic and/or monetary situation, cer-
tain countries, such as Argentina, experience very high and
potentially very volatile inflation, which may affect Danone’s
activities and results.

Weather conditions and seasonal cycles

In some cases and for certain Danone products, sales may be
tied to weather conditions and seasonal cycles. In particular,
beverage consumption typically peaks during the summer
months, such that relatively cool summer temperatures may
result in substantially reduced sales of beverages, especially
bottled water, in the corresponding area compared to a normal
year. Seasonal consumption cycles pertaining to certain Danone
products and weather variations could adversely affect the
Group’s activities and results.

Weather conditions can also have an impact on the prices and
the availability of certain raw materials, and as a result on
Danone. Thisrisk is described in the section above Raw material:
price volatility and availability.

Danone’s international growth results in a geographical
distribution that diversifies and, to a lesser extent, limits the
concentration of risk to economic conditions for a given country.
Danone also relies on (i) its reporting system to monitor its
activity and the potential impact of economic conditions in
countries where it is present, and [ii] its organization to take
the necessary measures (adaptation of Danone’s activity, its
organization and, if necessary, restructuring plans).

The intensity of the seasonal impact varies depending on
Danone’s business lines. Moreover, Danone’s international
growth results in a geographical distribution of its activities
that helps to diversify and limit the concentration of this risk of
weather changes for a given region. Lastly, Danone relies on
its operating experience (notably through the development of
its product lines and management of its markets] to limit the
impact of weather conditions as much as possible.
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Concentration of purchases of certain products
and services with a limited number of suppliers

Danone depends on a limited number of outside suppliers for
(i) the delivery of certain goods in particular raw materials
(for example the ferments used in the Fresh Dairy Products
Division or powdered milk for the Early Life Nutrition Division
in some Asian countries), and (i) certain services (in particular
sub-contracted services or information technology services).

If some of these suppliers were not able to provide Danone with
the quantities and qualities of products or goods that it needs
under the conditions set forth, or if the suppliers were not
able to provide services in the required time period, Danone’s
activities and results could be materially adversely affected.

Danone’s position in certain markets

Danoneis marketleaderinsome of its markets. Asa consequence,
the Company may be accused by third parties of abusing a
dominant position in these markets and/or of engaging in
anti-competitive practices. More generally, competition law
provisions apply to Danone’s companies in the vast majority
of countries where Danone does business. Actual or alleged
violations of competition law could affect Danone’s reputation,
and possibly result in investigations by competition authorities
incountries where Danoneis present, legal proceedings or even
criminaland/or significant financial penalties. This could have
an adverse effect on Danone’s activities and results.

Innovation and consumer taste

Danone’s activities are subject to trends in the tastes and pre-
ferences of consumers. If Danone cannot predict, identify, and
interpret trends in the tastes and dietary habits of consumers,
its sales and results could be adversely affected.
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Inorderto limitthisrisk, Danone selects and then monitors and
supervises its key suppliers. It also prepares and implements
procedures designed to secureits suppliesand services as well
as business continuity plans designating alternative suppliers.

Inits Compliance department, Danone has put togethera spe-
cialized team of competition law experts who are responsible
for developing and deploying a competition law policy for the
Group’s entities. Meanwhile, the Company has developed an
international network of competition law specialists within the
legal function to monitor this risk.

Danone also pays close attention to this matter and seeks to
limit the corresponding risk, mainly by communicating and
promoting the Business Conduct Principles and Code of Conduct
dedicated to the sales functions, and Danone has integrated
these rules and best practices into its Danone Way approach
in order to ensure that they are communicated and followed.
Further information is available in sections 5.1 Danone social,
societal and environmental approach, 5.2 Information concerning
Danone’s social, societal and environmental performance in
compliance with the Grenelle Il law, and 6.4 Internal control and
risk management.

Danone has developed a broad portfolio of product lines that
allows it to offerawide variety of products to respond to different
consumption needs and situations. In addition Danone strives
to foster ongoing dialogue with its consumers by adapting to
new ways of communications and consumer patterns.
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Human resources and staff

The availability, quality and commitment of Danone’s employees
playan essentialrole in Danone’s success. If Danone’s ability to
attractand retain employees with the necessary skills or talents
- notably in the emerging countries and/or Danone’s principal
markets - were to diminish or be insufficient - especially in
an environment marked by efforts to control wage and salary
costs and/or in light of the impact of the economic crisis on
Danone’svarious annualand multi-year variable compensation
plans - then Danone’s ability to achieve its objectives could be
adversely affected, which could also negatively affectits results.

Human resources and restructuring

Danone works continuously toimprove its efficiency in order to
achieve better performance and anticipate adjustments needed
torespondto changesin the market, projects, competition, and
with respect to its internal organization, jobs and skills. This
policy mayin some cases result in difficult decisions regarding
jobs (plant closings, restructuring plans with layoffs, etc.).

These decisions may be poorly understood and received by
both employees and local stakeholders (local elected officials,
governmental authorities, etc.] and could affect Danone’s
employee relations. resultin labor disputes, which could include,
inparticular, work stoppages, strikes or other disruptions that,
along with the financial impacts, could adversely affect the
Danone’s reputation, activities and results.

Moreover, mobilizing Danone’s management and staff to suc-
cessfully implement these restructuring projects and, more
generally, the Company transformation projects could affect
their availability and focus on the Company’s business and its
operational projects, which could have a negative impactonits
activities and results. This is particularly the case of the One
Danone transformational project approved by Danone in 2014
and implemented starting in 2015.

Lastly, this risk could exacerbate the risk associated with attrac-
ting and retaining people with the necessary skills and talents
described in the above section Human resources and staff.

As described in section 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s
social, societal and environmental performance in compliance
with the Grenelle Il law related to Compensation and promotion,
Danone offers competitive and fair compensation, and to that
end has developed appraisal systems and procedures that are
also described in this section.

Danone has alsodevelopedasocial, societaland environmental
responsibility approach that it has rolled out in its subsidia-
ries, including in emerging countries. Danone believes that its
approach and the actions implemented contribute to the Group's
appeal. Thisapproach and the related actions are describedin
sections 5.1 Danone social, societal and environmental approach
and 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s social, societal and
environmental performance in compliance with the Grenelle I/ law.

Inorderto limit the various risks associated with such decisions
(labor disputes, increase in local unemployment, risk on repu-
tation), Danone’s policy consists of (i) preparing a restructuring
decision as farin advance as possible, when the Company still
hasthe timeand resources toresponsibly preventand manage
the social and human impacts of such restructurings, and |ii)
limiting their potentialimpact through its organization of actions
and policies, in particular:

® deploying dedicated teams with support from external
resources to implement major projects:

® ensuring ongoing employee dialogue within the company;
® developing the employability of all employees;

® signing collective conventions with the International Union
of Food workers (IUF) that focus in particular on steps to be
implemented when changesin the company’s activity affect
jobs aswellastheirimplementation, with an emphasisona
return to employment and support for employees.

These elements and additional information are presented in
sections 5.1 Danone social, societal and environmental approach
and 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s social, societal and
environmental performance in compliance with the Grenelle Il law.
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Information systems

Danoneisincreasingly dependent upon common infrastructures
and information technology applications for all its business
activities. The mainrisks are related to the availability of infor-
mation technology services and the confidentiality and integrity
of data. Any failure of these infrastructures, applications or
data communication networks, any interruption linked to the
failure of security of data centers or networks as well as any
accidental or intentional loss of data and any use of data by
third parties, could block or slow down production or sales,
delay or taint certain decisions and, more generally, have an
adverse effect on Danone’s activities and results.

In addition, most of the former Numico subsidiaries, as well as
the more recently acquired Unimilk group’s companies, rely
ondifferent information systems, specific to certain subsidia-
ries, which may increase the complexity of the monitoring and
management of these risks by Danone.

Internal control deficiency

The risk of an internal control deficiency is mainly associated
with (i) reliability of financial information, (i) compliance with
the applicable laws, regulations and internal policies, and (iii)
efficiency and effectiveness of internal processes, including
those related to the protection of the Company’'s assets.

If Danone’s internal control systems were to experience defi-
ciencies or prove to be inadequate, particularly in the area of
fraud, the quality of its financial information, the ability of its
executives to take the correct decisions and, more generally,
its results, could be adversely affected.

Insurance coverage deficiency

Danone’s insurance coverage could be insufficient and/or
Danone could be unable to renew its insurance programs on
acceptable terms, which could have an adverse effect on its
financial situation and results.

Danone’s policy is to consolidate data centers. In particular,
Danone’s central applications are hosted in a highly-secured
data center managed by IBM.

In addition, Danone is developing and implementing specific
information systems (Themis, Artemis, etc.) in its subsidiaries
to optimize and streamline information technology investment
while promoting global synergies and reducing risks. The
former Numico and Unimilk subsidiaries are gradually bene-
fitting from the implementation of Themis, Danone’s integrated
information system.

Danone has implemented an internal control system, which is
described in section 6.4 Internal control and risk management.
Regardless of how adequate it may be, this system can only
provide reasonable assurance and not an absolute guarantee
with respect to the achievement of the company’s objectives,
given the limitations inherent in any control process. While
Danone cannot fully exclude the risk of an internal control
failure, the performance level and widespread deployment of
itsfi\/einternalcontrolcomponents[Controlenvironment, Risk
identification and assessment, Control activities, Information
and communication, and Continuous monitoring) reduce
Danone's exposure to this risk (see section 6.4 Internal control
and risk management).

Similarly, Danone cannot exclude all risks associated with fraud.
However, the risk profile of its activities and the existence of a
widely disseminated anti-fraud program that covers all aspects
for reducing the risk of fraud or the potential impact of any
fraud (awareness, prevention, detection, investigation, penalty,
reporting and continuous improvements of the internal control
system) (see section 6.4 Internal control and risk management)
limit Danone’s exposure to this risk.

See section Insurance and risk coverage hereafter.

il
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Acquisition of companies

Danone’s strategy consists in holding leading positions in
each of the markets in which it operates. Given the context of
continued concentration in the food and beverage industry, this
strategy involves the pursuit of growth opportunities through
joint-ventures oracquisitions, as was the case with the Unimilk
transaction in Russia and in other countries with YoCream
(Fresh Dairy Products, United States), Wockhardt (Early Life
Nutrition and Medical Nutrition, India), Centrale Danone (Fresh
Dairy Products, Morocco), etc.

Given the competitive landscape in particular, Danone may not
be able to carry out transactions under consideration for its
developmentorexternal growth, which could have a significant
adverse impact on the implementation of its strategy.

In addition, acquisitions may have an adverse effect on the
Company’s results and activities if the Company does not
successfully integrate the acquired companies, provide the
necessaryresources and/orachieve all of the expected syner-
gies and cost savings.

Finally, during the integration phase, acquisitions may gene-
rate risks associated with the historical entities and practices,
which, in the case of majoracquisitions, could adversely affect
Danone’s activities, results and reputation.

Partnerships

The relationships with Danone’s partners in certain entities
are governed by contracts or documents that may provide for
certain decisions to be made either with the agreement of the
partners or without the agreement of Danone. Such restrictions
could make it difficult to carry out Danone’s strategy in these
entities, which could have an adverse effect on Danone’s acti-
vities. More generally, other difficulties could be encountered
with joint-venture partners, notably differences over strategy,
development or operational management of these joint-ventures
and could adversely affect Danone’s activities and results. In
addition, some agreements signed with partners may include
call or put options on the stake held by Danone or the partner,
which, if they are exercised, could have a significant impact
on Danone’s activities.

Foreach acquisition, Danone prepares anintegration program
and provides the resources necessary for its implementation.

The 2010 acquisition of the Unimilk group’s companies, for
example, [the companies now known as Danone Russia, Danone
Ukraine, Danone Belarus and Danone Kazakhstan) had been
subject to an integration plan and had since been integrated
into Danone’s internal control system.

Danone carefully reviews the drafting of shareholders’ agree-
ments and ensures the implementation and maintenance of
adequate governance with its partners. Regarding call and put
options, theirimplementation is linked to Danone’s acquisition
strategy and in case they are exercised they are monitored in
ordertoanticipate the operational or financial impacts and for
options which can be exercised by Danone, to decide whether
they should be exercised or not.
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Unfavorable business performance and business

forecasts and impact on intangible asset
impairment tests and investments in associates

In connection with acquisitions involving groups or companies
that are fully consolidated or consolidated using the equity
method, a significant amount of the acquisition price could be
allocated to goodwill and to acquired brands with an indefinite
useful life. Specifically, a significant portion of the acquisition
price in connection with the Numico acquisition in 2007 (Early
Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition] was allocated to goodwill
and acquired brands with an indefinite useful life, and the
same was true, albeit to a lesser extent, in connection with the
acquisitions of (i) the Unimilk group companies in 2010 (Fresh
Dairy Products, mainly Russia and Ukraine), and (ii) Centrale
Laitiere in 2013 (Fresh Dairy Products, Morocco).

Acquired goodwill and indefinite useful life brands are not
amortized. As with Investments in associates, they are subject
toanimpairment test at least once ayearand whenever events
or circumstances indicate that a reduction in value may have
occurred.

An unfavorable change in business activity, business activity
forecastsand assumptions used in the projection of cash-flows
for the purpose of the impairment tests, in particular with
respect to the goodwill and brands of the Early Life Nutrition
and Medical Nutrition Divisions arising from the Numico acqui-
sition, could result in the recognition of impairment charges,
which could then have significant adverse effects on Danone’s
results. As for Investments in associates whose shares are
listed, a significant or extended decrease in their stock price
could also result in impairment charges that could adversely
affect Danone’s results.

Danone draws up assumptions and business activity forecasts.
Eachyear, it preparesastrategic planand anannual budget for
each subsidiary, analyzes them and, when deemed necessary,
draws up suitable action plans.

The principalintangible assets and monitoring of theirvalue are
described in Note 9 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The principal Investments in associates and the monitoring of
their value are described in Note 4 of the Notes to the conso-
lidated financial statements.

Legal and requlatory risks
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Intellectual property

Danone owns rights to brand names, registered designs
and patterns, copyrights and domain names throughout the
world. Intellectual property represents a significant portion
of Danone’s net assets.

The territorial extent of the protection depends on the signifi-
cance of the products and activities concerned. The protection
is globalfor productsintended for the international arena, and
local or regional for other products.

Danone also owns patents, licenses, proprietary recipes and
substantial expertise related to its products and packaging,
as well as to their manufacturing processes. Finally, Danone
has established licensing agreements with its subsidiaries and
partners that use these intellectual property rights.

Danone cannot be certain that third parties will not attempt to
infringe onitsintellectual property rights. Moreover, Danone’s
potential recourse to intellectual property rights protection
varies by country. The degree of protection may be different,
as may be Danone’s implementation of a defense strategy. If
Danone was unable to protect its intellectual property rights
against such infringement or misuse, its results and growth
could be negatively affected, as could its reputation.
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Inorder to monitorits assetsand ensure the protection, manage-
mentand defense of its rights in a coherentand optimal manner,
Danone hasdrawnupan “Intellectual Property” charter. Danone
regularly contacts each of its subsidiaries in order to update
its intellectual property rights portfolio and thereby protect
and defend, to the best of its ability, the brand names, graphic
design, forms, packaging, advertisements, websites, etc. that
are used by the Company. Danone also takes all appropriate
legal measures, notably through actions for infringementand/
or unfair competition, to protect and defend its intellectual
property rights at both international and local level.

Danone is continuing its efforts to develop awareness among
staff with access to and/or in possession of sensitive and/or
confidential information and provides updates to employees
on best practices with a view to limiting this risk, notably as
regards the use of information systems and social networks.
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In addition, certain employees have access to confidential
documents in the course of their work. The loss or dissemi-
nation of sensitive and/or confidential information could harm
Danone’sinterests and reputation, and have an adverse effect
on its results.

Ethical and non-compliance risks

Ethics are afundamentalvalue for Danone, including consumers’
perceptions of its brands and products and of the Company’s
communications. Inthat sense, Danone places great emphasis
on respect for ethical values and integrity. In addition, certain
Danone products belong to food categories subject to regulation
(early life nutrition and medical nutrition) for which respect
for ethical values and integrity is of even greater importance.

Behaviors contrary to ethical principles orviolation of applicable
laws and regulations, in particular situations involving non-com-
pliance with food standards, product ingredient regulations or,
more generally, anti-fraud or corruption measures by Danone,
its partners, agents, employees or any other person acting on
its behalf, could engender consumer mistrust toward Danone’s
products, expose Danone to criminal or civil liabilities and
could have adverse effects on Danone’s results and reputation.

Environmental regulations

In the course of its activities, Danone is subject to numerous
environmental regulations [mainly regarding water, air, the use
of natural resources, noise and waste), which are constantly
evolving and becoming increasingly stringent. Specifically,
Danone’s activities are subject to the following environmental
regulations:

With respect to water, air and the use of natural resources
Danone’sactivity is subject to obtaining authorizations to operate
and/or appropriate permits:

® inEurope, pursuanttothe laws relating to sites designated
for environmental protection;

® inother countries, pursuant to similar regulations.

Access to water sources and resources is sometimes linked
to national or local regulations. Changes in these regulations
could negatively affect the availability of water intended to be
bottled and marketed by Danone.

With respect to waste and packaging
Danone’s activities are subject to specific regulations, notably
European directives:

e directive 2008/98/EC on waste management;

o directive 94/62 [amended in 2004) relating to packaging
and packaging waste, which requires source reductions,
reductions in the use of substances hazardous to the envi-
ronment, recycling, and recovery.

Danone has established the Business Conduct Principles, an
ethical code that applies to all Danone employees and forma-
lizes Danone’s commitment to integrity and compliance with
applicable legal requirements. It sets demanding compliance
rules as well as action and conduct principles applicable to
employees for Danone activities in all countries where Danone
does business.

Ethicsand compliance are part of the mission of the Audit Com-
mittee and Social Responsibility Committee, which ensure the
application of ethical rules defined by Danone. Most notably, the
Social Responsibility Committee is kept informed on a periodic
basis of complaints received through the whistleblower system.

Since 2010, a welcome booklet (Danone Inside Pack) has been
given to new employeestoremind them of the Business Conduct
Principles and the ethical alert number

Inorder to comply with applicable environmental regulations,
Danone has established organizations and implemented pro-
cedures and tools, in addition to setting targets for reducing
its environmental footprint.

Thesevarious initiatives along with the measures takenin 2015
are described in section 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s
social, societal and environmental performance in compliance
with the Grenelle Il law. No major provision for contingencies
and charges related to the environment has been recognized
in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015.
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With respect to greenhouse gas emissions
Danone’s activities are subject to the following regulations:

e the Europeandirective of 2003 establishing a trading system;

® quotas for greenhouse gas emissions and the transposi-
tions of the National plans of allocation of quotas in the
European Union.

With respect to emissions quotas, five of Danone’s plantsin the
European Union are subject to such quotas (whose impact on
Danone’s financial situation is not significant], while the other
sites are currently below the minimum eligibility threshold.

Inthe future, if Danoneis unable to limit the emissions of these
five sites and comply with allocated quotas, it will incur a fine
and would have to purchase the shortfall on the market for
greenhouse gas quotas. The quantity of quotas allocated at no
charge will gradually diminish and be reduced to zero in the
years ahead, which will representan additional cost for Danone.

More generally, Danone cannot guarantee that it will always
be in compliance with these multiple regulations, which are
complex and constantly changing. Also, bringing Danone’s
activities into compliance with new regulations or changes
in existing regulations could be costly or even limit Danone’s
ability to pursue or develop its activities.

Other regulations

As a player in the food and beverage industry operating in
numerous countries, Danone’s activities are subject to extensive
laws and regulations enacted by many nationaland internatio-
nal authorities and organizations, notably with respect to tax,
commercial laws and regulations, competition authorities,
labor law, hygiene and food safety, quality control and the use
of water sources. Danone’s activities are also subject to good
conduct rules such as those of the World Health Organization
(WHO) regarding the marketing of breast-milk substitutes and
the corresponding rules at the various local regulatory levels.
Danone is also subject to any customs duties, trade barriers
or penalties that may be imposed.

More particularly, Danone’s activities are subject to numerous
laws and regulations that are always changing and becoming
increasingly restrictive, relating, in particular, to:

® theprotectionof healthandfood safety, consumer protection,
nutrition and claims about the health benefits of products
marketed by Danone, the reimbursement of certain products
of the medical nutrition activity and Danone’s advertising
and promotional activities. Any change in these laws or
regulations, any decision by an authority regarding these
laws orregulations or any other event that would challenge
the nutritional or health claims related to certain products
could have a significant impact on Danone’s activities,
increase its costs, reduce consumer demand and possibly
result in litigation;
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Danone’s international development limits the concentration
of the risk of more restrictive requlations for a given country.

Furthermore, Danone has developed a legal organization at
the local (subsidiaries) and central levels. The Company and its
subsidiaries, assisted by their legal departments and/or exter-
nallegal advisors, take steps to ensure that they comply, at all
times, with applicable laws and regulations. In addition, Danone
developed and implemented internal policies and procedures
relating to compliance detailed in section 6.4 Internal control
and risk management. In order to ensure that such measures
are commonly practiced at Danone, the Company has integrated
compliance into its quality approach and internal control sys-
tem. Lastly, with respect to risk monitoring and management
due to changes in accounting regulations, see Note 1.2 of the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

To the best of Danone’s knowledge and as of the date of this
Registration Document, no governmental, court, arbitration
or any other proceeding to which the Company is a party
is currently ongoing that would be likely to have a material
impact on Danone’s financial position or profitability other than
those mentioned in Note 14.2 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.
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® tax:Danoneissubjecttoincometaxaswellasvarious other
expenses, taxes and duties related to its activity, the repa-
triation of dividends, social security contributions, etc. Any
changeintaxregulations through increases in existing taxes
orthe establishment of new taxes involving in particular tax
rates, transfer prices, dividends, social security contributions,
special tax plans or tax exemption rules could adversely
affect Danone’s results. As described in the above section
related to Economic situation in Danone’s principal markets,
efforts from some countries to reduce their indebtedness
could lead to increases in existing taxes or the creation of
new taxes, which could adversely affect Danone’s results;

® accounting: the consolidated financial statements of Danone
and its subsidiaries are prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS] as adopted
by the European Union. The standards and interpretations
applied to prepare these consolidated financial statements
are also consistent with IFRS as determined by the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Standards,
amendments and interpretations that may be prepared
and/or become applicable could have an adverse impact
on Danone’s consolidated financial statements.

Finally, Danone is involved, or could be involved, in litigation
associated with its normal course of business. This litigation
may result in criminal and/or civil consequences (including
financial consequences) on Danone. Should the result of such
litigation be unfavorable for Danone, this could adversely affect
Danone’s financial situationand itsimage or reputation. Danone’s
exposure to actual or potential major litigation, if applicable,
is presented in Note 14.2 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Natural, industrial and environmental risks
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Natural and industrial risks

Danone’s geographic expansion sometimes leads it to be
present in regions exposed to natural risks, notably seismic.
Natural disasters could therefore (i) cause damage to persons,
property or the environment, and (ii] directly affect Danone or
its consumers or the regions where it is present and poten-
tially have a negative impact on the Group’s activities, financial
situation and image.

Like anyindustrialactivity, Danone’s sites are exposed to various
risks: fire, explosion, equipment failure, security systems failure
orhumanerrorinequipmentoperation orworks management.

Such events could cause damage to persons, property or the
environment and possibly have a negative impact on Danone’s
activities, financial situation and image.

Forits new site development projects, Danone conducts a risk
exposure analysis for such risksin order to choose the site with
the least possible exposure. If, however, the site chosen (or the
existing site in the case of an expansion) is exposed to these
risks, the building construction and equipmentinstallation take
into account recommendations from prevention/protection
experts to limit the potential impacts of these natural risks.

Inordertoreduce, if not eliminate, these risks and their poten-
tialimpact, Danone has decided to elevate personal safety and
industrial plantand environmental protection to core values of its
policy. Thesevaluesare "‘measured” through various programs
with ambitious targets and action plans monitored by Danone
departments, notably the Divisions’ industrial departments.

Moreover, Danone’s insurance policy also helps to reduce the
potential financial impact from a natural disaster [see section
hereafter).
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Environmental risks

Environmental risks are mainly water pollution (essentially
organic and biodegradable pollution), environmental risks
related to (i) cooling installations (ammonia and other cooling
liquids), (i) the storage of raw materials or products for the
cleaning and disinfection of the plants (acid and alkaline pro-
ducts), especially when these plants are located in residential
areas, and (iii) wastewater treatment. In the event that Danone
is exposed to potential environmental liability as a result of
a significant accident or pollution, its results and reputation
could be adversely affected.

Consumer choices, preferences,
or environmental preferences

Consumers’ purchasing preferences, notably in the most deve-
loped countries, are increasingly influenced by environmental
concerns (in particular (i) greenhouse gas emissions, mainly
methane emissions by cows producing the milk used by Danone,
and (i) the preservation of water resources), and such prefe-
rences are at times supported by NGOs (Non-Governmental
Organizations). Distributors also pay increasing attention to
communications with consumers (in particular the labeling
of the products’ carbon footprint]. If Danone is unable to anti-
cipate changing consumer preferences, in particular through
the implementation of measures to (i) reduce and (i) disclose
environmental impacts, its activities, results and reputation
could be negatively affected.

Danone prepares and implements actions, procedures, tools
and policies aimed at (i) preventing and reducing these risks, (ii)
measuring and controlling Danone’s impactand implementing
action plans when necessary, and (iii) preparing and making
public Danone’s positions, including for example a “Forest
impact study” and a “paper/cardboard packaging and defores-
tation study” to address the risks related to these challenges.

Thesevarious initiatives as well as the measures taken in 2015
are described in section 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s
social, societal and environmental performance in compliance
with the Grenelle Il law.

Danone undertakes continuous efforts to reinforce its societal
and environmental commitmentand to improve the management
of its business activities throughout the entire product life cycle,
notably throughits Nature strategy. Danone’s Nature strategy,
its implementation and achievements in 2015 are described in
section 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s social, societal and
environmental performance in compliance with the Grenelle Il law.

38
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Financial market risks

As partofits normalbusiness, the Group is exposed to financial
risks, especially foreign currency, financing and liquidity, interest
rate, counterparty, securities-related and commodity risks.

Currency risk related to operating activities

Danone mainly operates on a local basis and consequently in
the currency of the country in which it is operating, thereby
incurring no foreign exchange risk. However, the location of
some of Danone’s production units may result in inter-company
billings in foreign currencies. This applies particularly to the
Early Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition Divisions and, to a
lesser extent, to the Fresh Dairy Products Division. Similarly,
some raw materials are billed orindexed in foreign currencies,
in particular as regards the Waters and Fresh Dairy Products
Divisions. Lastly, Danone is also developing some export acti-
vities. The sales and operating margin of some subsidiaries
are therefore exposed to fluctuations of foreign exchange rates
against their functional currency.

Currency risk related to financing activities

In conducting its risk centralization policy, Danone manages
multi-currency financings and liquidities. Consequently, fluc-
tuations in exchange rates of foreign currencies against the
euro may have an impact on Danone’s consolidated income
statement and balance sheet.

Financial statements translation into euros

When translating Danone subsidiaries’ financial statements
denominated in foreign currencies into euros, the currency
fluctuations against the euro may have an impact on the
consolidated income statement and the carryingamountin the
consolidated balance sheet of assetsand liabilities denominated
in currencies other than euro.

The Company’s policy consists of (i) minimizing and managing
the impact thatits exposure to financial market risks could have
onits results and, to a lesser extent, on its balance sheet, (i)
monitoring and managing such exposure centrally, [iii) whenever
the regulatory and monetary frameworks so allow, executing
the financial transactions locally or centrally, and (iv) using
derivative instruments only for the purpose of economic hedging.

Through its Financing and Treasury Department, which is
part of the Company Finance Department, Danone possesses
the expertise and tools (trading room, front and back office
software) to act on different financial markets following the
standards generally implemented by first-tier companies. In
addition, the Internal Control and Internal Audit Departments
review the organization and procedures applied. Lastly, a
monthly financing and treasury reportis sent to the Company
Finance Department, enabling it to monitor the decisions taken
toimplementthe previously approved management strategies.

Pursuanttoits operational currency risk hedging policy, Danone’s
residual exposure after hedging was significantly reduced
during the year (see Note 5.7 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements).

Pursuanttoits financial currencyrisk hedging policy, Danone’s
residual exposure after hedging is not material (see Note 10.7
of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Theimpacts of changesin exchange rates on Danone’s sales and
trading operatingincome are described in section 3.2 Consolida-
ted netincome review. Also, Danone’s top 10 countries in terms
of sales are presented in section 2.2 Presentation of Danone.

With respect to currency translation risk, Danone has esta-
blished a policy for monitoring and hedging the net position of
certain subsidiaries, with regular assessments of risks and
opportunities to use hedging instruments.
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Liquidity

Danone does not use debt in eitherarecurring or a significant
way in connection with its operating activities. Operating cash-
flows are generally sufficient to finance Danone’s business
operations and organic growth.

Danone may, however, take on additional debt to finance exter-
nal growth transactions or, occasionally to manage its cash
cycle, particularly when dividends are paid to the Company’'s
shareholders.

The Company's objective is always to keep this debt at a level
enabling it to maintain the flexibility of its financing sources.

Liquidity risk arises mainly from the maturities of its (i) inte-
rest-bearing liabilities (bonds, bank debt, etc.], and (ii] non-
interest-bearing liabilities (liabilities on put options granted
tonon-controlling interests), and from payments on derivative
instruments.

As part of its debt management strategy, Danone regularly
seeks new financing, especially to refinance its existing debt.

In countries where centralized financingis not accessible, when
medium-term financing is unavailable and/or in cases where
certain financing existed at a company prior to being acquired
by Danone, then Danone is exposed to liquidity risk on limited
amounts in these countries.

More generally, it is possible that in the event of a systemic
financial crisis, Danone could be unable to access the financing
or refinancing it needs on the credit or capital markets, or to
access it on satisfactory terms, which could have an adverse
impact on its financial situation.

Meanwhile, Danone’s ability to access financing and its interest
expense may depend in part on its credit rating from credit
rating agencies. The Company’s short-term and long-term
credit ratings and their possible downgrade could result in
higher financing costs and affect Danone’s access to financing.

Finally, most of the financing agreements entered into by the
Company [credit facilities and bonds) include a change of control
provision, which offers creditors a right of early repayment in
the eventa change in control of the Company causes its rating
bythe financial ratingagencies to fall below investment grade.
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Underits refinancing risk management policy, Danone reduces
its exposure by (i) centralizing its financing sources, [ii) bor-
rowing from diversified financing sources, [iii] arranging a
significant portion of its financing as medium-term financing,
liv) maintaining financing sources available at all times, and [v]
ensuring thatitis not subject to any covenant relative to main-
taining financial ratios in connection with financing contracts.

Inthose countries where centralized financing is not available,
when medium-term financing is unavailable and/orin the case
of some existing financing ina company prior to the acquisition
by Danone of a controlling interestinit, some Danone companies
may, for operationalreasons, be required to borrow from local
sources. Froma Company perspective, the amounts borrowed
arerelatively small, whether considered individually orin total,
given the level of operating cash-flow that is generally sufficient
to finance their operations and organic growth.
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1.1 RISH FACTORS

RISKIDENTIFICATION

RISK MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT

Interest rates

Danone is exposed to interest rate risk on its financial liabi-
lities as well as its cash and cash equivalents. Through its
interest-bearing debt, for example, Danone is exposed to the
risk of interest rate fluctuations that affect the amount of its
financial expense.

In addition, in accordance with IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, interest rate fluctuations may
have an impact on Danone’s consolidated results and conso-
lidated equity.

Counterparty, credit

Danoneis exposed to counterparty risk, especially on banking
counterparties, as part ofits financial risk management activities.

As part of its normal activities, Danone has financial institu-
tions as counterparties, mainly to manage its cash and foreign
exchange rate and interest rate risks. The failure of these coun-
terparties to comply with one or more of their commitments
could adversely affect Danone’s financial situation.

DANONE shares

Pursuant to its share buyback policy and the authorizations
granted by the Shareholders’ Meeting, the Company may
choose to repurchase its own shares. Any fluctuations in the
price of the Company’s treasury shares repurchased in this
manner have no impact on Danone’s results. Any decrease in
the Company'’s share price could, however, have an impact on
the potential amount paid out in shares in connection with the
financing of acquisitions.

Other company shares

Danone holds stakes in listed companies. Any significant and/
or prolonged decline in the prices of these companies’ shares
could have an adverse impact on Danone’s results.

Danone has established a policy for monitoring and managing
interest rate risk aimed at limiting the volatility of its financial
result through the use of hedging instruments.

Danone’s banking policy aims to reduce its risks by focusing
on the quality of counterparty credit and by applying limits for
each counterparty. Danone’s exposure to these risks is des-
cribed inthe Note 5.4 and 12.6 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Danone has established a monitoring policy for this risk.
Danone’s exposure totheserisksis describedin the Notes 11.2
and 12.7 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015
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1.1 RISK FACTORS

Insurance and risk coverage

As regards risks other than financial market risks (which are de-
scribedin the above section), Danone has a global insurance coverage
policythatis based on stringent underwriting assessments and uses
insurance products from the world market, depending on availability
and localregulations. This risk coverage is therefore consistent for
all companies over which Danone has operational control.

Insurance programs for property damage, business interruption and
commercial general liability risk are negotiated at the Company level
forallsubsidiaries, with leading internationalinsurers. The “allrisks
except” policies are based on the broadest guarantees available on
the market, coupled with deductibles of varying amounts, which are
relatively low compared to those extended to groups of comparable
size toreflect the autonomous management of the subsidiaries. The
guarantee limits are set on the basis of worst case scenarios and
on insurance market availability. These programs were renewed
on January 1, 2015 for a term of two years; the total cost of these
programs was approximately €28.7 million in 2015.

Insurance programs for “traditional” risks, which require local
management, such as coverage of vehicle fleets, merchandise trans-
portation guarantees, work-related accidents (in countries in which
these accidents are covered by private insurance), and insurance
specific to some countries, are negotiated and managed in accor-
dance with local practices and regulations, within the framework
of precise directives provided and controlled by the Company. Total
premiums came to approximately €20 million in 2015.

41 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015

Lastly, insurance programs for potentially significant special risks,
which require centralized management, such as the liability of the
Company’s corporate officers, fraudulent acts, and assorted risks
[productrecalls, credit risk, environmental risk, etc.) are negotiated
according to market availability, on the basis of scenarios estimating
the probable impact of any claims. The total cost of this category of
coverage amounted to approximately €4 million in 2015.

Inaddition, inorder to optimize itsinsurance costs and properly con-
trolits risks, Danone has a self-insurance policy through its captive
reinsurance subsidiary Danone Ré (a fully consolidated entity). The
self-insurance policy applies to specific risks where the costs can
be accurately estimated as Danone is aware of their frequency and
financialimpact. This concerns essentially (i) coverage of property
damage, business interruption and commercial general liability
for a large majority of Danone’s companies (these self-insurance
programs are limited to frequent claims with a maximum of €7.5 mil-
lion per claim) as well as transportation in some cases, and (ii] for
the French subsidiaries payments for death, long-term disability,
and education. Moreover, stop-loss insurance protects Danone Ré
against any increased frequency of claims. These self-insurance
programs are managed by professionalinsurers and the provisions
are determined by independent actuaries.
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DANONE'S BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2015 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2016

3.1 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 7015

Danone’s consolidated financial statements and the Notes to the consolidated financial statements are presented in section 4.1 Consolidated
financial statements and Notes to the consolidated financial statements. Risk identification and control policy, as well as the major operational
risks relating to the Danone’s business sectors or to Danone’s activity and organization, are described in section 2.7 Risk factors.

Unless indicated otherwise, amounts are expressed in millions of euros and rounded to the nearest million. Generally speaking, the values
presented are rounded to the nearest unit. Consequently, the sum of the rounded amounts may differ, albeit to an insignificant extent, from the
reportedtotal. In addition, ratios and variances are calculated on the basis of the underlying amounts and not on the basis of the rounded amounts.

Danone reports on financial indicators not defined by IFRS, internally lamong indicators used by the chief operating decision makers) and exter-

nally. These indicators are defined in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined by IFRS:

like-for-like changes in sales, trading operating income, trading operating margin, recurring net income and recurring EPS;

trading operating income;

trading operating margin;

recurring net income;

recurring income tax rate;

recurring EPS;

free cash flow;

free cash flow excluding exceptional items;

net financial debt.

Danone also uses references that are defined in section 1.2 Information about the Registration Document related to References and definitions.

3

I BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2015

Highights of 2015

Highlights were detailed in the main press releases issued by
Danone during 2015.

on November 23,2015, Danone announced the successful launch
of a €750 million bond issue in euros;

® on January 7, 2015, Danone announced the successful launch on December 2, 2015, Danone announced, following the press
of a €1.3 billion dual-tranche bond issue in euros: a tranche of release issued on July 24, 2015 announcing the conclusion of a
5-year floating rate notes of €550 million and a tranche of 10-year preliminary agreement with Yashili and Mengniu, the execution
fixed rate bonds of €750 million; of afinal sale agreement of Dumex in China to Yashili, for a total

® onMarch 16,2015, Danone announced the appointment of Lorna €150 million;
DAVIS and Pascal DE PETRINI to the Executive Committee to on December 2, 2015, Danone announced that it has invested
shape the "Danone 2020 initiative, respectively as Chief Manifesto €240 million in new facility to capitalize on growing demand for
Catalystand Executive Vice-President Strategic Resource Cycles; its Early Life Nutrition brands;

® onJune 1, 2015, Danone announced the result of the option to on December 4, 2015, Danone announced an innovative strate-
receive the 2014 dividend payment in shares; gic partnership with Veolia focusing on the water cycle, waste

e onNovember?2,2015, Danone announced thatit has enteredinto 2Zztaa:eemcehnatuzEstea:)r;actiil;Z?erlccr:gtnur:and energy efficiency, to
aworldwide food safety partnership with Mérieux NutriSciences; g g¢:

® on November 9, 2015, Danone announced that it has committed on December 17, 2015, Danene announced an open source

i6

to a new climate policy targeting zero net carbon emissions
withinits full scope, i.e. direct and shared scope of responsibility;

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015

cooperation agreement with B Lab that aims to accelerate the
process for large, publicly listed multinationals to become
certified as B Corp.
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3.1 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2015

Other business activities in 2015

Acquisitions, dispasal of Company shares

Main changes in fully consolidated companies

Ownership as of December 31

(in percentage) Division Country Transaction date 12 2014 2015

Main companies consolidated for the first time during 2015

Fresh Dairy
Fan Milk group’s companies Products West Africa December 49.0% 49.0%

Main consolidated companies with change in ownership percentage

Fresh Dairy

Danone-Unimilk group Products CIS December 50.9% 70.9%
Fresh Dairy

Danone Spain Products Spain February/March 76.9% 92.4%
Fresh Dairy

Centrale Danone ) Products Morocco December 90.9% 95.9%

Main companies that are no longer fully consolidated as of December 31

(a) Month of the fiscal year.
[b) Formerly Centrale Laitiere. The company has been renamed Centrale Danone in 2015.

Main changes in investments in associates

Ownership as of December 31

(in percentage] Division Country Transaction date 12 2014 2015

Main companies accounted for using the equity method for the first time during 2015

Early Life
Yashili Nutrition China February - 25.0%

Main associates with change in ownership percentage

Main companies no longer accounted for using the equity method as of December 31

Fresh Dairy
Fan Milk group's companies ! Products West Africa December 49.0% 49.0%

(a) Month of the fiscal year.
[b) Companies fully consolidated since December 2015 in application of IFRS10, Consolidated financial statements.
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DANONE'S BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2015 AND OUTLOOR FOR 2018

3.1 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 7015

Reduction of carbon footprint

Danone products depend on natural ecosystems. This being the case,
itisinthe company’s best interest to make care for the environment
an integral part of its business activities.

Since carbon footprint is a global indicator that reflects a wide
range of environmental criteria, Danone has for the past several
years been committed to reducing the carbon intensity (grams of
C02 per kilo of product sold] of its products very significantly. As a
result of action plans deployed to this end, the Company effectively
decoupled business growth and CO2 emissions by reducingits car-
bonintensity by -46% based on constant scope of consolidation and
on emissions under the direct responsibility of Danone (packaging,
industrial activities, logistics and end-of-life) from 2008 to 2015.

Social and societal responsibiLity

In November 2015, as part of the COP21 of the United Nations,
Danone took these efforts further by adopting a new climate policy
that targets zero net carbon emissions within both its direct scope
of responsibility (production, packaging, logistics, end of life] and
the full scope of areas where it shares responsibility, especially in
agriculture. This new climate policy aims to achieve zero net carbon
emissionsinthe long term, startingwith a 50% reduction in carbon
intensity between 2015 and 2030, and to accelerate Danone’s car-
bon positive initiatives. The Company has also committed to start
reducing its full scope emissions in absolute terms before 2025.
Consistent with this commitment, the evian brand will be the first
to achieve zero net carbon in 2020.

See also section 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s social, societal
andenvironmental performance in compliance with the Grenelle Il law.

These activities are described in sections 5.2 Information concerning Danone’s social, societal and environmental performance in compliance

with the Grenelle Il law and 5.3 Funds sponsored by Danone.

Governance

Acting on the recommendation of the Nomination and Compensation
Committee, the Board of Directors, meeting on February 22, 2016,
approveddraft resolutions that will be submitted to the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting on April 28, 2016 proposing that shareholders renew
the appointments of two Directors—Franck RIBOUD, Chairman,
and Emmanuel FABER, CEO—whose current terms are expiring.

Research and Development

Fresh Dairy Products
In 2015, the Fresh Dairy Products Division continued its research
activities on the impact of yogurt consumption on diet and health,
which was confirmed by independent studies by academic research-
ers covering, in particular:

® the link between yogurt consumption and better weight man-
agement among adults in Russia;

® overweight and obese people in Canada who consume yogurt
regularly and have a better cardiometabolic risk profile;

® the complementarity of yogurt and fruit consumption to reduce
metabolic risk factors among adults in Spain.

In 2015, the Division also continued its research on understanding
intestinal flora, its changes and the impact of diet and probiotics
onitsrichness, in collaboration with scientific institutions such as
the INRA (French National Institute for Agricultural Research] in
Paris, Harvard Medical School in Boston, USA, the Institut Pasteur
in Paris and University College in Cork, Ireland.

Finally, the Division pursued its innovation project mainly with:

® the extension of the Greek-style yogurt product line in Japan
and Oikos Triple Zero in the United States;

® the re-launch of the Gervais brand in France, Activia set-style
yogurt in Russia and a fat-free with less than 99 calorie SER
stirred yogurt in Argentina;

e thelaunch of Actimel Provitalin Spain (multivitamins and ginseng).

18 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015

The Board also proposed that shareholders approve the appointment
of Clara GAYMARD as an Independent Director as recommended
under the AFEP-MEDEF governance code.

See also section 6.1 Governance bodies.

Waters

In 2015, the Waters Division's Research and Development depart-
ment, in line with its strategy to develop innovative solutions to
promote healthier hydration for consumers, pursued its efforts in
aquadrinks and packaging:

® the aquadrinks product lines saw the addition of new varieties
and new packaging formats under existing brands as well as the
extension of the carbonated aquadrinks lines inthe UKand Poland.

® interms of packaging, Danone is continuing to develop a 100%
plant-based plastic bottle used for various carbonated formu-
las. It is also pursuing the development of innovative formats,
particularly with the launch in Spain of a playful bottle under
the Font Vella brand to encourage children to drink water, which
garnered two awards at the Global Bottled Water Awards 2015.
Lastly, to improve the convenience of the Volvic packaging and
pack, Danone broke new ground with the launch of an easy-to-
open grip bottle in a pack that is easier to carry.

Danone also continued to conduct scientific research on the health
benefits of water and to collaborate with scientific partners EASO
(European Association for the Study of Obesity) and ISN (Interna-
tional Society of Nephrology]. All of these innovative findings were
presented in July 2015 at the seventh annual H4H ("Hydration For
Health”) symposium with a special focus on children’s hydration.
In 2015, Danone released some of the results of this research with
the publication of:

e the first worldwide database of water intakes, i.e. the amount
of water consumed by the population of 15 countries, in the
European Journal of Nutrition;

® asummary of its research on the consumption of fluids ("Fluid
Intakes” study) in the European Journal of Nutrition.
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Danone has also developed awareness programs on the benefits
of water aimed at children, particularly in Indonesia in partnership
with the Ministry of Health (by including the urine color chart in
children’s health notebooks).

Early Life Nutrition
The Group has pursued its research on diet in the first 1,000 days
of life, particularly in the following areas:

® benefits of breast milk and lactation;
® maternal physiology during pregnancy and lactation;
® metabolism of infants and young children;

® developmentof gut functionand microbiota, the immune system
and the brain;

® development of healthy eating habits; and
e productdevelopmentandtechnologyto apply science to products.

To that end, Danone Nutricia Research works closely with a global
network of collaborators - from opinion leadersin a specificarea to
healthcare professionals, scientists and policymakers. The strength
of this network enables the development of adapted products that
are nutritionally optimal for each stage of the first 1,000 days of life.

In 2015, the research teams at Danone Nutricia Research launched
research projects in the fields of immune development, gut devel-

Legal arbitration proceedings

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to legal proceedings
arising in the normal course of business, in particular by compe-
tition authorities in certain countries. Provisions are recognized
when an outflow of resources is probable and the amount can be
reliably estimated.

Proceedings related to the false safety alert issued
by Fonterra with respect to certain ingredients
supplied to Danone in Asiain 2013

See Note 6.2 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Major contracts and related party transactions

Danone granted put options to third parties with non-controlling
interests in certain consolidated subsidiaries, with these options
giving the holders the right to sell part or all of their investment in
these subsidiaries.

As of December 31,2015, financial liabilities related to these options
totaled €862 million and are classified as financial debt.

3.1 BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2015

opment and metabolism of infants and young children. In addition,
the nutrition research teams continued their investigations to
identify local nutritional issues and eating habits of young children
and pregnant women, and launched a research project to define
the role of growing-up milk in young children’s dietary intake of
iron and vitamin D.

Medical Nutrition

The Medical Nutrition Division’s Research and Development de-
partment strives to develop products whose nutritional benefits
help people live longer, healthier lives. In particular, Danone’s
teams focus on memory and brain health, frailty and muscle health
among the elderly, and allergies and immune health starting in the
early stages of life. A clinical study program was developed with
external partners to evaluate various products effectiveness. In
2015, Danone published the results of several studies, including
the study on age-related loss of muscle mass, strength and func-
tion (PROVIDE] which was published in the Journal of the American
Medical Directors Association (JAMDA).

To improve the patient experience, Danone has also conducted
research on optimizing taste and offering more variety in products
such as Souvenaid® (for patients with Alzheimer's disease), Ana-
mix® (for patients with inborn metabolism disorder) and Compact
(for patients suffering from malnutrition).

Proceedings related to the decision of the Spanish
National Authority for Markets and Competition
See Note 6.5 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Other proceedings

To the best of Danone’s knowledge, no other governmental, courtor
arbitration proceedings are currently ongoing that are likely to have,
or have had in the past 12 months, a material impact on Danone’s
financial position or profitability.

Related party transactions are described in Note 15 of the Notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

See also section 6.5 Statutory auditors'special report on related party
agreements and commitments.
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3.1 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

3.1 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

Year ended December 31

(in € millions unless otherwise

indicated] 2014 2015 Change as reported Change Like-for-like
Sales 21,144 22,412 +6.0% +4.4%
Trading operating income (@ 2,662 2,892 +8.7% +5.7%
Trading operating margin @) 12.59% 12.91% +32 bps +17 bps
Recurring net income

- Group share @ 1,561 1,791 +14.7% +9.1%
Net income - Group share 1,119 1,282 +14.6% +7.4%
Recurring EPS (in €] @) 2.62 293 +12.0% +6.5%
EPS (in €] 1.88 2.10 +11.9%

Free cash flow excluding
exceptional items @ 1,401 1,529 +9.2%

(a) See definition section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined by IFRS.

Sales

Consolidated sales

Consolidated sales stood at €22,412 million in 2015, up +6.0% from The +2.0% exchange-rate effect reflects favorable trends in currencies
the figuresreportedin 2014. Excluding the impact of changes in the including the US dollar, the Chinese Yuan and the British Pound.
basis for comparison [i.e. exchange rates and scope of consolidation)
sales were up +4.4%. This organic growth reflects a +0.9% rise in
volume and a +3.5% rise in value.

The -0.4% impact of the change in scope of consolidation results
primarily from the deconsolidation in July 2014 of Fresh Dairy
Products operations in China, and the sale in December 2014 of
the Fresh Dairy Products business in Indonesia.

Sales by Division

Year ended December 31

(in € millions except percentage) 2014 2015 Change @ Volume growth @
Fresh Dairy Products 11,129 11,057 +0.6% -3.0%
Waters 4,186 4,768 +7.1% +5.1%
Early Life Nutrition 4,397 4,994 +9.8% +4.7%
Medical Nutrition 1,432 1,593 +7.5% +4.7%
Total 21,144 22,412 +4.6% +0.9%
(a) Like-for-like.
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Fresh Dairy Products

Sales

The Fresh Dairy Products Division recorded sales of €11,057 million
in 2015, up +0.6% on a like-for-Llike basis. This growth resulted from
the combined impacts of a -3.0% decline in volume and a +3.6%
increase in value. There was thus a gradual improvement despite
variations from one market to another.

Like-for-like Like-for-like
volume growth sales growth

6.6%
1.5%
N 0.6%
N -3.0% I
2014 2015 2014 2015

Main Markets

In Europe, the Division pursued a concerted effort to gradually steer
its business back to profitable structural growth. Sales trends have
confirmed a recoveryinthe second semesterincluding, in particular,
a sequential improvement in volumes, supported by the favorable
basis of comparison signaling the end of PRGM (Profitable Revenue
Growth Management).

Inthe United States, Danone has been consolidating its leading po-
sition driven by portfolio development and by targeted investments
backing brands as well as continuing to leverage channel dynamics.
Recent new products, Oikos Triple Zero in the Greek yogurt segment,
Danimals Squeezable pouch or Light&Fit Shake have substantially
contributed to this growth re-acceleration.

In the CIS, with consumer demand still sluggish, sales have resist-
ed. Danone has continued to enhance its portfolio through higher
prices and a positive mix effect, once again offsetting the significant
decline in volumes in low value-added segments.

Finally, the ALMA region reported a marked rise in sales reflecting
contrasting performances with positive results in Argentina, Mexico
and Japan, and a slowdown in Brazil in a very volatile economy.

3.1 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

Waters

Sales

The Waters Division recorded a strong performance in 2015, with
salesup +7.1% on a like-for-like basis to €4,768 million. This growth
reflected the combined impact of a +5.1% increase in volume and
+2.0% price mix effect.

Like-for-like Like-for-like
volume growth sales growth
11.6%
7.5% N 71%
N 5.1%
2014 2015 2014 2015

Main markets

The Division’s performance is contrasted with, first, strong growth
for the Division as a whole, excluding China, and second, Danone’s
transitioning of the Mizone brand in China which started in the third
quarter of 2015.

In Europe, these positive results reflect strong performances for
both evian and Volvic brands that continue to benefit from the raft of
initiatives deployed to enhance their organization, portfolio structure,
distribution and innovation.

The ALMA region (excluding China) also turned in a robust per-
formance which was driven by Aqua in Indonesia and strong sales
growthin Latin America (including Argentina and Mexico). Momentum
came from the fast-moving aquadrink segmentand from continued
growth in plain waters.

In Chinese environment where the category consumption has
slowdown, Danone has continued since the third quarter of 2015 to
adjust inventories of Mizone to meet these shifting market trends
and to support Mizone’s medium and long-term growth potential.
Agradualreturn to a normalized growth patternis expected in the
second half of 2016.
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3.7 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

Early Life Nutrition

Sales

The Early Life Nutrition Division recorded sales of €4,994 million in
2015, up +9.8% on a like-for-like basis. This increase resulted from
+4.7% growth in volume and a +5.1% value increase.

Like-for-like Like-for-like
volume growth sales growth
7 9.8%
6.1%
A 4.7%
1.7%
2014 2015 2014 2015

Main markets
Europe hasrealized avery good performance driven by the success of
international brands exported to China, including Aptamil and Nutrilon.

In China, Danone pushed ahead with efforts to build a sustainable
model of growth by continuing to invest in the Aptamil and Nutrilon
brands, and by forging a structure for its local internet offering
using a direct distribution model, while developing sales through
specialized stores.

Sales trends for the Dumex brand (China) are down compared with
2014. Dumex’s future tie-up with Yashili will let Danone take part
inthe creation of a platform of strong local brands in a market that
holds very significant potential.

Finally, the Division businesses in the rest of the world have re-
mained upbeat, with double-digit growth in sales in both Latin
America and Africa.
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Medical Nutrition

Sales

The Medical Nutrition Division recorded an excellent performancein
2015, with sales rising by +7.5% on a like-for-like basis to €1,593 mil-
lion. This growth consisted of a +4.7% increase in volume and a
price mix effect of +2.8%.

Like-for-like
volume growth

Like-for-like
sales growth

0,
7:9% N 7.5%

5.6%
N 4.7%

2014 2015 2014 2015

Main markets

The Divisionturned in solid performances inall geographical areas,
in particular in ALMA, driven by growth in Brazil and China, and in
Europe, with very good performances in the United Kingdom, the
Benelux and Germany.

All segments contributed to growth all year long, with the pediatric
range (Neocate and Nutrini) and Nutrison brand within the adult
range doing particularly well.
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Sales by geographical area

3.1 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

Year ended December 31

Sales Sales

breakdown by breakdown by

Like-for-like Volume growth geographical geographical

(in € millions except percentage) 2014 2015 change like-for-like areain 2014 areain 2015
Europe 8,522 8,900 +3.0% +1.0% 40% 40%
CIS & North America @ 4,525 4,471 +2.6% -3.8% 21% 20%
ALMA (b} 8,097 9,041 +6.7% +2.8% 38% 40%
Total 21,144 22,612 +4.4% +0.9% 100% 100%

(a) North America = United States and Canada.
(b) ALMA = Asia-Pacific/Latin America/Middle-East/Africa.

Europe

Europe recorded sales of €8,900 millionin 2015, up +3.0% on a like-
for-like basis. This performance reflects a sequentialimprovement
oftrends in the Fresh Dairy Products Division, a strong growth of the
Waters Division and an increasing success of international brands
through exports to China within the Early Life Nutrition Division.

CIS & North America

The CIS & North America zone recorded sales of €4,471 million in
2015, up +2.6% on a like-for-like basis with two different market
dynamics.

In the United States, Fresh Dairy Products growth has gathered
pace over the end of the year, driven by targeted investments backing
brands and by the category’s return to growth.

Sales by quarter

Inthe CIS, sales have hold up despite the persistently unstable envi-
ronment. As part of its portfolio enhancementdrive, the Fresh Dairy
Products Division once again carefully managed sales trends in its
various product ranges and reaped the benefits of price increases
and a very positive product mix. This has offset the important de-
crease of volumes of traditional products.

ALMA

The ALMA region generated sales of €9,041 million in 2015, up
+6.7% on a like-for-like basis. This robust growth relied on different
pillars of growth that has allowed absorbing the effect of Danone’s
transitioning of the Mizone brand in China.

First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Fourth quarter Total
(in € millions] 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015
By Division
Fresh Dairy Products 2,809 2,807 2,831 2,857 2,796 2,711 2,693 2,682 11,129 11,057
Waters 895 1,065 1,179 1,438 1,169 1,312 944 953 4,186 4,768
Early Life Nutrition 1,029 1,220 1,042 1,225 1,084 1,217 1,241 1,332 4,397 4,994
Medical Nutrition 328 380 354 401 366 400 384 413 1,432 1,593
By geographical area
Europe 2,053 2,156 2,208 2,290 2,156 2,286 2,105 2,167 8,522 8,900
CIS & North America (@ 1,154 1,108 1,176 1,197 1,153 1,102 1,042 1,064 4,525 4,471
ALMA () 1,854 2,207 2,022 2,434 2,107 2,252 2,114 2,147 8,097 9,041
Total 5,061 5,471 5,406 5,921 5,416 5,641 5,261 579 21,144 22,412

(a) North America = United States and Canada.
(b) ALMA = Asia-Pacific/Latin America/Middle-East/Africa.
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3.1 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

First quarter 2015 Second quarter 2015 Third quarter 2015 Fourth quarter 2015 Total 2015
) [ [ o o
° T ° T k-] T k-] T k-] T
-g [ o o -g [ o o 2 [ o 2 [ o o -9- ] o o
s & = s 2 T g s 2 T e s 2 = s 2 =
2 R 2 R 2 La 2 R S R
(in percentage] xS 35 xS ] xS 35 xS 35 xS 35
By Division
Fresh Dairy Products -0.1% +0.2% +0.9% -1.1% -3.0% +0.6% -0.4% +2.6% -0.6% +0.6%
Waters +18.9% +8.6%  +22.0% +10.2%  +12.3% +6.8% +1.0% +1.9% +13.9% +7.1%
Early Life Nutrition +18.5%  +11.6%  +17.6% +11.1%  +12.3%  +10.9% +7.3% +6.0%  +13.6% +9.8%
Medical Nutrition +15.8% +91%  +13.3% +7.1% +9.1% +6.9% +7.6% +6.8% +11.3% +7.5%
By geographical area
Europe +5.0% +2.9% +3.7% +1.8% +6.1% +5.1% +3.0% +2.3% +4.4% +3.0%
CIS & North America @ -4.0% +2.8% +1.8% +0.4% -4.4% +3.2% +2.1% +4.2% -1.2% +2.6%
ALMA (b} +19.0% +8.0%  +20.4% +9.4% +6.9% +4.7% +1.6% +4.7% +11.7% +6.7%
Total +8.1% +4.8% +9.5% +4.5% +4.2% +4.6% +2.2% +3.6% +6.0% +4.46%

(a) North America = United States and Canada.
(b) ALMA = Asia-Pacific/Latin America/Middle-East/Africa.

Trading operating income and trading operating margin

Consolidated trading operating income and trading operating margin

Trading operating income totaled €2,892 million in 2015, compared
with €2,662 million in 2014.

Danone’s trading operating margin stood at 12.91%, up +32 bps as
reported, reflecting a:

® +17 bps rise like-for-like;

® +6 bpsrise due to changes in the scope of consolidation that
included deconsolidation of some Fresh Dairy Products opera-
tions in China and Indonesia;

® +9 bpsrise due to trends in exchange rates.

2015 sawanincreasingly volatile and complex environmentinanum-
berof geographicalareas. Inthis context, Danone demonstrated its
capacity to adjust its profitable growth modelin line with its roadmap
and 2020 ambition of strong, profitable and sustainable growth.

Cost of goods sold totaled €11,212 million in 2015 (€11,056 million in
2014), or 50.0% of consolidated sales (52.3% in 2014). This favorable
evolution reflects in particularly the deflationary trend of milk and
milk ingredients based prices as well as cost optimization of raw
materials.

5 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015

Asper 2015 roadmap, Danone has significantly stepped up its amounts
spenton marketing and sales compared with 2014, especiallyin the
Fresh Dairy Products Division and the Waters Division.

Selling expense was €5,677 millionin 2015 (€5,209 million in 2014),
or 25.3% of consolidated sales (24.6% in 2014).

General and administrative expense was €1,944 million in 2015
(€1,743 million in 2014), or 8.7% of consolidated sales (8.2% in 2014).

Research and Development costs totaled €307 million in 2015
(€272 million in 2014), or 1.4% of consolidated sales (1.3% in 2014)
(see section 3.1 Business highlights in 2015).

Other operating income and expenses stood at € (682) million,
reflecting in particular an impairment loss for the Dumex brand
and for certain Dumex assets (€337 million), as well as expenses
related to Danone’s cost reduction and organizational adaptation
planin Europe.
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Trading operating income

3.1 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

and trading operating margin by Division

Year ended December 31

Trading operating income

Trading operating margin

(in € millions except percentage Like-for-like
and bps] 2014 2015 2014 2015 change
Fresh Dairy Products 1,033 1,100 9.28% 9.95% +24 bps
Waters 539 542 12.88% 11.37% -192 bps
Early Life Nutrition 828 965 18.83% 19.32% +142 bps
Medical Nutrition 262 286 18.28% 17.95% +1 bp
Total 2,662 2,892 12.59% 12.91% +17 bps

The Fresh Dairy Products Division’s trading operating margin was
9.95% in 2015, up +24 bps on a like-for-like basis. Against a back-
drop of favorable price trends in raw materials, Danone pursued
structural efforts to enhance the value of its brand portfolio and
optimize the cost base, while stepping up investment in its brands,
thus mobilizing all growth drivers and making its equation for
profitable growth sustainable in 2016.

The Waters Division’s trading operating margin was 11.37%in 2015,
down -192 bps on a like-for-like basis, strongly impacted by Danone’s
transitioning of the Mizone brand in China.

The Early Life Nutrition’s trading operating margin was 19.32%
in 2015, up +142 bps on a like-for-like basis, benefiting from the
success of international infant formula brands exported to China
and a favorable milk context.

The Medical Nutrition Division’s trading operating margin was 17.95%
in 2015, slightly up +1 bp on a like-for-like basis relative to 2014.
This stability reflects the continued geographical expansion and
growth ininnovative brands of the Division. This level of profitability
isaccretive for Danone and contributes to long-term value creation.

Trading operating income and trading operating margin by geographical area

Year ended December 31

Trading operating income

Trading operating margin

(in € millions except percentage Like-for-like
and bps) 2014 2015 2014 2015 change
Europe 1,336 1,536 15.67% 17.26% +168 bps
CIS & North America @ 387 388 8.56% 8.67% -19 bps
ALMA o) 939 969 11.60% 10.71% -120 bps
Total 2,662 2,892 12.59% 12.91% +17 bps

(a) North America = United States and Canada.
(b) ALMA = Asia-Pacific/Latin America/Middle-East/Africa.

The trading operating margin of Europe was 17.26% in 2015, up
+168 bps on a like-for-like basis. The region’s profitability benefited
from the success of international infant formula brands exported
to China as well as the strong margin improvement of the Fresh
Dairy Products Division.

The trading operating margin of the CIS & North America zone was
8.67% in 2015, down -19 bps on a like-for-like basis illustrating a

marked contrast between the two markets: protection of the prof-
itability equation in the CIS and investments’ acceleration in North
Americainthe Fresh Dairy Products and Early Life Nutrition Divisions.

The trading operating margin of the ALMA zone was 10.71% in 2015,
down -120 bps on a like-for-like basis. This decline reflected, in
particular, Danone’s transitioning of the Mizone brand in China as
well as the negative impact of the Dumex situation in China.
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3.1 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

Net financial income (expense)

Market risks exposure and management policy

See section 2.7 Risk factors.

Net financial income (expense)

Year ended December 31

(in € millions) 2014 2015
Interest income on cash, cash equivalents

and short term investments 94 122
Interest expense on financial debt (274) (274)
Cost of net financial debt (179) (152)
Other financial income 5 1
Other financial expense (137) (134)
Other financial income or expense (132) (133)
Net financial income (expense) (312) (285)

Cost of net financial debt

In 2015, the cost of net financial debt was € (152) million (€ (179) mil-
lionin 2014).

The cost of net debt declined despite a rise in the amount of net
financial debt from 2014. This decline was linked in particular to
lowerinterestrates and the benefits of bond issuances that enabled
Danone to extend the average maturity of its debt at favorable
market conditions.

Tax rate

The underlying tax rate for the full year was 31.3% in 2015, up
+0.8 point from 2014. This increase is due primarily to the depreci-
ation of deferred tax assets booked in the first half with respect to
losses carried forward by Dumex in China. This tax rate excludes
the non-current items and the tax income and expense pertaining
to these items [see table hereafter].

Other financial income (expense)

In 2015, Other financial income and expense was € (133]) million,
stable compared with 2014 (€ (132) million in 2014).

Moreover,whenincluding the non-recurring items, Danone’s effective
tax rate was 32.5% in 2015 (32.6% in 2014) and the differential with
the legal tax rate in France in 2015 and 2014 is provided in Note 8
of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Recurring net income - Group share and recurring EPS

The net income amounted to €1,398 million in 2015 (€1,253 million in 2014). The net income - Group share amounted to €1,282 million

in 2015 (€1,119 million in 2014).

Share of profit of associates

The positive change in netincome from associates reflects acquisitions
made in 2014 and 2015 and improvements in netincome for some of
them. Moreover, the 2014 figure included non-recurring expenses
relating to the impairment of certain interests in associates, which
created a favorable basis for comparison.
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Recurring net income - Group share

Recurring netincome - Group Share stood at €1,791 million in 2015,
up +9.1% like-for-like, and up +14.7% as reported compared with
2014.Recurring EPS stood at €2.93, up +6.5% like-for-like and up
+12.0% as reported compared with 2014.
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3.1 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

Transition from Net income - Group share to Recurring net income - Group share

Year ended December 31

2014 2015
(in € millions except percentage) Recurring  Non-recurring Total Recurring  Non-recurring Total
Trading operating income 2,662 2,662 2,892 2,892
Other operating income and
expense (511) (511) (682) (682)
Operating income 2,662 (511) 2,151 2,892 (682) 2,210
Cost of net debt (179) (179) (152) (152)
Other financial income and
expense (129) (3] (132) (129) (4) (133)
Income before taxes 2,353 (514) 1,839 2,611 (686) 1,925
Income tax (716) 17 (599) (818) 193 (626)
Effective tax rate 30.5% 32.6% 31.3% 32.5%
Net income from fully
consolidated companies 1,637 (397) 1,239 1,792 (493) 1,299
Net income from associates b6 (52) 14 123 (25) 99
Netincome 1,703 (450) 1,253 1,915 (518) 1,398
e Group share 1,561 (442) 1,19 1,791 (508) 1,282
¢ Non-controlling interests 142 (7) 134 125 (9) 115

Transition from EPS to Recurring EPS

Year ended December 31

2014 2015

Recurring Total Recurring Total
Net Income - Group share
(in € millions) 1,561 1,119 1,791 1,282
Number of shares
e Before dilution 594,472,798 594,472,798 609,647,527 609,647,527
o After dilution 595,536,328 595,536,328 610,155,241 610,155,241
EPS (in €]
e Before dilution 2.63 1.88 2.94 2.10
o After dilution 2.62 1.88 2.93 2.10
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3.1 CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME REVIEW

Additional information on consolidated income statement: transition from reported to like-for-like figures

Including impact of fluctuations in
exchange rates

of which of which
impact of other
changesin of which impact of
Period scope of treatment fluctuations
Previous under Reported  consolida- of over- in exchange Like-for-
period review change tion Total inflation rates like growth
Sales
(in € millions except percentage)
2014 21,298 21,144 (0.7)% 0.1% (5.5)% 0.4% (5.9)% 4.7%
2015 21144 22,412 6.0% (0.4)% 2.0% 0.3% 1.7% 4.4%
Trading operating margin
2014 13.19% 12.59% -60 bps -20 bps -28 bps -20 bps -8 bps -12 bps
2015 12.59% 12.91% +32 bps +6 bps +9 bps -1bp +10 bps +17 bps
Recurring EPS
lin € except percentage]
2014 2.78 2.62 (5.7)% (0.3)% (7.8)% (1.7)% (6.1)% 2.5%
2015 2.62 2.93 12.0% 1.9% 3.5% 0.3% 3.2% 6.5%

Dividend for the 2015 fiscal year

Atthe Annual General Meeting on Thursday, April 28, 2016, Danone’s ~ Assuming this proposal is approved, the ex-dividend date will be
Board of Directors will ask shareholders to approve distribution of ~ Thursday, May 5, 2016. Dividend will be payable on Monday, May 9, 2016.
a€1.60dividend pershareincashinrespect of the 2015 fiscal year,
up +6.7% from 2014. This dividend reflects the confidence of both the
Board and managementinthe Company’s scope for growth in profit.
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3.3 FREE CASH FLOW

At the date of this Registration Document, Danone is confident that
the cash flows generated by its operating activities, its cash and
cash equivalents and the funds available under committed credit
facilities managed at Corporate level will be sufficient to cover the
expenditures and investments necessary forits operations, service
its debt (including the financing during the year of the exercise of all
put options granted to non-controlling interests) and pay dividends.

Free cash flow stood at €1,468 million in 2015, including €61 million
(net of tax] in outlays linked to the Company’s cost-reduction and
adaptation plan in Europe.

Free cash flow

Transition from operating cash flow to free cash flow

3.3 FREE CASH FLOW

Free cash flow excluding exceptionalitems thus came to €1,529 mil-
lion (6.8% of sales), up +9.2% from 2014, buoyed by the rise in sales
and in trading operating margin, and by favorable exchange-rate
effects. This will fund Danone’s roadmap for growth.

Capital expenditure for 2015 came to €937 million, or 4.2% of sales.

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Cash flow from operating activities 2,189 2,369
Capital expenditure (984) (937)
Disposal of tangible assets 67 31
Transaction fees related to business combinations @) 6 5
Earn-outs related to business combinations *! - -
Free cash flow 1,277 1,468
Cash flows related to plan to generate savings and adapt organization in Europe © 123 61
Free cash flow excluding exceptional elements 1,401 1,529

(a) Represents acquisition costs related to business combinations paid during the period.
[b) Represents earn-outs related to business combinations and paid subsequently to acquisition date and over the period.

(c) Net of tax.
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3.3 FREE CASH FLOW

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Netincome 1,253 1,398
Share of profit of associates net of dividends received 4 (58)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets 956 1,217
Increases in (reversals of) provisions 43 148
Change in deferred taxes (94) (179)
(Gains) losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment and financial investments (8) 29
Expense relating to stock-options and Group performance shares 19 27
Cost of net financial debt 179 152
Net interest paid (212) (182)
Net change in interest income (expense) (33) (30)
Other components with no cash impact 19 1
Other net cash outflows (6) -
Cash flows provided by operating activities, before changes in net working capital 2,154 2,552
(Increase) decrease in inventories (105) (66)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (96) (418)
Increase [decrease] in trade payables 184 174
Change in other receivables and payables 52 128
Change in working capital requirements 35 (182)
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities 2,189 2,369
Capital expenditure 1@ (984) (937)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2! 67 31
Net cash outflows on purchases of subsidiaries and financial investments ) (1,070) (596)
Net cash inflows on disposal of subsidiaries and financial investments () 34 2
(Increase] decrease in long-term loans and other long-term financial assets (14) (19)
Cash flows provided by (used in) investment activities (1,966) (1,519)
Increase in issued capital and additional paid-in capital 33 39
Purchases of treasury shares [net of disposals) and of DANONE call options (© 13 198
Dividends paid to Danone shareholders (307) (314)
Buyout of non-controlling interests (363) (1,929)
Dividends paid (110) (97)
Contribution from non-controlling interests to capital increases 1 (3)
Transactions with non-controlling interests (471) (2,029)
Net cash flows on hedging derivatives 9 (4) 22
Bonds issued or raised during the period 150 2,049
Bonds repaid during the period (618) (603)
Increase [decrease] in other current and non-current financial debt 312 (101)
Increase [decrease] in short term investments 535 (242)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities (357) (982)
Effect of exchange rate and other changes (@ 45 (228)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (89) (361)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 969 880
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 880 519
Supplemental disclosures
Payments during the year of income tax (601) (804)

(a) This expenditure relates to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets used in operations.

[b) Acquisition/disposal of companies’ shares. In the case of fully-consolidated companies, this comprises cash as of the acquisition/disposal date.

(c) DANONE call options acquired by the Company.
(d) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.
(e] Effect of reclassification with no impact on net debt.
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3.4 BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW

34 BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW

Simplified consolidated balance sheet

As of December 31

(in € millions except percentage) 2014 2015
Non-current assets 24,272 24,715
Current assets 7,476 7,998
Total assets 31,747 32,712
Equity - Group share 11,696 12,606
Non-controlling interests 49 63
Net debt 7,764 7,799
Net financial debt 5,206 6,937
Gearing based on net debt 66% 62%
Gearing based on net financial debt 45% 55%

Financing structure and financial security

Liguidity risk exposure and management paLicy
See section 2.7 Risk factors relating to Market risks.

In particular Danone manages its liquidity risk and its financing at Company level.

Financing situation and Liquidity risk

Main financing transactions in 2015

Year ended December 31

2015
Nominal
Currency (in millions of currency) Maturity
New financing
Euro bond issue under the EMTN program EUR 550 2020
Euro bond issue under the EMTN program EUR 750 2025
Euro bond issue under the EMTN program EUR 750 2024
Repayment
Euro bond issue under the EMTN program EUR 604 2015
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3.4 BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW

Main financial debt repayment schedule
It consists in financing managed at Company level.

Projected cash outflows related to the contractual repayment
of the principal amount and based on the assumption of non-renewal

lin € millions]

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Liabilities related to put options

1,000

- Bonds

- Commercial paper [Billets de Trésorerie]

Sources of financing available at any time
The sources of financing available at any time implemented by Danone consist mainly of available committed credit facilities and
a syndicated credit facility carried by the Company.

[in € millions]

2015 2017 2018 Committed credit facilities
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3.4 BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW

Company’s rating
As of December 31

2014 2015
Moody's Standard and Poor's Moody's Standard and Poor's
Short term rating 2!
Rating - A-2 = A-2
Long term rating 'b! (¢}
Rating Baal @ A- Baal ld A-
Outlook Stable Negative @ Stable Negative 1@

(a] Rating given to the Company's commercial paper program.

(b) Rating given to the Company's debt issues with a maturity of more than a year.
[c) Rating lowered on December 13, 2014.

(d) Outlook attributed on December 23, 2014.

Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests

General principles

Danone granted put options to third parties with non-controlling interests in certain consolidated subsidiaries, with these options giving
the holders the right to sell part or all of their investment in these subsidiaries. These financial liabilities do not bear interest.

Main characteristics
As of December 31

2014 2015

Start of Price

Non- Non- exercise calculation

(in € millions) Current current Total Current current Total period formula

Average

earnings

multiple

over

several

Danone Spain 794 236 1,030 234 - 234 Atanytime years

Earnings

Danone-Unimilk group 912 - 912 - - - 2014 multiple

Other @ 503 113 616 380 248 628 Since 2015

Total 2,209 349 2,558 614 248 862

(a) Several put options with an individual amount less than or equal to €200 million on the 31st December, 2015.
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Change during the period

(in € millions)

2014 2015
As of January 1 3,244 2,558
New options and options recognized previously in accordance
with IAS 39 - 207
Options exercised @ (341) (1,851)
Changes in the present value of the option strike price of
outstanding options (345) (52)
As of December 31 2,558 862

(a) Carrying amount on the balance sheet date of the preceding fiscal year.

See also Note 3.6 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Net debt and net financial debt
Net debt

As of December 31

(in € millions)

2014 2015
Non-current financial debt 6,598 8,087
Current financial debt 4,544 2,991
Short term investments (2,317) (2,514)
Cash and cash equivalents (880) (519)
Derivatives - assets - Non-current (153) (125)
Derivatives - assets - Current (28) (120)
Net debt 7,764 7,799

Change in net debt in 2015

Danone’s net debt was stable compared with 2014 at €7,799 million on December 31
granted to minority shareholders, down €1,696 million from December 31, 2014.

Transition from net debt to net financial debt

, 2015. This includes €862 million in put options

As of December 31

(in € millions)

2014 2015
Net debt 7,764 7,799
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling
interests - Non-current (349) (248)
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling
interests - Current (2,209) (614)
Financial debt excluded from net debt (2,558) (862)
Net financial debt 5,206 6,937
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Shareholder’s equity

Change in shareholder’s equity - Group share

DANONE'S BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2015 AND OUTLOOK FOR 2016

3.4 BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCIAL SECURITY REVIEW

(in € millions] 2014 2015
As of January 1 10,694 11,696
Net income 1,119 1,282
Other comprehensive income (323) 146
Dividends paid® (307) (317)
Cumulative translation adjustments 52 325
Other 462 (526)
As of December 31 11,696 12,606

(a) Impact on the Group share of the equity, the impact of the dividends paid on the consolidated equity amounting to € (411) million in 2015 (€ (418) million in 2014)

and corresponding to the portion paid in cash, the portion paid in shares having no impact on equity.

0ff-balance sheet commitments

Commitments given as of December 31, 2015 relating to operating activities

Amount of financial flows for the year

(in € millions] Total 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 and after
Commitments to purchase

goods and services @ (3,452) (1,904) (680) (338) (255) (275)
Capital expenditure

commitments (198) (179) (9] (10) - -
Operating lease commitments (767) (208) (142) (106) (82) (229)
Guarantees and pledges given (284) (234) (2) (12) (1) (35)
Other (35) (24) (7) (3) (1) -
Total (4,738) (2,548) (841) (469) (340) (539)

(a) Commitments mainly related to milk, dairy ingredients and other food raw materials purchase.
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3.5 OUTLOOR FOR 016

Material change in financial or trading position

The Company and its subsidiaries overall have not experienced any material changes in their financial or trading position since the close

of the 2015 fiscal year.

Financial outlook for 1016

After delivering profitable growth in 2015, Danone will pursue its
journey to meet its ambition for 2020, which calls for strong, prof-
itable and sustainable growth.

Danone assumes that economic conditions will remain volatile and
uncertain overall, with fragile or even deflationary consumertrends
in Europe, emerging markets undermined by volatile currencies,
and difficulties specific to a few major markets, in particular the
CIS, China and Brazil.

In 2016, Danone also anticipates upward trends in the cost of its
main strategic raw materials. Against this backdrop, it will contin-
ue to strengthen its model through a range of initiatives aimed at
offsetting inflation and limiting its exposure to volatility.

Milk prices are thus expected to edge up, with variations from one
geographical area to the next:

® lower pricesin Europe andthe United States in the first half, with
a possible rebound in the second half of the year, and

® steady price increases in emerging countries all year long,
particularly in the CIS.

Regarding its other raw materials, including plastics, sugar and
fruits, Danone anticipates overall inflation in which the recent de-
terioration in emerging market currencies is an important factor.

In this context, Danone will continue its transformation toward an
increasingly balanced model, which makes perfect execution of
its roadmap for growth and discipline in allocating resources its
top priorities.
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As aresult, Danone’s 2016 targets include:

® sales growth within a range of +3% to +5% (see definition of this
indicator in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined by IFRS);

e solidimprovement of trading operating margin (see definition of
this indicatorin section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined by IFRS);

Danone will also focus on increasing the free cash flow (see defi-
nition of this indicator in section 3.6 Financial indicators not defined
by IFRS), without setting a short-term target.

These forecasts, outlooks, representations and other forward-look-
ing information included in this Registration Document are based
mainly on the data, assumptions and estimates detailed hereafter,
and which are deemed reasonable Danone. They are not historical
dataandshould not be interpreted as guarantees thatactual results
will be in line with said forecasts. By their very nature, such data,
assumptions and estimates, as well as all other factors taken into
accountinthe preparation of such forward-looking representations
and information, may happen and are susceptible to change or be
amended because of uncertainties notably related to Danone’s
economic, financial and competitive environment. In addition, the
occurrence of certain risks described in section 2.7 Risk factors could
have an impact on Danone’s activities, financial position, earnings
and outlook and on the achievements of its forecasts, outlooks,
representations and forward-looking information provided above.
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3.6 FINANCIAL INDICATORS NOT DEFINED BY [FRS

Information published by Danone uses the following financial indi-
cators that are not defined by IFRS:

e like-for-like changesinsales, trading operatingincome, trading
operating margin, recurring net income and recurring EPS;

® trading operating income;

® trading operating margin;

® recurring netincome;

® recurring income tax rate;

e recurring EPS;

® free cash flow;

® free cash flow excluding exceptional items;
® netfinancial debt.

Given severe deteriorationin consumer spending in Europe, Danone
has set a target for savings and adaptation of its organization to
regain its competitive edge. Starting in the first half of 2013, the
Company has published a free cash flow indicator excluding cash
flows related to initiatives deployed within the framework of this plan.

Calculation of financial indicators not defined in IFRS and used by
Danone is as follows:

Like-for-like changes in Sales, Trading operating income, Trading
operating margin, Recurring netincome and recurring EPS reflect
Danone’s organic performance and essentially exclude the impact of:

® changesinconsolidation scope with indicators related to a given
fiscal year calculated on the basis of previous-year scope;

® changesin applicable accounting principles;

® changesinexchange rates, (i) with both previous-year and cur-
rent-year indicators calculated using the same exchange rates
(the exchange rate used is a projected annual rate determined
by the Company for the currentyearand applied to both previous
and current year), and [(ii) correcting differences caused by the
exceptionalvolatility of inflation in countries that are structurally
subject to hyperinflation, which would otherwise distort any
interpretation of Danone’s organic performance.

Sinceinflationin Argentina—already structurally high—accelerated
furtherin 2014, in particular following the sharp, steep devaluation
of the pesoin January, using an identical exchange rate to compare
2014 figures with those for the prior year did not reflect Danone’s
organic performance in that country accurately. As a result, the
Company fine-tuned the definition of like-for-like changes to in-
clude in its exchange-rate impact the differences caused by the
exceptional volatility in structurally hyperinflationary countries.
Danone is applying this methodology, which is applicable only to
Argentina starting with the release of 2014 full-year results. More
specifically, this methodology leads to (a) limit the inflation of price
and cost of goods sold per kilo to their average level for the past
three years and (b) cap trading operating margin at its prior-year
level; this methodology has been applied to each division operating
in Argentina. With respect to 2014, adjustment for the full year had
been recorded in the fourth quarter of 2014.

Trading operating income is defined as Danone’s operating income
excluding Other operating income and expenses. Other operating
income and expenses is defined under Recommendation 2013-03
of the French CNC (format of consolidated financial statements
for companies reporting under international reporting standards),
and comprises significant items that, because of their exceptional
nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to its recurring activities.
These mainly include capital gains and losses on disposals of fully
consolidated companies, impairment charges on goodwill, signif-
icant costs related to strategic restructuring and major external
growth transactions, and costs related to major crisis and major
litigations. Furthermore, in connection with of IFRS 3 (Revised) and
IAS 27 (Revised) relating to business combinations, the Company
also classifies in Other operating income and expenses (i) acquisi-
tion costs related to business combinations, (i) revaluation profit
or loss accounted for following a loss of control, and (i) changes
in earn-outs relating to business combinations and subsequent to
acquisition date.

Trading operating margin is defined as Trading operating income
over Net sales ratio.

Recurring netincome (or Recurring netincome - Group Share] corre-
sponds to the Group share in the Total Recurring net income. Total
Recurring netincome measures Danone’s recurring performance
and excludes significant items that, because of their exceptional
nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to its recurring performance.
Such non-recurring income and expenses mainly include capital
gains and losses on disposals and impairments of Investments in
associates and in other non-fully-consolidated entities and tax in-
come and expenses related to non-recurring income and expenses.
Such income and expenses excluded from Net income are defined
as Total Non-recurring net income and expenses.

Recurring income tax rate measures the income tax rate related to
Danone’s recurring performance and corresponds to the ratio Tax
income and expenses related to recurring income and expenses
over Total Recurring net income.

Recurring EPS (or Recurring net income - Group Share, per share
after dilution) is defined as Recurring net income over Diluted
number of shares ratio.

Free cash flowrepresents cash flows provided or used by operating
activities less capital expenditure net of disposals and, in connection
with of IFRS 3 [Revised), relating to business combinations, exclud-
ing (i) acquisition costs related to business combinations, and (ii)
earn-outs related to business combinations and paid subsequently
to acquisition date.

Free cash flow excluding exceptional items represents free cash
flow before cash flows related to initiatives deployed within the
framework of the plan to generate savings and adapt Danone’s
organization in Europe.

Net financial debt represents the net debt portion bearing interest. It
corresponds to currentand non-current financial debt (i) excluding
Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests
and (i) net of Cash and cash equivalents, Short term investments
and Derivatives - assets.
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3.1 DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC

The by-laws, the minutes of Shareholders’ Meetings, reports of the Statutory auditors, and other corporate documents may be consulted
at the Company’s registered office. Moreover, historical financial information and certain information regarding the organization and
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries are available on Danone’s website in the section pertaining to regulated information.
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41 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement and earnings per share

Year ended December 31

(in € millions except earnings per share in €] Notes 2014 2015
Net sales 51t05.2 21,144 22,412
Cost of goods sold (11,056) (11,212)
Selling expense (5,209) (5,677)
General and administrative expense (1,743) (1,944)
Research and Development expense (272) (307)
Other income (expense) 5.3 (202) (380)
Trading operating income 2,662 2,892
Other operating income (expense) 6.1 (511) (682)
Operating income 2,151 2,210

Interest income 94 122

Interest expense (274) (274)
Cost of net debt 10.6 (179) (152)
Other financial income 11.3 5 1
Other financial expense 1.3 (137) (134)
Income before tax 1,839 1,925
Income tax expense 8.1 (599) (626)
Net income from fully consolidated companies 1,239 1,299
Share of profit of associates 4.8 14 99
Netincome 1,253 1,398
Netincome - Group share 1,119 1,282
Net income - Non-controlling interests 134 115
Net income - Group share, per share 13.4 1.88 2.10
Net income - Group share, per share after dilution 13.4 1.88 2.10
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of comprenensive income

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Netincome - Group share 1,119 1,282
Translation adjustments 177 67

Cash-flow-hedge derivatives
Gross unrealized gains and losses (120) 121

Tax effects 5 (13)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Gross unrealized gains and losses (71) (10)

Amount recycled to profit or loss in the current year - -

Tax effects (1) 8
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 3 -
Items that may be subsequently recycled to profit or loss (7) 173

Actuarial gains and losses on retirement commitments

Gross gains and losses (203) 58
Tax effects b4 (19)
Items not subsequently recyclable to profit or loss (138) 40
Total comprehensive income - Group share 973 1,495
Total comprehensive income - Non-controlling interests 77 91
Total comprehensive income 1,051 1,586

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015 13
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated balance sheet

As of December 31

(in € millions] Notes 2014 2015
Assets
Goodwill 11,582 11,653
Brands 4,337 3,833
Other intangible assets 315 292
Intangible assets 911093 16,234 15,779
Property, plant and equipment 5.5 4,582 4,752
Investments in associates 41to4.8 2,146 2,882
Investments in other non-consolidated companies 92 70
Long-term loans and other long-term financial assets 228 204
Other financial investments 11.1,11.2 320 274
Derivatives - assets (@ 12.4,12.5 153 125
Deferred taxes 8.2 836 902
Non-current assets 24,272 24,715
Inventories 5.4 1,340 1,374
Trade receivables 5.4 1,900 2,230
Other receivables 5.4 974 1,029
Short-term loans 30 40
Derivatives - assets @ 12.4,12.5 28 120
Short-term investments 10.4 2,317 2,514
Cash and cash equivalents 880 519
Assets held for sale 6.2 8 171
Current assets 7,476 7,998
Total assets 31,747 32,712

(a) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt. As regards the position as of December 31, 2014, the current portion was presented under the non-current
headinginthe financial statements for the yearended December 31,2014 and was reclassified in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of December 31

(in € millions) Notes 2014 2015
Equity and liabilities
Share capital 161 164
Additional paid-in capital 3,505 4,132
Retained earnings 11,817 11,454
Cumulative translation adjustments (1,501) (1,177)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (427) (260)
Treasury shares and DANONE call options @ 13.2 (1,859) (1,707)
Equity - Group share 11,696 12,606
Non-controlling interests 3.1t03.6 49 63
Consolidated equity 11,745 12,669
Financing 10.1t0 10.3 6,238 7,835
Derivatives - liabilities ) 12.4,12.5 11 4
Liabilities related to put options granted
to non-controlling interests 3.6 349 248
Non-current financial debt 6,598 8,087
Provisions for retirement obligations
and other long-term benefits 7.3 818 793
Deferred taxes 8.2 1,225 1,126
Other non-current provisions and liabilities 14.2 737 834
Non-current liabilities 9,377 10,841
Financing 10.1to 10.3 2,332 2,374
Derivatives - liabilities (®) 12.4,12.5 3 3
Liabilities related to put options granted
to non-controlling interests 3.6 2,209 614
Current financial debt 4,544 2,991
Trade payables 5.4 3,334 3,334
Other current liabilities 5.4 2,741 2,859
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 6.2 6 18
Current liabilities 10,625 9,202
Total equity and liabilities 31,747 32,712

(a) DANONE call options acquired by the Company.
[b) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.
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§.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year ended December 31

(in € millions) Notes 2014 2015
Netincome 1,253 1,398
Share of profit of associates net of dividends received 4.8 4 (58)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets 5.5,9.2,93 956 1,217
Increases in [reversals of] provisions 14.2 43 148
Change in deferred taxes 8.2 (94) (179)
(Gains) losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment and financial investments (8) 29
Expense relating to stock-options and Group performance shares 7.4 19 27
Cost of net financial debt 10.6 179 152
Net interest paid (212) (182)
Net change in interest income [expense) (33) (30)
Other components with no cash impact 19 1
Other net cash outflows (6) =
Cash flows provided by operating activities, before changes in net working capital 2,154 2,552
(Increase) decrease in inventories (105) (66)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables (96) (418)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables 184 174
Change in other receivables and payables 52 128
Change in working capital requirements 5.4 35 (182)
Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities 2,189 2,369
Capital expenditure @ 5.5 (984) (937)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment @ 5.5 67 31
Net cash outflows on purchases of subsidiaries and financial investments ©/ A (1,070) (596)
Net cash inflows on disposal of subsidiaries and financial investments ©/ 34 2
(Increase) decrease in long-term loans and other long-term financial assets (14) (19)
Cash flows provided by (used in) investment activities (1,966) (1,519)
Increase inissued capital and additional paid-in capital 33 39
Purchases of treasury shares [net of disposals) and of DANONE call options (¢ 13.2 13 198
Dividends paid to Danone shareholders 13.5 (307) (314)
Buyout of non-controlling interests 31t03.6 (363) (1,929)
Dividends paid (110) (97)
Contribution from non-controlling interests to capital increases 1 (3)
Transactions with non-controlling interests [471) (2,029
Net cash flows on hedging derivatives @ 12.4,12.5 (4) 22
Bonds issued or raised during the period 10.3 150 2,049
Bonds repaid during the period 10.3 (618) (603)
Increase (decrease) in other current and non-current financial debt 10.3 312 (101)
Increase (decrease] in short term investments 10.4 535 (242)
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities (357) (982)
Effect of exchange rate and other changes ¢! 45 (228)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (89) (361)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 969 880
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 880 519

Supplemental disclosures
Payments during the year of income tax (601) (804)

(a) This expenditure relates to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets used in operations.

(b) Acquisition/disposal of companies’ shares. In the case of fully-consolidated companies, this comprises cash and cash equivalent as of the acquisition/disposal date.
(c) DANONE call options acquired by the Company.

(d) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.

(e) Effect of reclassification with no impact on net debt.

The cash flows described correspond to items presented in the consolidated balance sheet. However, these flows may differ from changes
in assets and liabilities, mainly as a result of the rules for (i} translating transactions in currencies other than the functional currency, (i)
translating the financial statements of companies with a functional currency other than the euro, (i) changes in the consolidation scope,
and (iv) other non-monetary items.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Movements during the period
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Share capital 158 3 161
Additional paid-in capital 2,930 33 541 3,505
Retained earnings 11,153 1,119 19 (544) (307) 290 88 11,817
Cumulative translation
adjustments (1,553) 177 (126)  (1,501)
Unrealized gains and
losses related
to cash flow hedging
derivatives, net of tax (29) (115) 35 (109)
Unrealized gains
and losses related
to available-for-sale
financial assets,
net of tax " 149 (73) (31 45
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax 2 3 (5) -
Actuarial gains and
losses on retirement
commitments not
recyclable to profit
or loss, net of tax 7 (245) (138) 20 (363)
Other comprehensive
income (123)  (323) - - - - - - - 19 (427)
Treasury shares and
DANONE call options 13 (1,871) 13 (1,859)
p
Equity - Group share 10,694 973 33 - 13 19 - (307) 290 (8) 11,696
Non-controlling
interests 35 77 1 - - - - (110) 37 8 49
Consolidated equity 10,729 1,051 35 - 13 19 - (418) 327 (10) 11,745

(a) DANONE call options acquired by the Company.
(b) Group performance shares and stock-options granted to certain employees and corporate officers.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Movements during the period
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Share capital 161 3 164
Additional paid-in capital 3,505 39 588 4,132
Retained earnings 11,817 1,282 21 27 (591) (317) (457) (328) 11,454
Cumulative translation
adjustments (1,501) 67 (1) 259 (1,177)
Unrealized gains
and losses related
to cash flow hedging
derivatives, net of tax (109) 108 21 21
Unrealized gains
and losses related
to available-for-sale
financial assets,
net of tax 11 45 (2) (1) (1) 42
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax -
Actuarial gains and
losses on retirement
commitments not
recyclable to profit
or loss, net of tax 7 (363) 40 (323)
Other comprehensive
income (427) 146 - - - - - - (1) 21 (261)
Treasury shares and
DANONE call options 13 (1,859) 157 (5) (1,707)
Equity - Group share 11,696 1,495 39 - 178 27 - (317) (464) (48) 12,606
Non-controlling interests 49 91 - - - - - (95) (2) 20 63
Consolidated equity 11,745 1,586 39 - 178 27 - (411) (466) (28) 12,669

(a) DANONE call options acquired by the Company.
[b) Group performance shares and stock-options granted to certain employees and corporate officers.
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4.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Note 11. Basis for preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Danone (the “Company”],
its subsidiaries and associates (together, the “Group”) as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2015 were approved by Danone’s
Board of Directors on February 22, 2016 and will be submitted for
approval to the Shareholders” Meeting on April 28, 2016.

The consolidated financial statements and the Notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements are presented in euros. Unless indicated

NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

otherwise, amounts are expressed in millions of euros and rounded
to the nearest million. Generally speaking, the values presented
are rounded to the nearest unit. Consequently, the sum of the
rounded amounts may differ, albeit to an insignificant extent, from
the reported total. In addition, ratios and variances are calculated
on the basis of the underlying amounts and not on the basis of the
rounded amounts.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amountsinthe consolidated balance sheet, consolidated income statement and Notes to the consolidated financial statements. The main

such estimates and assumptions relate to:

Notes
Measurement of intangible assets 9.3
Measurement of investments in associates L 44 4T
Measurement of deferred tax assets 8.3
Recognition of liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests 1.2,3.1,3.6
Determination of the amount of provisions for risks and charges 14.1,14.2,14.3
Determination of the amount of rebates, trade supports and other deductions relating to agreements
with customers 5.1

These assumptions, estimates and appraisals are made on the basis
of available information and conditions at the end of the financial
period presented. Actualamounts may differ from those estimates,
particularly in a climate of economic and financial volatility.

Note 1.2. Accounting frameuwork applied

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepa-
red in accordance with IFRS (International Financial Reporting
Standards) as adopted by the European Union, which are available
on the website of the European Commission (http://ec.europa.eu/
internal_market/accounting/ias/index_en.htm).

Main standards, amendments and interpretations
whose application is mandatory as of January 1, 2015
e |[FRIC 21, Levies;

This interpretation does not have a material impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Main standards, amendments and interpretations
published by the IASB whose application

is not mandatory within the European Union

as of January 1, 2015

The Group did not exercise the option to apply these standards,
amendments and interpretations in advance to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 and
does not expect them to have a material impact on its results and
financial position.

In addition to the use of estimates, Danone’s management uses its
judgment to define the accounting treatment for certain activities
andtransactions, when theyare not explicitly addressed in IFRS and
related interpretations, particularly in the case of the recognition
of put options granted to non-controlling interests.

Main standards, amendments and interpretations
published by the IASB but not yet adopted by the
European Union

® |FRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers;

o |FRS 16, Leases;
® |FRS9, Financial Instruments.

The Groupis currently assessing the impact of these standards and
amendments on its results and financial position.

Other standards

The Group is closely monitoring the economic conditions that
could, in 2016, result in Argentina being qualified as a hyperinfla-
tionary economy, with the result that IAS 29 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies would become applicable. This standard
would require the balance sheets and netincome of the subsidiaries
concerned to be (i) restated to reflect the changes in the general
purchasing power of the local currency by using official inflation
rate indices applicable at the end of the reporting period, and (ii)
translated into euros at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period.

Other IASB and IFRIC projects

The Group is also closely monitoring the work of the IASB and the
IFRIC, which could lead to a revision of the treatment of put options
granted to non-controlling interests
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§.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE Z.FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

NOTE Z.FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

Note 2.1. Accounting principlLes

Fully consolidated companies

The Group fully consolidates all subsidiaries over which it has the
ability to exercise exclusive control, whether directly or indirectly.
Exclusive control over an investee is assessed (i) by the power the
Group has over said investee, (i) whetheritis exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its relationship with the investee, and (iii)
whether it uses its power over the investee to affect the amount of
the Group's returns.

Fullconsolidation enables the recognition of all assets, liabilities and
income statement items relating to the companies concerned in the
Group's consolidated financial statements, after the elimination of
intercompany transactions, the portion of the netincome and equity
attributable to owners of the Company (Group share] being distin-
guished from the portion relating to other shareholders’ interests
[Non-controlling interests]. Intercompany balances and transactions
between consolidated entities (including dividends) are eliminated
in the consolidated financial statements.

Business combinations: acquisitions resulting in
control being obtained, partial disposal resulting in
control being lost

The accounting treatment of acquisitions resulting in control being
obtained and partial disposals resulting in control being lost is as
follows:

® when control is obtained, the incidental transactions costs are
recognized in the income statement under the heading Other

Note 1.1. Main changes during the period
2015 fiscal year

operating income [expense], and presented in the cash flow
statement within cash flows from operating activities, in the year
in which they are incurred. In addition, price adjustments are
initially recognized at their fair value in the acquisition price and
their subsequent changes in value are recognized in the income
statement under the heading Other operating income (expense);
all payments relating to these adjustments are presented in the
cash flow statement within cash flows from operating activities;

® whencontrolisobtained (or lost), the revaluation atits fair value of
the interest previously held (or the residualinterest] is recognized
in the income statement under the heading (i) Other operating
income (expense) when controlis lost, (i) Share of profit of asso-
ciates when controlis obtained of an entity previously accounted
for as an associate, and (iii) Other financial income (expense)
when control is obtained of an entity previously accounted for as
an investment in a non-consolidated company;

® when controlis obtained, non-controlling interests are recognized,
either at their share of the fair value of the assets and liabilities
of the acquired entity, or at their fair value. In the latter case, the
goodwill is then increased by the portion relating to these non-
controlling interests. The treatment adopted is selected on an
individual basis for each acquisition.

Business combinations may be recognized on a provisional basis, as
the amounts allocated to the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities
assumed and goodwill may be amended during a maximum period
of one year from their acquisition date.

Ownership as of December 31

Transaction

(in percentage] Notes Division Country date @ 2014 2015
Main companies consolidated for the first time during 2015
Fresh Dairy
Fan Milk group’s companies Products West Africa December 49.0% 49.0%
Main consolidated companies with change in ownership percentage
Fresh Dairy
Danone-Unimilk group 3.3 Products CIS December 50.9% 70.9%
Fresh Dairy February/
Danone Spain 3.4 Products Spain March 76.9% 92.4%
Fresh Dairy
Centrale Danone ) 3.5 Products Morocco December 90.9% 95.9%

Main companies no longer fully consolidated as of December 31

(a] Month of the 2015 fiscal year.

(b) Formerly Centrale Laitiére. The company was renamed Centrale Danone in 2015.

As regards the Fan Milk group, accounted for as an associate as
of December 31, 2014, its companies have been fully consolidated
since December 2015 pursuant to IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial
Statements, since the Group has had the contractual right to exer-
cise exclusive control over them since that date. Consequently, the
put option relating to the 51% stake in the Fan Milk group not yet
held by Danone has, since that date, been recognized on the basis
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of the present value of its exercise price and is presented under
the heading Liabilities relating to non-controlling interests as of
December 31, 2015. Indeed, as of December 31, 2014, since Fan
Milk was then treated as an associate, the option was recognized
at its fair market value, pursuant to IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.



4.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2014 fiscal year

NOTE Z.FULLY CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

Ownership as of December 31

Transaction

(in percentage) Notes Division Country date @ 2013 2014
Main companies consolidated for the first time during 2014
Infant formula production and Early Life
packaging companies [?) Nutrition New Zealand July - 100.0%
Main consolidated companies with change in ownership percentage

Fresh Dairy
Centrale Danone 3.5 Products Morocco November 68.7% 90.9%
Main companies no longer fully consolidated as of December 31
Group’s fresh dairy products Fresh Dairy
companies in Chinal? 4.4 Products China July 100.0% 20.0%
Group’s fresh dairy products Fresh Dairy
companies in Indonesia Products Indonesia December 100.0% -

(a) Month of the 2014 fiscal year.

(b) NEWZEALAND CAN AUCKLAND LTD, which produces and packages drinks, notably infant formula. The company has been renamed DANONE NUTRICIANZ LTD.
(c) DANONE DAIRY BEIJING and DANONE DAIRY SHANGHAI CO LTD. Danone has since 2014 owned 20% of the new group formed together with the Mengniu

group’s fresh dairy products companies.

Note Z.3. Main fully consolidated companies

Main Group companies are listed in Notes 17.1 to 17.5 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Note Z4. Accounting for acquisitions resulting in control being obtained in 201

The business combinations carried out in 2015 have been accounted
foronaprovisional basis since the amounts allocated to the acquired
identifiable assets and liabilities and to goodwill may be adjusted
during a period of one year from the respective date of each of these
combinations. They comprise acquisitions resulting in control being
obtained as well as the acquisition of control of Fan Milk, which did
not involve any share purchase (see Note 2.2 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements).

Since these transactions are not material on an individual basis,
they have been grouped for the purposes of the preparation of the
information provided hereafter.

Purchase price allocation

The main characteristics of these other acquisitions carried out in
2015 are as follows:

® the entities actually acquired were paid for in cash;

® none of them is subject to a contingent payment (earn-out) but
one of them is subject to put options granted to non-controlling
interests;

® the acquisition-related expenses incurred during the period
totaled €4 million before taxes and have been expensed in the
consolidated income statement under Other operating income
(expense).

They did not have a material impact on the items of the consolida-
ted income statement for the year ended December 31, 2015 and
would not have had a material impact if they had been calculated
on a full-year basis.

As of the acquisition date

(in € millions] 2015
Fair value of net assets (at 100%) @ 75
Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests ®) (27)
Partial goodwill [ 94
Fair value, at the date control is acquired, of the consideration paid or to be paid to the sellers 142

(a) The assets correspond mainly to property, plant and equipment and the liabilities correspond mainly to financial debt.
(b) For each of the subsidiaries not fully acquired, the non-controlling interests are recognized at their share of the fair value of the entity’s assets and liabilities.

[c] Provisional goodwill.

(d) Residual goodwill represents mainly the human capital and the expected synergies in terms of industrial activity, cost savings and security of the milk supply.
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§.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AND RELATED LIABILITIES

Note 2.5. Finalization in 2075 of the accounting for the acquisitions resulting in control being obtained

carried out in 2074

In 2015, the Group finalized the accounting treatment of the business combinations that took place during 2014. This did not result in a
material adjustment to the purchase price allocation in the consolidated financial statements for 2015 as compared with the consolidated

financial statements for 2014.

Purchase price allocation

As of the acquisition date

(in € millions] 2014
Fair value of net assets acquired (at 100%) 1@ 75
Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests ! -
Partial goodwill ¢ 124
Fair value at the date of acquisition of the consideration paid to the sellers 199

(a) The assets acquired correspond mainly to property, plant and equipment and the liabilities correspond mainly to financial debt.
[b) For each of the subsidiaries not fully acquired, the non-controlling interests are recognized at their share of the fair value of the acquired entity’s assets and

liabilities.

[c) Residual goodwill represents mainly the human capital and the expected synergies in terms of commercial and industrial activity and cost savings, market

shares and their growth potential.

Note 2.6. Liabilities/assets Linked to earn-outs related to acquisitions resulting in control

being obtained

As of December 31

(in € millions)

2014 2015

Total liabilities (assets] @

(a) Comprises all earn-outs related to acquisitions resulting in control being obtained, i.e. related to transactions carried out in 2014, 2015 and during earlier

fiscalyears.

NOTE 3. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AND RELATED LIABILITIES

Note 3.1. Accounting principles

Acquisitions or disposals of interests in controlled
companies with no impact on control

Purchases ordisposals of interests in controlled companies that do
notresultin controlbeing obtained or lost are recognized directly in
equity under the heading Retained earnings, as transfers between
the Group share and the non-controlling interests’ share in the
consolidated equity, with no impact on profit or loss and the cor-
responding cash flows are presented within cash flows relating to
financing activities. The same accounting treatment is applied to
the costs associated with these transactions.

Liabilities related to put options granted

to non-controlling interests

The Group granted put options to third parties with non-controlling
interests in certain consolidated subsidiaries, with these options
giving the holders the right to sell part or all of their investment in
these subsidiaries. These financial liabilities do not bear interest.
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Inaccordance with IAS 32, Financial instruments: presentation, when
non-controlling interests hold put options enabling them to sell
theirinvestmentinthe Group, a financial liability is recognized in an
amount corresponding to the presentvalue of the option strike price,
and the counterpart of the liability arising from these obligationsis:

® on the one hand, the reclassification as debt of the carrying
amount of the corresponding non-controlling interests;

® on the other, a reduction in the equity - Group share: the dif-
ference between the present value of the strike price of the
options granted and the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests is presented as a reduction of Retained earnings -
Group share. This item is adjusted at the end of each reporting
periodtoreflectchangesinthe strike price of the options and the
carrying amount of non-controlling interests. In the absence of
specific provisions stipulated by IFRS, the Company has applied
the recommendations issued by the AMF [Autorité des Marchés
Financiers] in November 2009.



4.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AND RELATED LIABILITIES

Note 3.2. Main companies in terms of net income and consolidated net assets, fully consolidated
but not fully-owned

Ownership percentage of non-controlling interests as of December 31

(in percentage] Notes Division Country Listing market 2014 2015
Fresh Dairy

Danone-Unimilk group ) 3.3 Products CIS 49.1% 29.1%
Fresh Dairy

Danone Spain !¢ 3.4 Products Spain 23.1% 7.6%
Fresh Dairy

Centrale Danone @ 3.5 Products Morocco Casablanca 9.1% 4.1%

(a) If the company is listed.

[b) As of December 31, 2015, the non-controlling interests in that group’s parent company had three representatives on the company’s board of directors
(out of a total of seven).

(c] As of December 31, 2015, the non-controlling interests in the company had one representative on the company’s board of directors (out of a total of four].

(d) Since 2014, the non-controlling interests no longer have a representative on the company’s board of directors.

Each of these companies operates the Group's Fresh Dairy Products
activities in a given country or group of countries.

As of December 31,2015, the Group’s main commitments towards the
minority shareholders concern current debt, that either constitutes
borrowings or relates to put options on their residual interest, and
described hereafter.

Lastly, in 2015 as in 2014, the non-controlling interests’ share in
these companies did not exceed 5% of the Group's net sales or
assets and liabilities (excluding liabilities related to put options],
which is deemed to be not material.

Note 3.3. Transactions relating to non-controlling interests in the Danone-Unimitk group

(Fresh Dairy Products, CIS)

Some minority shareholders in the Danone-Unimilk group exer-
cised their put option representing 42.0% of the company’s share
capital, In respect of 22% the exercise is subject to the approval of
the competition authorities. Following this transaction, Danone will
own 92.9% of the group.

As of December 31,2015, Danone held 70.9% of the share capital of the
Danone-Unimilk group and had recognized a liability of €284 million
in current financial debt, corresponding to the amount that it will
still have to pay to the minority shareholders if the acquisition, by
Danone, of the remaining 22% interest is approved.

The transaction was approved and finalized in January 2016.

Note 3.4. Transactions relating to non-controlling interests in Danone Spain

(Fresh Dairy Products, Spain)

Since 2012, the Group had discussed with Danone Spain’s non-
controlling shareholders the terms and conditions of these put
options, especially in light of Southern Europe’s deteriorating
economy and its significant impact on Danone Spain.

As a reminder of the background, non-controlling shareholders
representing around 15% of Danone Spain’s share capital exercised
their put options in 2013. The Group contested those exercises and
invited the shareholders concerned to continue the process of
renegotiation of their put options’ terms and conditions. During the
first six months of 2013, these non-controlling shareholders opted
not to continue the discussion process and initiated proceedings
against the Group for the purpose of execution of their put options
before an arbitration tribunal.

Transactions during 2015

The arbitration panels petitioned by these holders of put options
issued theirrulingsin December 2014 and February 2015. Following
these decisions, in early 2015 the Group purchased in exchange for
cash 2,581,030 shares in Danone Spain. For the shares subject to
putoptions, the Group paid anamount below the carrying value as of
December 31, 2014 of the related liabilities, the difference between
the price paid and said carrying value having been recognizedin the
Group’s share of the consolidated equity. The Group also acquired
shares thatwere not the subject of put options. The shares purchased

through this transaction represent in total approximately 15.7% of
Danone Spain’s share capital, thereby bringing the Group’s overall
equity interest in the company to 92.4% as of December 31, 2015.

In addition, since the settlement terms of put options representing
7.3% of Danone Spain’s share capital had beenamended, the related
debt is now classified within current financial debt.

Transactions during 2014

In 2014, the Group did not carry out any transactions relating to
Danone Spain’s non-controlling interests.
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NOTE 3. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AND RELATED LIABILITIES

Note 3.5. Transactions relating to non-controlling interests in Centrale Danone

(Fresh Dairy Products, Marocco)

Background to the investment

Danone acquired control of Centrale Laitiere in February 2013, by
increasing its interest from 29.2% to 67.0% on that date. The Group
subsequently acquired additional holdings to reach an ownership
percentage of 90.9% as of December 31, 2014. Minority sharehol-
ders with a put option in respect of their interest had a 5% stake
as of that date.

Transactions during 2015
The company was renamed Centrale Danone in 2015.

In addition, the minority shareholders holding a put option over their
interest exercised their optionin 2015, increasing the Group’s interest

to 95.9% and making mandatory the submission of a squeeze out
proposalinrespectofall of the shares making up Centrale Danone’s
freefloat, l.e. inrespect of 4.1% of its share capital and voting rights.

The transaction was approved by the stock exchange authorities
in Casablanca in 2015 and will be carried out in February 2016 for
a repurchase amount of €43.5 million (at the EUR/MAD exchange
rate as of December 31, 2015).

As of December 31,2015, the Group, since it was obliged to purchase
the shares tendered by the minority shareholders to the squeeze-
out, recognized a current debt of €43.5 million, presented under the
heading Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling
interests.

Note 3.6. Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests

Main changes during 2015

Exercises

The options exercised in 2015 related mainly to the Danone-Unimilk
group (see Note 3.3 of the Notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments), Danone Spain (see Note 3.4 of the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements) and Centrale Danone (see Note 3.5 of the Notes
to the consolidated financial statements).

The main impacts on the 2015 consolidated financial statements
were as follows:

® 1,851 million decreasein the financial liabilities in respect of the
put options granted to non-controlling interests;

e €335 millionadverseimpact on the Group's share of the conso-
lidated equity related to changes in the exercise price of the
options since December 31, 2014;

e €1,919 million of cash flows from financing activities representing
the portion settled in cash in 2015, presented on the Transac-
tions with non-controlling interests line in the Consolidated
statement of cash flows and explaining the major portion of the
€1,929 million of flows relating to purchases of non-controlling
interests during the 2015 fiscal year;

e €284 millionincrease in the current financial debt in respect of
the portion remaining to be paid in 2016.

New options

The options recognized for the first time in 2015 related mainly to
Fan Milk (see Note 2.2 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements) and Centrale Danone (see Note 3.5 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements).

The main impacts of these options on the 2015 consolidated financial
statements were as follows:

e €207 million increase in the financial liabilities related to put
options granted to non-controlling interests;

e €150 million adverse impact on the Group’s share of the equity
corresponding to the difference between the present value of
the options’ exercise price and the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interests, most of which relate to Fan Milk.
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Main changes during 2014

Exercises
The options exercised in 2014 related mainly to Centrale Danone
[see Note 3.5 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

The main impacts of these exercises on the 2014 consolidated
financial statements were as follows:

® €341 milliondecreaseinthe financial liabilities in respect of the
put options granted to non-controlling interests;

e €10 million adverse impact on the Group’s share of the conso-
lidated equity related to changes in the exercise price of the
options since December 31, 2013;

® €341 million of financing flows presented on the Transactions
with non-controlling interests line in the Consolidated statement
of cash flows.



4.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4. ASSOCIATES

Change in the carrying amount

(in € millions) 2014 2015
As of January 1 3,244 2,558
New options and options recognized previously

in accordance with [AS 39 - 207
Options exercised @ (341) (1,851)
Changes in the present value of the option strike price

of outstanding options (345) (52)
As of December 31 2,558 862

(a) Carrying amount on the balance sheet date of the preceding fiscal year.

Main characteristics
As of December 31

2014 2015
Start of Price
Non- Non- exercise calculation
(in € millions) Notes Current current Total Current current Total period formula
Average
earnings
multiple
over
At any several
Danone Spain 3.4 794 236 1,030 234 - 234 time years
Earnings
multiple
with floor
Danone-Unimilk group 3.3 912 - 912 = = = 2014 price
As from
Other e 503 113 616 380 248 628 2015
Total 2,209 349 2,558 614 248 862
(a) Several put options with an individual amount less than or equal to €200 million as of December 31, 2015.
Note 4.1. Accounting principles
Accounting treatment ® gains or losses on disposals of shareholdings in associates;

All companiesinwhich the Group exercises a significant influence,

directly or indirectly, are accounted for using the equity method.

Under this method, the Group recognizes in the carrying amount

of the shares held in the associated or jointly-controlled entity the ® impairment of investments in associates.

acquisition-related cost of the shares adjusted by its proportionate

share of changes in the entity’s net assets since its acquisition. Impairment review

® The Group reviews the measurement of its investmentsin asso-
ciateswhen events or circumstances indicate thatimpairmentis
likely to have occurred. With regard to listed shares, a significant
or prolonged fallin their stock price below their historical stock
price constitutes an indication of impairment.

® revaluation reserve resulting from a loss of influence where
there is no disposal of shares;

On the acquisition of investments accounted for using the equity
method, the acquisition price of the shares is allocated on a fairvalue
basistotheidentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The
difference between the acquisition price and the Group’s sharein the
fairvalue of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed represents
goodwill, which is added to the carrying amount of the shares. ® Animpairment provision is recognized within Share of profit of
associates when the recoverable amount of the investment falls
below its carrying amount. This impairment provision may be
® the Group's share of the profits or losses of its associates, cal- reversed if the recoverable amount subsequently exceeds the

culated on the basis of estimates; carrying amount, up to the limit of the share of the equity held

by the Group.

The main components of Net income of associates are:
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NOTE 4. ASSOCIATES

Note 4.2. Main associates in terms of net income and consolidated net assets

As of December 31

2014 2015

Listing Market capitali-

(in € million, except percentage) Division Country market @ Ownership Ownership zation @)
Fresh Dairy

Mengniu ¢ Products China Hong Kong 9.9% 9.9% 5,873
Early Life

Yashili @ Nutrition China Hong Kong - 25.0% 1,085
Fresh Dairy

Yakult® Products Japan Tokyo 21.3% 21.3% 7,999

(a) If the company is listed.

[b) The amount disclosed is 100% of the company’s market capitalization.
(c)] INNER MONGOLIA MENGNIU DAIRY (GROUP) CO LTD.

(d) YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD.

(e) YAKULT HONSHA CO LTD.

The Group acquired its stake in Mengniu and Yashili on the one hand and Yakult on the other hand under the terms of broader agreements,
the main aim of which was operational collaboration and the development of regional categories and markets.

In 2015, these companies accounted for more than 73% in total of Investments in associates (other investments in associates did not,
individually, account for more than 10% of the total). In addition, none of these companies accounted for more than 5% of the net income

or consolidated net assets.

Note 4.3. Main changes during the period
2015 fiscal year

Ownership as of December 31

Transaction

(in percentage] Notes Division Country date@ 2014 2015
Main companies accounted for using the equity method for the first time during 2015
Early Life

Yashili 4.4 Nutrition China February - 25.0%
Main associates with change in ownership percentage
Main companies no longer accounted for using the equity method as of December 31

Fresh Dairy
Fan Milk group companies ! 2.2 Products West Africa December 49.0% 49.0%

(a] Month of the 2015 fiscal year.

(b) Companies fully consolidated since December 2015 pursuant to IFRS10, Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2014 fiscal year

NOTE 4. ASSOCIATES

Ownership as of December 31

Transaction

(in percentage) Notes Division Country date @ 2013 2014
Main companies accounted for using the equity method for the first time during 2014
Fresh Dairy
Mengniu (®) A Products China January 4.0% 9.9%
Danone group’s and Mengniu
group’s fresh dairy products Fresh Dairy
companies in China? A Products China July - 20.0%
Fresh Dairy
Brookside Products Kenya July - 40.0%
Main associates with change in ownership percentage
Fresh Dairy
Yakult® Products Japan January 20.0% 21.3%

Main companies no longer accounted for using the equity method as of December 31

(a) Month of the 2014 fiscal year.

(b) INNER MONGOLIA MENGNIU DAIRY (GROUP] CO LTD. This company was recognized within Investments in other non-consolidated companies in 2013.

[c] INNER MONGOLIA MENGNIU DANONE DAIRY CO LTD.
(d) BROOKSIDE AFRICA LIMITED.
(e] YAKULT HONSHA CO LTD.

Note 44 Mengniu (Fresh Dairy Products, China) and Yashili (Medical Nutrition, China)

Background to the acquisition of these equity interests
On May 20, 2013, Danone announced that the Group had signed
agreements with COFCO and Mengniu to join forces to accelerate
the development of fresh dairy products in China. Under the terms
of these agreements, Danone became a strategic shareholder in
Mengniuand ajointventure for the production and sale of fresh dairy
products in China was established by the pooling of the respective
assets of the two companies. Danone owns 20% and Mengniu 80%
of the new joint venture.

On October 31, 2014, Danone, Mengniu and Yashili announced the
extension of their strategic alliance into infant milk formula in China
through the signing of an agreement allowing Danone to take part
in a private placement by Yashili totaling around €437 million on
that date, corresponding to HKD 3.70 per share and representing
25.0% of Yashili's share capital.

On February 12,2015, the Group took partin Yashili's private place-
ment. The price per share paid was the price set under the terms of
this agreement, which represented a total amount of €499 million
on that date. As a result of this transaction, Danone held a 25.0%
stakein Yashiliand became its second-largest shareholder behind
Mengniu, which had a 51% stake. Under the terms of this agreement,
Danone has recommended a candidate to serve as Yashili's Chief
Executive Officer.

Lastly, on July 24, 2015, Danone announced it had entered into a
preliminaryagreementwith Mengniu and Yashili with a view, on the
one hand, to merge Dumex in China with Yashili, thereby building a
strong local infant milk formula brand platform, and, on the other
hand, toincreaseits shareholding in Mengniu. The finalagreement
for the sale of Dumexin China to Yashiliwas signed on December 1,
2015. The sale price was €150 million and the agreement is subject
to the approval of the competent authorities and Yashili's share-
holders. The impacts of this agreement on the 2015 consolidated
financial statements are described in Note 6.2 of the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Mengniu (Fresh Dairy Products, China)

Accounting treatment of the investment

This investment, which is a strategic investment for the Group, is
recognized under Investments in associates, since the Group has
significantinfluence over the financial and operating policies of the
Mengniu group as (i} a strategic shareholder in the Mengniu group
pursuant to the agreements with COFCO, (ii) its participation in
Mengniu's governance, and [iii) the Group's operating involvement
in Mengniu's fresh dairy products activities.
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Main financial information

2014 2015

Financial statements

Financial statements Financial statements

for the half-year fortheyear for the half-year ended
(in € millions) ended June 30 ended December 31 June 30
Non-current assets (@ 3,136 3,549 3,971
Current assets @ 2,324 2,698 3,252
Equity ) 2,742 3,250 3,782
Non-current liabilities @ 809 1,093 1,183
Current liabilities @ 1,910 1,904 2,258
Sales @ 3,056 6,111 3,683
Net income @ 145 329 206
Other comprehensive income (@ 21 17 (15)

(a] Published financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. Income statement items have been translated into euros at the average exchange rate for
the reporting period. Balance sheet items and the market capitalization have been translated at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period.

Measurement review as of December 31, 2015

The Group noted a significant fall in the share price of the Mengniu
group as compared with the average purchase price paid by the
Group for its shareholding. This resulted from a financial perfor-
mance in 2015 that was below expectations and the general decline
inthe Chinese stock market, said decline constituting an indication
of impairment.

As of December 31, 2015, the carrying amount of the Group's stake
in Mengniu (€843 million] was the subject of an impairment test
based on cash flow forecasts.

The assumptions used as regards the discount rate and long-term
growth rate were 9.2% and 3.0% respectively.

Since the value in use calculated on these bases was higher than
the stake's carrying amount, no impairment provision was reco-
gnized as of December 31, 2015. The sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions involved in the calculation of this value in use, taken
individually, gives the following results:

® a200bpsfall, applied eachyear to the assumptions concerning
growth in net sales over five years, would not result in the reco-
gnition of an impairment provision;

® 3100 bpsfall, applied each year to the assumptions concerning
trading operating margin over five years, would not resultin the
recognition of an impairment provision;

® a2 100 bps fall in the long-term growth rate would not result in
the recognition of an impairment provision;

® 3100 bpsincrease in the discount rate would not result in the
recognition of an impairment provision.

Measurement review as of December 31, 2014

The Group noted a fall in the share price of the Mengniu group as
compared with the average purchase price paid by the Group for
its shareholding. However, the Group did not consider this fall to
be long-term or material with regard to (i) the price as of Decem-
ber 31, 2014, its volatility and recent movements, (ii) the outlook for
valuations of the shares as published by the main brokers, and {(iii)
qualitative information available on Mengniu's performance. The
Group therefore concluded that there was no indication that these
shares were to be impaired as of December 31, 2014.
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Yashili (Medical Nutrition, China)

This shareholding, acquired under the terms of its strategic agreement
with Mengniu, is recognized within Investmentsin associates. As of
December 31,2015, Danone held 25% of Yashili's share capital, had
significant influence over its operating policies and was involved in
its governance, in particular through its right to appoint a member
of the board of directors and it proposed the candidate for appoint-
ment as Chief Executive Officer. Consequently, its shareholding is
recognized within investments in associates.

Measurement review as of December 31, 2015

The Group noted a significant fall in Yashili's share price as com-
pared with the average purchase price paid by the Group for its
shareholding. This resulted from a financial performance in 2015
thatwas below expectations and the generaldecline inthe Chinese
stock market, said decline constituting an indication of impairment.

As of December 31, 2015, the carrying amount of the Group's stake
in Yashili (€502 million) was the subject of an impairment test based
on cash flow forecasts.

The forecasts used reflected the results expected from strategic
changes decided on by Yashili management and implemented gra-
dually since the end of 2015, i.e. dynamic sales growth during the
period from 2016 to 2020 and a significant increase in profitability.
In addition, the assumptions used as regards the discount rate and
long-term growth rate were 10.2% and 3.0% respectively.

Since the value in use calculated on these bases corresponded to
the stake’s carrying amount, no impairment provision was reco-
gnized as of December 31, 2015. The sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions involved in the calculation of this value in use, taken
individually, gives the following results:

® a500bpsfall, applied each yeartothe assumptions concerning
growth in net sales over eight years, would result in the reco-
gnition of a €127 million impairment provision;

® a200bpsfall, applied eachyearto the assumptions concerning
trading operating margin over eight years, would result in the
recognition of a €88 million impairment provision;

® a2 100 bps fall in the long-term growth rate would result in the
recognition of a €41 million impairment provision;

® 3100 bpsincreaseinthe discount rate would resultin the reco-
gnition of a €66 million impairment provision.
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Note 4.5, Yakult (Fresh Dairy Products, Japan)

Main characteristics of the investment

Danone has a stake in Yakult of around 20% and has representatives
on the company’s board of directors under the terms of its stra-
tegic alliance signed in 2004, which aimed at strengthening their
global leadership in probiotics and accelerating the growth of both
companies in the functional food market, the first phase of which
had ended in May 2012.

On April 26, 2013, Danone and Yakult signed a new cooperation
agreement to replace the existing strategic alliance. This new
agreement calls for existing collaborations to be continued and
envisages extending them into areas that are more operational in
nature. It does not modify either Danone’s equity interest in Yakult
or its influence in that company and does not have any impact on
the Group’'s consolidated financial statements, as the company will
continue to be accounted for as an associate.

Main financial information

NOTE 4. ASSOCIATES

As of December 31, 2015, Danone had 21.3% of the voting rights
and two representatives on the company’s board. Consequently,
its shareholding is recognized within Investments in associates.

[t should be noted that, as Yakult's fiscal year closing date is
March 31, the amounts prepared for Group consolidation purposes
as of December 31 are estimated on the basis of the most recent
financial statements published for each fiscal year (interim finan-
cial statements for the six months ended September 30, 2014 for
2014 and interim financial statements for the six months ended
September 30, 2015 for 2015).

2014

2015

Financial statements

Financial statements

Financial statements

Financial statements

for the year for the half-year for the year for the half-year
(in € millions] ended March 30 ended September 30 ended March 30 ended September 30
Non-current assets @ 2,165 2,319 2,740 2,676
Current assets @ 1,483 1,565 1,752 1,717
Equity ) 2,163 2,336 2,809 2,785
Non-current liabilities @ 721 695 786 731
Current liabilities @ 765 853 897 877
Sales 2,488 1,293 2,750 1,442
Netincome @ 192 103 228 147
Other comprehensive income @ 193 (15) 179 (10)

(a) Published financial statements preparedinaccordance with Japanese GAAP. Income statementitems have been translated into euros at the average exchange
rate for the reporting period. Balance sheet items and the market capitalization have been translated into euros at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the

reporting period.

Carrying amount

As of December 31

(in € millions)

2014 2015

Carrying amount

634 780
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Note 4.6. Carrying amount and change during the period

2014 2015
Group’s Group’s
sharein net sharein net
assets and assets and
(in € millions) Notes Netgoodwill netincome Total Net goodwill netincome Total
As of January 1 389 644 1,033 1,024 1,123 2,146
Acquisitions, influence
acquired during the year
and capital increase 2.2,4.3, 4.4 636 421 1,057 280 185 465
Disposals and losses
of influence during the year 4.3 - - - (55) (29) (84)
Share of profit of associates
before impact of disposals,
revaluation and other - 76 76 = 126 126
Dividends paid - (19) (19) - (40) (40)
Translation adjustments 53 - 53 65 105 171
Impairment 4.7 (54) - (54) - - -
Adjustment relating
to the 2014 acquisitions - - - 101 (3) 98
As of December 31 1,024 1,123 2,146 1,414 1,468 2,882

Note 47 Impairment review of Investments in associates other than Mengniu and Yashili

Measurement review as of December 31, 2015

As aresult of the impairment review of other investments in associates, the Group did not recognize any impairment provisions.

Measurement review as of December 31, 2014

Following the review of its other investments in associates, the Group recognized, under the heading Share of profit of associates, an
impairment provision in respect of the shares of some companies in the Fresh Dairy Products and Waters Divisions totaling €54 million.

Note 4.8. Share of profit of associates

Year ended December 31

(in € millions) Notes 2014 2015
Share of profits of associates before gains (losses)

on disposal, revaluation and other 76 126
Impairment charges 4.7 (54) -
Gains (losses) on disposals, revaluation and other @ 2.2 (8) (28)
Total 14 99

(a) Comprised the withholding tax applied to the dividends paid by Yakult.

The positive change in Share of profits of associates between 2014 and 2015 reflects the acquisitions during 2014 and 2015 and the impro-

vement in the profits generated by some associates.

§7
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NOTE 5. INFORMATION CONCERNING THE GROUP'S OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Note 5.1. Accounting principles

Net sales

The Group’'s sales mainly comprise sales of finished products. They
arerecognized intheincome statement when the risks and benefits
incident to ownership are transferred.

Sales are stated net of trade discounts and customer rebates, as
well as net of costs relating to trade support and listing or linked
to occasional promotional actions invoiced by customers. These
amounts are estimated when net sales are recognized, on the basis
of agreements with the concerned customers.

Cost of goods sold

The cost of goods sold mainly comprises industrial costs (including
raw material costs, depreciation of industrial assets and overheads
dedicated to production activity) and certain logistics and transport
costs.

Note 5.2. Operating segments

General principles

Danone’s strategy is in line with its mission of "“bringing health
through food to as many people as possible™. Since 2007 and the
acquisition of Numico, this mission has beenimplemented through
four divisions:

® the Fresh Dairy Products Division (production and distribution
of yogurts, fermented dairy products and other fresh dairy
specialties);

e the Waters Division (production and distribution of packaged
natural, flavored and vitamin-enriched water);

e the Early Life Nutrition Division (production and distribution of
specialized food for babies and young children to complement
breast-feeding);

e the Medical Nutrition Division (production and distribution of
specialized food for people afflicted with certain illnesses or
frail elderly people).

The key indicators reviewed and used internally by the Group's
primary operational decision-makers [the Chief Executive Officer,
Emmanuel FABER and the Chief Financial Officer, Cécile CABANIS)
to assess operational performance are:

® netsales;
® trading operating income;

® trading operating margin, which is defined as the trading ope-
rating income over net sales ratio;

Selling expense
The selling expenses mainly comprise marketing spends and
consumer promotions as well as sales force overheads.

General and administrative expense
The general and administrative expenses mainly comprise other
overheads and administrative costs.

Research and development expense

Development costs are generally expensed as incurred due to the
very short time between the date on which technical feasibility is
demonstrated and the date on which the products are launched.

Certain development costs are recognized under assets in the
consolidated balance sheet [see Note 9 of the Notes to the conso-
lidated financial statements).

® free cash-flow, which represents cash flows provided or used
by operating activities less capital expenditure net of disposals
and, in connection with Revised IFRS 3, excluding (i) acquisition
costs related to business combinations, and (ii) cash flows
related to earn-outs related to business combinations and paid
subsequently to the acquisition date;

e freecash-flowexcluding exceptionalitems, anindicator published
by the Group since the first half of 2013, in connection with its
plan to generate savings and adapt its organizations in Europe
corresponding to free cash-flow before cash flows related to
initiatives that may be taken by the Group in connection with
the plan;

e netfinancial debt, which represents the interest-bearing portion
of net debt. It corresponds to Current and non-current financial
debt, excluding Liabilities related to put options granted to non-
controlling interests and net of Short-term investments, Cash
and cash equivalents and Derivatives - assets.

Among the key indicators reviewed and used internally by the Group’s
primary operational decision-makers, only Net sales, Trading
operating income and Trading operating margin are monitored by
Division, the other indicators being monitored at the Group level. The
primary operational decision-makers monitor the four Divisions: it
should be noted that the Group has not carried outa reorganization
of its operating segments.
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Information by Division

Year ended December 31

Net sales'? Trading operating income Trading operating margin
(in € millions, except percentage) 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015
Fresh Dairy Products 11,129 11,057 1,033 1,100 9.3% 9.9%
Waters 4,186 4,768 539 542 12.9% 11.4%
Early Life Nutrition 4,397 4,994 828 965 18.8% 19.3%
Medical Nutrition 1,432 1,593 262 286 18.3% 17.9%
Group total 21,144 22,412 2,662 2,892 12.6% 12.9%

(a) Net sales to third parties.

Information by geographical area
Net sales, Trading operating income and Trading operating margin

Year ended December 31

Net sales@ Trading operating income Trading operating margin
(in € millions, except percentage] 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015
Europe 8,522 8,900 1,336 1,536 15.7% 17.3%
CIS & North America 4,525 4,471 387 388 8.6% 8.7%
ALMA 8,097 9,041 939 969 11.6% 10.7%
Group total 21,144 22,412 2,662 2,892 12.6% 12.9%

(a) Net sales to third parties.

[b) Including €2,204 million of net sales generated in France in 2015 (€2,010 million in 2014).
(c) North America = United States and Canada.

(d) Asia-Pacific/Latin America/Middle-East/Africa.

Top ten countries contributing to consolidated net sales

Year ended December 31

(in percentage] 2014 2015
United States 9% 1%
France 10% 10%
China 7% 7%
Russia 9% 7%
United Kingdom 5% 6%
Indonesia 5% 6%
Argentina 4% 6%
Mexico 5% 5%
Spain 5% 5%
Germany 4% 4%
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Non-current assets: property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2014 2015
Europe 10,208 10,621
Of which France’s share 1,857 1,931
CIS & North America® 2,779 2,731
ALMA) 7,830 7178
Group total 20,817 20,531

(a) North America = United States and Canada.
(b) Asia-Pacific/Latin America/Middle-East/Africa.

Note 5.3. Other components of trading operating income

Other income (expense)

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] Notes 2014 2015
Employee benefits @ 7.2,7.3 (141) (165)
Various taxes ©/ (54) (81)
Restructuring costs © (19) (73)
Capital gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets 27 4
Otherd (16) (64)
Total (202) (380)

(a) Employee profit-sharing, Group performance shares and stock options, defined benefit retirement plans and other employee benefits.

(b) Comprises mainly sales taxes.

(c) Excluding restructurings implemented in connection with the plan for savings and adaptation of the Group’s organizations in Europe, the Danone 2020 trans-

formational plan and the Group’s activities in Argentina.

[d) Comprises mainly exchange differences, impairments, provisions for doubtful receivables and several other components.

Note 5.4. Working capital

Accounting principles

Inventories

Inventories and work-in-progress are recognized at the lower of
costand netrealizable value. Costis determined using the weighted
average cost method.

Trade receivables

Tradereceivables arerecognized at theirnominalvalue. Impairment
provisions are recognized when their recovery appears uncertain.
The methods used for determining such provisions are based mainly
on a historical analysis of overdue payments.

The fairvalue of Trade receivables is considered to be equivalent to
their carryingamount due to the high degree of liquidity of these items.

Transactions in foreign currencies

When they are not hedged, transactions denominated in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rate prevailing on the
date of the transaction. At period-end, trade receivables and trade
payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated using
exchange rates on that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
arising from transactions in foreign currencies are recognized
under the heading Other income [expense) in the consolidated
income statement.

When transactions denominated in foreign currencies are hedged,
the hedging impact is recognized in the same item as the hedged
element. As a result, all such transactions are recognized at the
hedged spot rate, swap points being recognized under the heading
Other financial income (expense).
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Carrying amount

As of December 31

(in € millions except percentage) 2014 2015
Goods purchased for resale 77 93
Raw materials and supplies 562 601
Semi-finished goods and work-in-progress 95 98
Finished goods 655 645
Non-refundable containers 50 44
Impairment provisions (99) (108)

Inventories, net 1,340 1,374
Trade receivables 1,930 2,266
Notes receivable 38 40
Impairment provisions (68) (76)

Trade receivables, net 1,900 2,230
State and local authorities 486 564
Social security bodies and non-operating receivables 206 219
Prepaid expenses 109 89
Derivatives - assets @ 86 70
Other 87 75

Total other current assets 974 1,029

Total current assets 4,214 4,632

Trade payables (3,334) (3,334)
Year-end rebates payable to customers (926) (1,049)
Personnel costs, including social security charges (584) (659)
Taxes payable (303) (249)
State and local authorities (199) (192)
Refundable containers (94) (107)
Customer deposits (68) (56)
Derivatives - liabilities @) (169) (33)
Prepayments from customers (3) (5)
Other (395) (510)

Total other current liabilities (2,741) (2,859)

Total current liabilities (6,075) (6,193)

Working capital (1,861) (1,561)

As a percentage of consolidated sales 8.8% 7.0%

(a) Fair value of derivatives other than derivative instruments used to manage net debt, in particular, instruments to hedge operational currency risk, most of

which are implemented over a horizon of less than one year.

Credit risk on trade receivables

Credit risk exposure

Credit risk represents the risk of financial loss for the Group if a
customer or counterparty should fail to meet its contractual pay-
ment obligations. The customer payment term is generally 30 days
and the Group’s main customers are essentially in the mass retail
sector where credit risk is considered low.
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Due to the number of customers located in diverse geographical
areas and the fact that its main customers are in the mass retail
sectorand despite the current economic situation, the Group believes
that it is neither exposed to significant credit risk, nor dependent
on any single customer.
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Sales to the Group’s largest customers and overdue receivables for which no impairment provision has been recognized

Year ended December 31

(in percentage] 2014 2015
Portion of sales made to the Group’s largest customers
Group’s largest customer 4.3% 4.2%
Group's five largest customers 13% 12%
Group’s ten largest customers 19% 18%
Portion of overdue trade receivables for which
no impairment provision has been recognized 2 41% 4.3%
(a) More than 30 days overdue.
Trade receivables derecognized in connection with the non-recourse factoring programs

As of December 31
(in € millions] 2014 2015
Total trade receivables derecognized in connection
with the non-recourse factoring program @ 257 m

(a) These relate to several Group subsidiaries that use non-recourse factoring programs (with transfer of risks and benefits).

Reverse factoring programs

The Group uses reverse factoring programs in the normal course
of its business. These programs are implemented without major
changes to payment terms and are used only for approved invoices
and payments made in accordance with the terms and conditions of
theinvoice (in particular the payment term). The amounts to be paid

via these programs are recognized within operating liabilities under
the Trade payables heading until paid by Danone, which has the effect
of clearing the commitment. Several of the Group’s subsidiaries in
various parts of the world are involved in these programs, none of
which is individually material.

Note 5.5. Property, plant and equipment and capital expenditure

Accounting principles
Property, plantand equipment acquired by the Group are recognized
at cost of acquisition or at construction cost.

Assets used by the Group under finance leases are recognized
as Property, plant and equipment in the consolidated balance
sheet, when, in substance, the terms of the lease transfer to the
Group essentially all of the risks and rewards associated with the
ownership of the asset. The asset is recognized for an amount that
corresponds to the lower of fair value and the discounted value of
future lease payments. The assessment of the level of risks and
rewards transferredis based on an analysis of the lease agreement.
The financial debt associated with the leased asset is recognized as
a liability in the consolidated balance sheet under Financial debt.

Interest onborrowings to finance the construction of property, plant
and equipment until their operational start date is considered to be
an integral part of the cost price of the property, plant and equip-
ment, provided that the criteria of IAS 23, Borrowing Costs are met.

Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows:

® buildings: 15to 40 years;
® equipment, furniture and fixtures: 5 to 20 years;
® other:3to 10 years.

The depreciation charges inrespect of property, plantand equipment
are allocated to various headings in the income statement on the
basis of the nature and utilization of the assets concerned.

Refundable containers

Refundable containers (including, in particular, jugs in the Waters
Division) are recognized at cost. They are depreciated on a straight-
line basis, based on available statistics for each Group entity, over
the shorter of the following lengths of time:

® physicaluseful life, taking into account the internal and external
breakage rates and wear and tear;

e commercial useful life, taking into account planned or likely
modifications of containers.

When the amount of the refund changes, the liability for deposits
received is measured based on the new amount.
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Carrying amount and change during the period

2014 2015
-] -}
[ = c
> © g ©
0 L c c 0 L c c
52 gE oii 52 g2 pii
B2 £S5 2%s g BE S 289 !
(in € millions) 83 =9 &% a 2 53 =3 668 2
Gross amount
As of January 1 2,281 5,502 1,708 9,491 2,443 5,787 1,762 9,992
Capital expenditure @ 87 145 689 921 60 137 672 869
Disposals (55) (194) (88) (338) (45) (203) (98) (346)
Reclassification
of assets held for sale - 6 (1) 5 (60) (24) (8) (92)
Changes in
consolidation scope 24 (1) (2) 21 35 35 13 84
Translation adjustments (15) (28) (15) (57) (1) (104) (42) (147)
Other®) 121 358 (529) (50) 109 364 (382) 92
As of December 31 2,443 5,787 1,762 9,992 2,541 5,994 1,917 10,452
Depreciation
As of January 1 (997) (3,472) (688) (5,156) (1,018) (3,539) (852) (5,410)
Depreciation charges
and impairment (101) (398) (141) (640) (115) (467) (126) (703)
Disposals 41 162 77 280 3 167 85 287
Reclassification
of assets held for sale 1 3 - 4 45 23 8 75
Changes in
consolidation scope 1 16 - 17 (1) (3) (1) (4)
Translation adjustments 1 18 (8) " (6) 54 16 b4
Other 36 132 (93) 74 2 22 (34) (10)
As of December 31 (1,018) (3,539) (852) (5,410) (1,058) (3,737) (904) (5,700)
Carrying amount
As of December 31 1,425 2,248 910 4,582 1,483 2,257 1,013 4,752
Including assets in progress 565 565 668 668

(a) Excluding property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases and presented under the Other heading.
[b) Comprises mainly property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases.

Impairment review of property, plant and equipment e marketvalue corresponds to the estimated net selling price that
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when could be obtained by the Group in an arm’s length transaction.
events or circumstances indicate that the recoverable amount of

S . . Ani i t isioni ized whenth bl t
the asset [or group of assets to which it belongs) may be impaired: fl impairment provision Is recognized when the recoverabie amoun

of the asset proves to be lower than its carrying amount.
® therecoverableamountcorrespondstothe higher of the market
value and value in use;

® valueinuseisestimatedonthe basis of the discounted cash flows
that the asset (or group of assets towhich it belongs]is expected
to generate overits estimated useful life in the conditions of use
determined by the Group;
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Capital expenditure during the period

Year ended December 31

(in € millions, except percentage) 2014 2015
Related cash flows (984) (937)
As a percentage of sales 4.7% 4.2%

Note 5.6. Off-balance sheet commitments relating to operating activities

Commitments given in 2015

Amount of financial flows for the year

(in € millions) Total 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 and after
Commitments to purchase

goods and services @ (3,452) (1,904) (680) (338) (255) (275)
Capital expenditure

commitments (198) (179) (9] (10) - -
Operating lease commitments (767) (208) (142) (106) (82) (229)
Guarantees and pledges given (284) (234) (2) (12) (1 (35)
Other (35) (24) (7) (3) (1 -
Total (4,738) (2,548) (841) (469) (340) (539)

[a] Commitments relating mainly to purchases of milk, dairy ingredients and other food raw materials.

Commitments given in 2014

Amount of financial flows for the year

(in € millions) Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 and after
Operating lease commitments (622) (162) (113) (84) (62) (200)
Commitments to purchase

goods and services @ (2,863) (1,646) (556) (301) (111) (249)
Capital expenditure

commitments (161) (140) (6] (2) (2) (1)
Guarantees and pledges given (224) (170) (12) (16) (2) (25)
Other (189) (121) (23) (16) (5) (23)
Total (4,059) (2,239) (711) (419) (182) (508)

Other commitments

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to a variety of legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business, notably as a result
of guarantees given on disposals since 1997. In some cases, damages and interest are sought. Provisions are recognized when an outflow
of resources is probable and the amount can be reliably estimated.
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Note 5.7. Financial risks associated with operating activities

The Group's financial risk policy and its organization are described
in Note 12.1 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign exchange risk

Due to its international presence, the Group could be exposed to
foreign exchange rate fluctuations in the context of its operating
activities.

Risk identification

The Group mainly operates on a local basis and consequentlyin the
currency of the country in which it is operating, thereby incurring
no currency risk. However, the location of some of the Group's
production units may result in intercompany billings in foreign
currencies. This applies particularly to the Early Life Nutrition and
Medical Nutrition Divisions and, to a lesser extent, to the Fresh
Dairy Products Division. Similarly, some raw materials are billed or
indexed in foreign currencies, in particular as regards the Waters
and Fresh Dairy Products Divisions. Lastly, the Group is also deve-
loping some export activities. The sales and operating margin of
some subsidiaries are therefore exposed to fluctuations of foreign
exchange rates against their functional currency.

Risk monitoring and management
Pursuant to its financial currency risk hedging policy, the Group's
residual exposure (after hedging) is not material.

As of December 31, 2015, the main hedged currencies in terms of
value included the British pound, U.S. dollar, Mexican peso, Brazilian
real, Australian dollar and Russian ruble (see Note 12.3 of the Notes
to the consolidated financial statements).

Commodities risk
Danone’s raw materials needs consist mainly of:

® materials needed to produce food and beverage products, mainly
milk and fruits (the “food raw materials”). On a value basis, milk
represents the main raw material purchased by Danone. These
purchases consist mainly of liquid milk, for which the operating
subsidiaries typically enterinto agreements with local producers
or cooperatives. Liquid milk prices are set locally, over contractual
periods that vary from one country to another. The main other
food raw materials are fruit-based preparations and sugar;

® product packaging materials, in particular plastics and card-
board ("packaging”). Packaging purchases are managed through
global and regional purchasing programs making it possible
to optimize skills and volume effects. Prices are influenced by
supply and demand at the global and regional levels, economic
cycles, production capacities and oil prices;

® energy supplies. They account for only a limited portion of the
Company’s overall purchases.
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Danone’s strategy increasingly relies on the upstream portion of
its activities and in particular its supply of raw materials, not only
to manage its costs but also to make it a genuine source of value
added and differentiation relative to the competition (see section
2.3 Strategic growth areas).

These upstream activities are now managed as cycles in order to
ensure their sustainability, limit their volatility and gain a genuine
competitive advantage:

® Regarding the milk cycle, the goal is to ensure a sustainable
long-term supply, continue to improve competitiveness and
reduce the dependency on this raw material by optimizing the
use of all milk components thanks to new technologies and the
pooling of needs among the various business divisions, notably
Fresh Dairy Products and Early Life Nutrition.

® As for the plastics cycle, the main challenge is to develop new,
100%-recyclable materials, give second life to plastic packaging
that will be distributed in the market, increase the share of
recycled PET from 10%to 25% in several countries and ultimately
produce bottles made from second-generation, 100% bioplastics.

® | astly, Danone’s main challenge at the heart of the water cycle
remains protecting its springs.

The price trends of major raw materials may affect the structure
of Danone’s results. In that context, the Company manages raw
materials cost volatility through the following measures:

® continuous productivity gains: Danone strives in particular to
optimize its use of raw materials (reductions in production waste,
lighter packaging and more effective use of milk sub-components
in the Group's various products) and take advantage of pooled
purchasing forits various subsidiaries. In 2013, for example, the
Company established centralized purchasing forthe Fresh Dairy
Products Division other than milk;

e implementation of a purchasing policy ("Market Risk Manage-
ment’] that consists of defining rules for securing the physical
supply and price setting with suppliers and/or on financial
markets when they exist. The monitoring of exposures and the
implementation of this policy are made for each raw materials
category by the Company’s central purchasing team. The buyers
typically negotiate forward purchase agreements with suppliers,
since no financial markets exist that would allow full hedging of
the volatility of Danone’s main raw materials purchase prices.
Forward purchase agreements are monitored at the Company
level at the end of each year. The information regarding these
future purchasing commitments is presented in Note 5.7 of the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements. Also, with respect
to Danone’s two main raw materials categories (milk and dairy
ingredients and plastics including PET), a sensitivity analysis of
the impact of changes in their prices on the Company’s annual
purchasing costs (applied simultaneouslyin all countries where
Danone has a production activity] is presented hereafter.
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Sensitivity of netincome to changes in prices of the two main categories of raw materials purchased by the Group

Year ended December 31

2014 2015

(in € millions] Gain (loss) Gain (loss)
Increase of 5%

Liquid milk, milk powder and other milk-based ingredients (191) (166)

Plastics, including PET (77) (78)
Decrease of 5%

Liquid milk, milk powder and other milk-based ingredients 191 166

77 78

Plastics, including PET

NOTE 6 EVENTS AND TRANSACTIONS QUTSIDE THE GROUP'S ORDINARY

ACTIVITIES

Note 6.1 Other operating income (expense)

Accounting principles

Other operatingincome [expense] is defined under Recommendation
2013-03 of the French ANC relating to the format of consolidated
financial statements prepared under international accounting
standards, and comprises significant items that, because of their
exceptional nature, cannot be viewed as inherent to current activities.
These mainly include capital gains and losses on disposals of fully
consolidated companies, impairment charges on goodwill, significant
costs related to strategic restructuring and major external growth

Other operating income (expense) in 2015

transactions, and incurred or estimated costs related to major crisis
and major litigation. Furthermore, in connection with Revised IFRS
3 relating to business combinations, the Group also classifies in
Other operating income (expense] (i) acquisition costs related to
business combinations, (i) revaluation profit or loss accounted for
following a loss of control, and (iii) changes in earn-outs related
to business combinations and subsequent to the acquisition date.

In 2015, the net Other operating expense of €(682) million consisted mainly of expenses, including:

(in € millions] Notes Related costs
Impairment of the Dumex brand and its property,
plant and equipment 6.2 (337)
Impairment of several intangible assets of the Fresh Dairy Pro-
ducts, Waters and Early Life Nutrition Divisions 9.3 (127)
Danone 2020 transformational plan b.4 (77)
Plan for savings and adaptation of the Group’s organizations
in Europe 6.3 (54)
Restructuring of the Group’s activities in Argentina
as a result of the economic climate (29)
Fine notified by the Spanish National Commission

6.5 (23)

on Markets and Competition
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Other operating income (expense) in 2014

In 2014, the net Other operating expense of €(511) million consisted mainly of expenses, including:

lin € millions] Notes Related costs
Impairment of the Dumex brand 6.2 (249)
Plan for savings and adaptation of the Group’s organizations

in Europe 6.3 (160)
Restructuring of the Group's activities in Argentina

as a result of the economic climate (26)
Capital losses on company disposals (21)
Unimilk integration expenses (Fresh Dairy Products,

mainly Russia and Ukraine) (14)

Note 6.2. Impact of the false safety alert issued by Fonterra with respect to certain ingredients

supplied to the Group in Asia in 2013

False alertissued by Fonterra with respect

to certain ingredients supplied to the Group

in Asiain 2013

Following a statement by the New Zealand government and Fonterra
on August 2, 2013 warning that batches of ingredients supplied by
Fonterrato four Danone plants in Asia-Pacific might be contaminated
with Clostridium botulinum bacteria, the Group recalled selected
infant formula products from sale in eight markets ([New Zealand,
Singapore, Malaysia, China, Hong Kong, Vietnam, Cambodia and
Thailand) of this region as a precautionary measure. The alert
was lifted on August 28 when New Zealand's Ministry for Primary
Industries (MPI) concluded after several weeks of tests that there
was no Clostridium botulinum in any of the batches concerned.

None of the many tests conducted by the Group, both before and
after this critical period, showed any contamination whatsoever
of its products with Clostridium botulinum. Danone’s food safety
management system is among the most demanding and effective
inthe world and includes rigorous testing of all of its products. But
because Danone makes consumer safety an absolute priority, its
teams nonetheless quickly and efficiently deployed recall procedures.

On January 8, 2014, the Group also announced its decision to
terminate its existing supply contract with Fonterra and make any
further collaboration contingent on a commitment by its supplier to
fulltransparency and compliance with the cutting-edge food safety
procedures applied to all products supplied to Danone.
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Impact on Early Life Nutrition Division’s sales

in Asia

The Early Life Nutrition Division’s sales, notably those under the
Dumex brand, were seriously affected by these recalls. Action plans
have been gradually deployed as from the second half of 2014 to
restore sales in affected markets, via the relaunch of the Dumex
brand and the introduction of innovative products.

As of December 31, 2014, the Group could determine the early effects
of these initiatives, which were as follows:

® in China, activity has gradually recovered but ended the year at
a level significantly below pre-crisis levels;

® intheothercountries concerned, which now generate more than
50% of the sales generated under the Dumex brand, the level of
activity is equivalent to pre-crisis levels.

Earlyinthe second quarterof 2015, the Group noted that the situation
concerning the Dumex brand in China had once again worsened,
mainly due to the acceleration (i) of internet sales to the detriment
of the retail distribution networks, which are the sole means of
distribution of Dumex products, and (i) imported super-premium
product ranges, from which Danone benefits significantly through
the success of Nutrilon and Aptamil [blue house) but which are still
detrimental to Dumex.

Inorderto bolsterits early life nutrition activity in China, the Group
decided torely on both the success of its international brands and on
the strength of its partnership with Mengniu and Yashili. Therefore,
Danone entered into a sales agreement with Yashili with regard
to Dumex's activities in China, in the amount of €150 million. The
agreement was signed on December 1, 2015, and is subject to the
approval of the competent authorities and Yashili's shareholders.
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Impacts on the consolidated financial statements
Accounting principles

Assets held for sale and their related liabilities

The groups that Danone intends to sell are classified as held for
sale when their value will be recovered mainly through their sale,
whichis considered to be highly probable within the next 12 months,
rather than though their use.

The related assets and liabilities are measured at the lower of their
carrying amount and their fair value less costs to sell and they are
presented on separate lines in the consolidated balance sheet of
the period during which the decision to sell has been taken. The
consolidated balance sheets of earlier periods are not restated.

2014 fiscal year

As of December 31, 2014, the review of the recoverable amount
of the Dumex brand based on the principles described in Note 9.3
of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2014 resulted in a €249 million impairment
provision in respect of the Dumex brand recognized in Other ope-
rating income (expense).

Summary of the impacts on the consolidated income statement

NOTE 6.EVENTS AND TRANSACTIONS QUTSIDE THE GROUP'S ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

2015 fiscal year

Following the sales agreement, the Group, thinking the sale would
take place during the next 12 months, classified the assets and
liabilities related to the Dumex activity in China as held for sale,
which resulted in:

® a portion of the goodwill of the Early Life Nutrition Asia CGU
being allocated to Dumex China, pro rata to their recoverable
amount, (i.e. €71 million];

® the assets being remeasured on the basis of the lower of the
carryingamount and the fairvalue in accordance with the terms
of the agreement less costs to selland therefore an impairment
provision being booked in respect of the property, plant and
equipment and the Dumex brand in China relative to the year
ended December 31, 2014, recognized under the Other operating
income (expense) heading for the year;

® the recognition of an impairment provision in respect of all of
the deferred tax assets recognized by Dumex in China during
earlier years;

® the related assets and liabilities being presented respectively
in Assets held for sale and Liabilities directly associated with
assets classified as held for sale in the consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2015. This concerns mainly goodwill
and brands totaling €155 million.

Year ended December 31

2014 2015
Other operating Other operating

(in € millions) income (expense) @ Tax income (expense) ! Tax
Impairment of the Dumex brand (249) 55 (318) 70
Impairment of property,
plant and equipment - - (19) -
Impairment of deferred tax assets ) - - - (42)
Total (249) 55 (337) 28

(a) Since this was a major crisis affecting the Group's early life nutrition activity, the related costs have been recognized under the Other operating income

[expense] heading.

[b) Including €12 million relating to costs recognized in Other operating income (expense).

Legal and arbitration proceedings

Danone has reviewed its recourse and compensation options and decided to initiate proceedings in the New Zealand High Court, as well
as arbitration proceedings in Singapore to bring all facts to light and to obtain compensation for the harm it has suffered.

Proceedings are in progress.
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Note 6.3. Savings and adaptation plan for the Group’s organizations in Europe

Since 2010, the lasting downturn in the economy and consumer trends
in Europe have resultedin a significant decrease in sales in this part
of the world. Despite signs of a gradual increase in volumes, the
Fresh Dairy Products Division in Europe has experienced a decrease
in its global activity and overcapacity in the region.

On December 13,2012, Danone announced the preparation of a cost
reduction and adaptation plan to win back its competitive edge in
ordertoaddressalastingdownturninthe economy and the consu-
mer trends in Europe. On February 19,2013, Danone presented the
organizational part of its plan for savings and adaptation in Europe.

In addition to this project to reorganize its structure, in order to
address the overcapacity in Europe, on June 11, 2014, Danone
announced the planned closure of its sites in Casale Cremasco
(Italy), Hagenow (Germany) and Budapest (Hungary), these three
countries having been particularly badly affected by the drop in
sales. The planned closure of these three plants and the gradual
reallocation of volumes to Belgium, Poland, Germany and France

Costs and cash flows relating to this plan

should enable the Fresh Dairy Products Division to improve the
use of its production facilities and its competitiveness in Europe.

Costs relating to this plan mainly comprise (i) costs of employee-
related measures [measures with respect to mobility, redundancy
and support for departing employees), (il impairment losses in
respect of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
and [iii) other reorganization costs (notably compensation for early
termination of contracts and consulting fees). As this plan consists
inastrategic restructuring, the costsincurreddirectly in connection
to the plan are accounted for as Other operating income (expense).
Costsrecognized consistin costs (i) paid (ii) incurred or (i) provisio-
ned. Provisions are recognized based on the Group’s best estimate
as of the closing date of the costs to be incurred in connection with
these measures, given the information then available to the Group.

Cash flows related to initiatives that may be taken by the Group to
deploy this plan are presented in Cash flows provided by (used in)
operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Costs

Employee-related measures (75) (8)
Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (1) (5)
Other reorganization costs (74) (41)
Total (160) (54)
Of which, provisions as of December 31 58 34
Cash flows net of taxes (123) (61)

(a) Including a tax saving calculated on the basis of the applicable tax rate in the respective countries.

Note 64. Danone 2020 transformational plan

In order to generate strong, profitable and sustainable growth
between now and 2020, Danone has launched its “Danone 2020"
transformational plan. 2015 was a preparatory year which enabled
the foundations to be laid for the Group's transformation.

In 2015, the expenses relating to this plan concerned mainly (i] the
costs of employee-related measures (measures with respect to
internal mobility, redundancy and support for departing employees)

Costs relating to this plan

and [ii) other reorganization costs (notably compensation for the
early termination of property leases and consulting fees).

As this plan consists in a strategic restructuring, costs incurred
directly in connection with the plan are recognized as Other ope-
rating income (expense). Costs recognized consist of costs paid,
incurred or provisioned.

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Employee-related measures - (47)
Other reorganization costs - (30)
Total - (77)
Of which, provisions as of December 31 - 47
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NOTE 7. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, PERSONNEL COSTS AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Note 6.5. Notification by the Spanish National Commission for Markets and Competition

The main stakeholders in the fresh dairy products sectorin Spain, A provision has been recognized in respect of the full amount of
including Danone, have been fined by the Spanish National Commission  the fine (€23 million) and the corresponding expense has been
for Markets and Competition (CNMC) for having shared information recognized in Other operating income (expense] in the consolidated
with competitors on prices and on business strategy. Danone is  financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015. No
assembling the necessary documentation to lodge an appeal. amount was paid in 2015.

NOTE 7. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, PERSONNEL COSTS AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Note 7.1. Number of employees at fully consolidated companies
As of December 31

2014 2015
Total number of employees 99,927 99,781
By geographical area
France 9% 9%
Rest of Europe 28% 28%
China 10% 10%
Rest of Asia-Pacific 18% 18%
North and South America 27% 27%
Africa and Middle East 9% 9%
Total 100% 100%
By Division
Fresh Dairy Products 42% 40%
Waters 38% 39%
Early Life Nutrition 12% 14%
Medical Nutrition 7% 6%
Corporate functions 1% 2%
Total 100% 100%

Note /.2. Personnel costs of fully consolidated companies

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Salaries and social security charges @ (2,971) (3,385)
Retirement obligations - defined benefit plans ) (26) (34)

Expenses relating to Group performance shares and stock-op-
tions (19) (21)

(a) Salaries after social security charges. Also comprises the contributions in respect of defined contribution retirement plans.
[b) Service cost.
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Note 7.3. Retirement obLigations and other Long-term benefits

General principles

The Group contributes to employee retirement benefit plans in
accordance with the laws and usual practices of countries where its
subsidiaries operate. As a result of contributions paid under such
plans to private or state sponsored pension funds, the Group has
no actuarial liability in that respect.

The Group also has contractual obligations for supplementary
retirement plans, severance pay, retirement indemnities and per-
sonal protection plans. The related actuarial commitments are
taken into account either through the payment of contributions to
independently-managed funds responsible for their service and the
fund administration, or through provisions.

Accounting principles

Defined contribution retirement plans

Contributions due under defined contribution plans are expensed
asincurred. These expenses are allocated to different headings in
the consolidated income statement.

Defined benefit retirement plans

The Group’s obligations relating to defined benefit retirement plans
are calculated using the projected unit credit method and by taking
into account several actuarial assumptions, including employee
turnover, salary increases and employees’ expected active lives.

The carrying amounts of these plans on the consolidated balance
sheet correspond to the actuarial value of the obligations, as defined
above, less the fairvalue of the plan assets (retirement funds to which
the Group contributes, for example). They are presented under the
heading Provisions for retirement and other long-term benefits.

In addition, the expected return on plan assets is measured on the
basis of the discount rate used to estimate the actuarial value of
retirement commitments.

Defined benefit plans

Provisions for retirement and other long-term benefits

Actuarial gains and losses resulting from experience adjustments
and changesinthe actuarialassumptions that are usedto calculate
the obligations net of the assets (including the difference between
the expected return and the actual return on plan assets) are fully
recognized within Other comprehensive income.

The recognized costs and income of defined benefit plans corres-
pond mainly to:

® thecostofservicesprovidedduring theyearand of prior services
(where relevant] recognized within Trading operating income;

® the accretion of the present value of the obligations, net of the
expected return on plan assets, recognized within Other financial
income (expense).

Other long-term benefits

Other long-term benefits may be granted by certain Group compa-
nies to their employees, such as personal protection coverage and
long-service awards. The Group's obligations in respect of these
benefits are determined by applying a similar method to that used
to determine the obligations relating to post-employment defined
benefit plans.

The amounts recognized in the balance sheet in respect of these
plans correspondtothe presentvalue of the obligations, as detailed
above. They are presented under the heading Provisions for retire-
ment and other long-term benefits.

The actuarial gains and losses resulting from experience adjust-
ments and changes in the actuarial assumptions used to calculate
obligations are recognized in full within Trading operating income
of the fiscal year in which they are incurred.

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Defined benefit retirement plans 796 769
Other long-term benefits 21 25
Total 818 794
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Defined benefit retirement plans and other post-employment benefits

Carrying amount of gross obligations

As of December 31

(in percentage] 2014 2015
Retirement plan for senior managers 37% 33%
Other 15% 16%

France 51% 49%

Germany 14% 14%

United States 6% 7%

United Kingdom 5% 6%

Indonesia 7% 7%

Ireland 6% 6%

Other@ 10% 1%

Total 100% 100%

(a) Several countries, none of which represent more than 5% of the Group’s gross obligations.

Group’s principal obligation

The Group's principal defined benefit retirement plan obligations
involve the Retirement plan for senior managers in France. This
retirement plan established in 1976 as part of a governmental
initiative to help companies retain senior managers, was closed
to any new beneficiaries as of December 31, 2003. Approximately
125 Danone executives who hold the status of senior executive
are eligible, under certain conditions (in particular seniority and
continuing employment conditions) for a defined benefit retirement
plan. As a reminder, in 2009, more than 210 executives were still
covered by this plan.

General principles

This plan provides for a pension based on years of service and the
amount of final salary, under the condition that the beneficiary is
stillin Danone’s employment at the time of retirement. The pension:

® s paid after deducting certain pensions corresponding:

e with respect to a first category of senior executives, to the
full amount of retirement benefits they acquired over the
course of their professional career;

e withrespecttoasecond category of senior executives, to the
full amount of retirement benefits that they acquired due to
the implementation of a Company non-contributory supple-
mentary retirement plan;

® and may reach a maximum of 65% of final salaries.

In the event of leaving Danone before the age of 55 or in the event
of death before retirement, the employee loses all benefits under
this plan, it being specified that if the employee is laid off after the
age of 55, the plan benefits are preserved, subject to the beneficiary
not taking any salaried position in the future.

Other obligations

Most of the other retirement plans introduced by the Group relate only
toone particular subsidiaryin one particular country. Consequently,
the Group is required to manage several different plans in a given
country. None is material.
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Carrying amount of provisions (gross obligations net of plan assets)
As of December 31

2014 2015
Retirement Retirement
plan for senior plan for senior
(in € millions) managers Other plans Total managers Other plans Total
Vested rights with projected
salaries 468 803 1,272 418 836 1,255
Fair value of plan assets (172) (302) (475) (165) (321) (486)
Vested rights net of fair value
of plan assets 296 501 796 254 515 769
Impact of ceiling on assets - - - - - -
Obligations for which
provisions have been recorded
on the balance sheet 296 501 796 254 515 769

In addition, the total amount of contributions/benefits to be paid out in 2016 in connection with these plans is estimated at €39 million.

Actuarial assumptions
Methodology
The Group defines the actuarial assumptions by country and/or subsidiary.

The discount rates used in 2015 were obtained on the basis of investment grade [AA rating) bond yields of private issuers for durations
equivalent to that of the commitment in the corresponding monetary areas. The level of quality used is assessed on the basis of the rating
obtained from the leading financial rating agencies. In the case of illiquid markets, the discount rate is determined using government
bonds of equivalent maturity to the term of the assessed plans. In 2014, this was notably the case in respect of Indonesia.

Retirement plan for senior managers
Main actuarial assumptions

Year ended December 31

Retirement plan for senior managers

(as a percentage, except for ages in number of years] 2014 2015
Discount rate 2.2% 2.4%
Expected return on plan assets 2.2% 2.4%
Salary growth rate 3.0% 3.0%
Retirement age 60-65 60-66

Sensitivity analysis to the key assumption: the discount rate
Year ended December 31

Retirement plan for senior managers

2014 2015
(in € millions] Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)
50 bps increase (41) (39)
50 bps decrease 45 A
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Changes in carrying amounts of provisions

Defined benefit Fair value of Unrecognized Net accrued
(in € millions) obligation plan assets past service costs obligation
As of January 1, 2014 997 (431) - 566
Service cost 26 - - 26
Interest cost 38 - - 38
Expected return on plan assets (16) - (16)
Other (2) - - (2)
Expense for the year 62 (16) - 47
Payments made to retirees (43) 24 - (19)
Contributions to plan assets - (16) - (16)
Changes in demographic
assumptions 6 - - 6
Changes in economic
assumptions 204 - - 204
Experience effects 25 (24) - -
Actuarial gains and losses 234 (24) - 210
Translation adjustments 21 (1) - 10
Other - - - (1)
As of December 31, 2014 1,272 (475) - 796
Defined benefit Fair value of Unrecognized Netaccrued
(in € millions) obligation plan assets past service costs obligation
As of January 1, 2015 1,272 (475) - 796
Service cost 34 - - 34
Interest cost 37 = = 37
Expected return on plan assets - (13) - (13)
Other (4) = = (4)
Expense for the year 66 (13) - 54
Payments made to retirees (44) 27 - (18)
Contributions to plan assets - (13) - (13)
Changes in demographic
assumptions (26) - - (26)
Changes in economic
assumptions (41) - - (41)
Experience effects 15 (3) - 12
Actuarial gains and losses (52) (3) - (55)
Translation adjustments 12 (9) - 3
Other 1 = = 1
As of December 31, 2015 1,255 (486) - 769
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NOTE 7. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, PERSONNEL COSTS AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined benefit plan assets

The investment policy for plan assets depends, for each company, on the employees” age structure and the expected return on the various

asset classes.

Plan assets of retirement plan for senior managers

As of December 31

Retirement plan for senior managers

(in € millions, except percentage) 2014 2015
Fair value of plan assets (172) (165)
Main class of plan assets

Bonds (el b} 98% 98%
Equities® - -
Real estate and other asset classes® 2% 2%

(a) These assets are diversified, and in particular exposure to individual sovereign credit risk is limited.

[b) Do not include any financial instruments issued by the Group

Defined contribution plans

Contributions paid as part of defined contribution plans are recognized under Trading operating income.

Note 74 Group performance shares and stock-options granted to certain emplLoyees

and corporate officers
Group policy

The Group has awarded long-term variable compensation in the
form of Group performance shares since 2010 and awarded such
compensation in the form of stock-options until 2010. Around 1,300
directors and senior executives worldwide, as well as the corporate
officers, have benefitted from these arrangements.

General principles applicable to Group performance shares

and termination of the stock-options program

The Group's long-term variable compensation takes the form of
Group performance shares [Company shares subject to performance
conditions). Group performance shares were introduced in 2010
by the Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 22, 2010 to replace the
stock-option program that was consequently closed.

Group performance shares and stock-options in effect

Group performance shares (GPS) are shares in the Company thatare
subject to performance conditions, set by the Shareholders’ Meeting
foreach plan. Inthe case of all outstanding plans, the performance
conditions are based on aspects of the Company’s performance.
The GPS are also subject to continuing employment conditions. The
vesting period is three or four years depending on the plan.

General principles applicable to stock-options

Stock-options are options to purchase shares in the Company that
were granted to certain employees and corporate officers up until
the Combined Shareholders’ Meeting of April 22, 2010. No stock-
options have been granted since then and since the end of 2013, all
stock-options are exercisable: the last plans expire in 2017.

Year ended December 31

[number of shares] 2014 2015

Group performance shares

As of January 1 2,488,418 1,950,995
Shares granted during the year 778,371 645,372
Shares that lapsed or were cancelled during the year (810,867) (141,003)
Shares delivered during the year (504,927) (467,657)

As of December 31 1,950,995 1,987,707

Stock-options

As of January 1 7,177,600 5,688,697
Options that lapsed or were cancelled during the year (195,922) (201,173)
Options exercised during the year (1,292,981) (4,142,353)

As of December 31 5,688,697 1,345,171

(a) As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, all options can be exercised and most are in the money.
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4.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, PERSONNEL COSTS AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Accounting treatment of Group performance shares and stock-options

Accounting principles

The benefits relating to stock-options and Group performance shares
granted to certain employees and corporate officers are written off
asanexpense on the Otherincome (expense) item of the consolida-
ted income statement. The corresponding entry to this chargeis an
equivalentincrease in consolidated equity on the Retained earnings
item of the consolidated balance sheet. The charge corresponds to
the fair value, determined on the grant date, of the stock-options
and Group performance shares granted.

The fair value of the stock-options is determined using the Black
& Scholes valuation model, based on assumptions determined
by management. The corresponding charge is expensed over the
vesting period (i.e. 2 to 4 years).

Valuation

The fair value of Group performance shares is calculated on the
basis of assumptions made by the Group’'s management. The
corresponding charge is spread over the vesting period (either 3
or 4 years). To the extent that performance conditions are based
on internal performance, charges recognized in respect of shares
that lapse due to the failure to achieve said performance conditions
are written back in the income statement for the period in which it
is probable they will lapse.

They are taken into accountin calculating the dilution as described
in Note 13.4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Year ended December 31

(in € per share except number of shares] 2014 2015
Number of shares granted during the year 778,371 645,372
Fair value of Group performance shares granted during the year@ 50.3 56.5
Average DANONE share price during the year 54.3 60.7
(a) Fair value as of the grant date.
Expense related to Group performance shares and stock-options

Year ended December 31
(in € millions] 2014 2015
Group performance shares (19) (21)
Stock-options @ - -
Total expense (19) (21)

(a) As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015, all options can be exercised and therefore no longer result in expense recognition

Note 7.5. Company Savings Plan

General and accounting principles

Employees of the Group’s French entities can, on an annual basis,
subscribe a capital increase in the Company through a Company
Savings Plan. The purchase price of the shares corresponds to 80%
of the average DANONE share price over the 20 days preceding the
meeting of the Board of Directors that approves the plan.

The benefit granted to the employeesis calculated based on the fair
value of the shares on the grant date. The fair value is calculated
aftertakingintoaccountthe five-year holding period on these shares
and the market parameters applicable to employees, in particular
the borrowing rate.

The corresponding chargeis recorded under Otherincome (expense)
for the year at the time of the capital increase.

Capital increase reserved for employees as part

of the Company Savings Plan

In 2015, under the terms of the Company Savings Plan, the Group
implemented a capitalincrease involving 838,052 new sharesissued
at a price of €47.11 per share.
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§.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. INCOME TAX

NOTE 8. INCOME TAX

Note 8.1. Income tax

Income before tax and tax expense

Year ended December 31

lin € millions except tax rate in percentage] 2014 2015
Income before tax 1,839 1,925
Current tax (expense) income (693) (805)
Deferred tax (expense) income 94 179
Current and deferred tax (expense) income (599) (626)
Effective tax rate 32.6% 32.5%
Amount (paid) received during the year (601) (804)

Tax rate and tax systems

French tax system

Danone forms a tax group with most of its French subsidiaries in
which it owns, directly or indirectly, more than 95% of the share
capital, enabling taxable profits and losses to be offset subject to
certain limits and conditions.

The statutory tax rate for companies with sales exceeding €250 mil-
lion was raised to 38% in 2013 following a temporary increase in
the surtax on corporate income from 5% to 10.7%. This measure is
applicable for two years, i.e. until 2015. Nevertheless, the current
and deferred tax rates of these companies was maintained at 34.43%
since the tax loss carryforwards are expected to be recovered
beyond this two-year period.

Other tax systems

Similar tax grouping arrangements exist in other countries, in par-
ticular in the United States, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom,
Germany and Spain.

Effective tax rate
In 2015, the Group effective tax rate was 32.5%, relatively stable in
comparison with 2014.

As is the case with the Group's business activity (see breakdown of
sales by countryin Note 5.2 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements), the Group’s current and deferred tax expense is also
relatively well distributed across several countries, with no single
dominant country.

Difference between effective tax rate and 34.43% statutory tax rate in France

Year ended December 31

lin percentage) Notes 2014 2015
Statutory tax rate in France 34.4% 34.4%
Differences between French and foreign tax rates @ (12.4)% (12.3)%
Tax on dividends and royalties 4.1% 3.6%
Permanent differences 3.0% 2.2%
Tax loss carryforwards 6.2,83 1.0% 4.2%
Tax adjustments and unallocated taxes @ 3.0% 1.6%
Impact of capital gains and losses on disposal and asset

impairment 0.3% (0.2)%
Other differences (0.8)% (1.00%
Effective income tax rate 32.6% 32.5%

(a) Various countries, none of which generates a significant difference with the French tax rate.

(b) Includes the contribution of costs and expenses and withholding taxes on dividends and royalties and the impact of the 3% dividends tax.

(c] In 2015, includes the impacts of deferred tax asset impairment on Dumex’s activity in China.

(d) In 2015 as in 2014, corresponds mainly to tax adjustments, unallocated taxes and net changes in provisions for tax risks, partially offset by the favorable

change in tax rates.
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4.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 8.2. Deferred taxes

Accounting principles

Deferredtaxesare recognized foralltemporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes, except for the cases specified in IAS
12, Income Taxes. Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability
method, applying the last enacted income tax rates expected to be
applicable when the temporary differences will be reversed.

In addition, temporary differences are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements as deferred tax assets or liabilities systema-

Carrying amount

NOTE 8. INCOME TAX

tically in the case of associates and on the basis of the most likely
scenario as regards the reversal of the differences, i.e. distribution
of reserves or disposal of the entity concerned, in the case of fully-
consolidated subsidiaries.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, when the tax entity
has a legal right to offset.

Lastly, the Companyand its subsidiaries may be subject to tax audits.
A provision is recognized in the consolidated financial statements
whenever it is probable that a tax reassessment will be made.

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Breakdown by type of deferred tax

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (1,326) (1,185)
Tax loss carryforwards @) 533 516
Provisions for retirement and other long-term benefits 227 220
Employee profit-sharing provisions 20 17
Restructuring provisions 17 17
Other 139 190
Net deferred taxes (389) (224)
Deferred tax assets 836 902
Deferred tax liabilities (1,225) (1,126)
Net deferred taxes (389) (224)
(a) See section hereafter related to Tax loss carryforwards.

Change during the period

(in € millions] 2014 2015
As of January 1 (556) (389)
Changes recognized in Other comprehensive income 104 (16)
Changes recognized in profit or loss 95 179
Changes in consolidation scope @ 1 (3)
Other (32) 5
As of December 31 (389) (224)

(a) See Note 2.2 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Note 8.3. Tax Loss carryforwards

Accounting principles

Deferredtaxassets relating to tax loss carryforwards and temporary
differences are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet when
itis more likely than not that these taxes will be recovered. At each
closing, the Group reviews the unused tax losses and the amount

Carrying amount

of deferred tax assets recognized on the balance sheet. In some
countries in which losses can be carried forward indefinitely, the
Group takes into consideration long-term recovery horizons when
justified in light of forecast taxable profits.

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2014 2015
Tax losses - recognized portion

Recognized tax loss carryforwards (@ ) 1,630 1,569
Tax savings 533 516
Tax losses - unrecognized portion

Tax loss carryforwards and tax credits not yet used @ 403 480
Potential tax savings 107 130

(a) Basis amount.

[b) In 2015, they mainly come from the French consolidated tax group. The decrease relative to 2014 was mainly due to impairment of tax assets related to Dumex.

[c] Corresponds to deferred tax assets based on tax loss carryforwards.

Consumption horizon

Most of the tax losses as of December 31, 2015 can be carried forward indefinitely and have a probable consumption horizon of more

than five years.

NOTE 3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Note 9.1. Accounting principles
Goodwill

When control of a company is acquired, the fair value of the consi-
deration given to the seller is allocated to the acquired identified
assets and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed, which
are measured at fair value. The difference between the considera-
tion given to the seller and the Group’s share of the fair value of the
acquired identified assets and the liabilities and contingent liabili-
ties assumed represents goodwill. When the option of recognizing
non-controlling interests at fair value is applied, a corresponding
premium is allocated to goodwill. Goodwill is recognized in the
consolidated balance sheetasan asset underthe heading Goodwill.

Goodwillarising from the acquisition of a foreign entity is recognized
in the functional currency of the entity acquired and translated at
the exchange rates prevailing on the closing date.

Goodwillis notamortized butis tested forimpairment at leastannually.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
the Cash generating units (CGU) or groups of CGUs most likely
to benefit from the synergies of the business combination and to
the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored by the Group. The
CGUs correspond to subsidiaries or groups of subsidiaries thatare
included in the same Division and that generate cash flows largely
independent from those generated by other CGUs.
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Brands with indefinite useful lives

Acquired brands that are distinguishable, having a significant value,
are supported by advertising expense and have indefinite useful lives
arerecorded underthe heading Brands in the consolidated balance
sheet. The valuation of these brands is generally determined with
the assistance of valuation specialists, taking into account various
factors, including brand awareness and their contribution to ear-
nings. These brands, which are legally protected, are notamortized
but are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if signs
of impairment exist [see hereafter).



4.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other brands

Other acquired brands that are deemed to have finite useful lives
are presented under the heading Brands in the consolidated balance
sheet. They are amortized on a straight-line basis over their esti-
mated useful lives, which do not exceed 60 years. The amortization
chargesinrespect of brands with finite useful lives are allocated to
various headings inthe income statement on the basis of the nature
and utilization of the brands concerned.

Development costs

Development costs are only recognized under assets in the conso-
lidated balance sheet if all the recognition criteria set by IAS 38,
Intangible Assets are met before the products are launched on the
market. They are amortized over the term of their legal protection
granted to the Group as from the date the corresponding products
are launched on the market.

Development costs are generally expensed as incurred (see Note
5.1 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

NOTE 9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Technologies, development costs and other
intangible assets

The following elements are recognized in the balance sheet under
the heading Other intangible assets:

® acquired technologies, which are generally valued with the
assistance of specialized consultants and amortized over the
average duration of the patents;

® acquired development costs meeting the criteria for the recogni-
tion of an intangible asset in accordance with IAS 38, Intangible
Assets [see above);

® otheracquiredintangible assets are recognized at theiracquisi-
tion cost. They are amortized on a straight line basis over their
estimated economic lives, which do not exceed 40 years.

The amortization charges in respect of these assets are allocated
to various headings in the income statement on the basis of their
nature and utilization.

Note 9.2 Carrying amount and change during the period

2014 2015
Other Other
intangible intangible

(in € millions] Notes  Goodwill Brands'? assets Total Goodwill Brands'? assets Total
Gross value
As of January 1 11,474 4,517 850 16, 841 11,582 4,351 842 16,775
Capital expenditure - - 42 42 = = 43 43
Disposals - - (30) (30 = = (33) (33)
Reclassification of assets
held for sale 6.2 - - - - (72) (83) = (155)
Changes in consolidation
scope 2.2 124 - 3 128 94 - - 94
Translation adjustments (8) 52 (4) 40 47 23 (11) 60
Impairment 6.2,9.3 (3) (249) - (252) (2) (443) = (444)
Other (6) 30 (19) 6 3 - 14 18
As of December 31 11,582 4,351 842 16,775 11,653 3,848 856 16,357
Amortization
As of January 1 - (16) (517) (533) - (14) (527) (541)
Charges - (3) (62) (65) = (2) (67) (69)
Disposals - - 30 30 - - 31 31
Other - 5 22 27 = 1 (1) 1
As of December 31 - (14) (527) (541) = (14) (564) (579)
Carrying amount
As of December 31 11,582 4,337 315 16,234 11,653 3,833 292 15,779

(a) Includes brands with indefinite useful lives and the other brands.
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NOTE 9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Note 9.3. Impairment review
Methodology

The carryingamounts of goodwill and brands with indefinite useful
lives are reviewed for impairment at least annually and whenever
events or circumstances indicate that they may be impaired. These
events or circumstances are linked to significant, unfavorable and
lasting changes that have an impact on the economic environment
and the assumptions or targets set at the time of acquisition.

Impairment tests are carried out on all property, plant and equip-
ment and intangible assets of the CGUs and groups of CGUs. When
the carrying amount of all the property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets of the CGUs and groups of CGUs becomes greater
thantheirrecoverable amount, animpairment provision is recognized
and first charged against goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGUs or groups of CGUs to which
the tested assets belong is the higher of the fair value net of dis-
posal costs, which is generally estimated on the basis of earnings
multiples, and the value in use, which is assessed with reference
to expected future discounted cash flows of the CGU or group of
CGUs concerned.

Annual impairment testing of brands with indefinite useful lives is
based on an individual recoverable amount established using the
royalties method, with the exception of certain brands for which the
Group has a third-party valuation. In the case of the major brands,
the Group re-estimates the royalty rate of the brands concerned
in accordance with a method applied each year and based on the
brand’s parameters including awareness of the brand, its profita-
bility, market shares, etc.

The cash flows used to determine value in use of the CGUs or groups
of CGUs and the recoverable amount of the brands with indefinite
usefullives are derived from the annual budgets and strategic plans
of the CGUs or groups of CGUs, which are drawn up by Management
and cover a period of three years, and are extended, where appro-
priate, on the basis of the most recent forecasts, to:

e five years for the Fresh Dairy Products and Waters Divisions;

® eight years for the Early Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition
Divisions, to better reflect the expected development of the
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Divisions activity on the estimation of the value in use. The Group
uses projections over eight years to better reflect the Division’s
growth over this period, since the actual growth rate of these
CGUs and groups of CGUs exceeds the long-term growth rate
that the Group applies to each of these CGUs.

Future cash flows beyond that period are extrapolated using a long-
term growth rate that is specific to each CGU or group of CGUs:

® theoperationalassumptions used to calculate the terminalvalue
are in line with the last year of projections described above in
terms of sales and trading operating margin;

® thelong-term growth rateis determined for each CGU or group
of CGUs taking into account its average growth rate in recent
yearsandits geographical area [macro-economic fundamentals,
demographics, etc.).

Finally, future cash flows are discounted using the weighted ave-
rage cost of capital method, according to which the cost of debt and
the after-tax cost of equity are weighted based on their respective
proportions in the business sector concerned. It is calculated for
the Group and increased, for certain CGUs or groups of CGUs, by
a premium to take into account the risk factors affecting certain
countries.

Review of the value of intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives as of December 31, 2015

Combination in 2015 of the European CGUs of the Fresh Dairy
Products Division

As part of the cost saving and adaptation plan of its European
entities (see Note 6.3 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements), the Fresh Dairy Products Division reorganized its
activity with centralized, overall managementat the European level,
notably operations and raw materials purchasing. As a result, the
Southern Europe, Central Europe and Northern Europe CGUs were
combined into a single Europe CGU, only after the Group ensured
thatnoimpairment needed to be recognized at the level of the CGUs
prior to their combination.
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NOTE 9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Carrying amount and assumptions concerning the long-term growth rate and discount rate in respect of the CGUs
or groups of CGUs comprising material assets

As of December 31

Carrying amount of goodwill
and brands with indefinite

useful lives Long-term growth rate ! Discount rate after tax !

(in € millions] 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015
Fresh Dairy Products
Centrale Danone 924 914 3% 3% 10% 10%
Danone-Unimilk group @ 3N 279 3% 3% 10% 1%
Europe® 587 576 0% 0% 8% to 10% 8% to 10%
Other CGUs 517 627 0to 3% 0to 3% 8% to 15% 8% to 17%
Total Fresh Dairy Products 2,340 2,395

e of which, goodwill 1,683 1,774

e of which, brands with

indefinite useful livesd 658 621
Waters
Danone Eaux France 428 428 1% 1% 7.9% 7.9%
Other CGUs 413 389 0to 3% 0to 3% 8% to 13% 8% to 17%
Total Waters 840 817

e Of which, goodwill 630 613

e Of which, brands with

indefinite useful livesd 210 204
Early Life Nutrition
Early Life Nutrition Asia 3,108 2,680 2.5% 2.5% 8.2% 7.8%
Early Life Nutrition Rest
of the World 5,114 5,037 2.5% 2.5% 8.2% 8.3%
Other CGUs 168 187 2.5% 2.5% 7.9% 7.9%
Total Early Life Nutrition 8,390 7,904

e Of which, goodwill 5,930 5,894

e Of which, brands with inde-

finite useful Lives f! 2,460 2,010
Medical Nutrition 4,246 4,280 2.5% 2.5% 7.6% 7.6%

e Of which, goodwill 3,340 3,372

e Of which, brands with

indefinite useful lives 9 906 908
Total 15,816 15,396

e Of which, goodwill 11,582 11,653

e Of which, brands with

indefinite useful lives 4,234 3,743

(a) Consists mainly of Russia and Ukraine.

[b) Combines the Division’s entire activity in Europe.

(c) More than 10 CGUs, the largest of which is the United States CGU, with none exceeding €300 million as of December 31, 2015 or December 31, 2014.

(d) Several brands, none of which is material individually.

(e] Consists mainly of the Waters Asia CGU and other CGUs, none of which exceeds €200 million as of December 31, 2015 or December 31, 2014.

(f) Consists of several brands, the largest of which are Milupa and Dumex. The carryingamount presented here includes impairment recognized on the Dumex brand.
(g) Several brands, the most significant of which is Nutricia.

(h) The carrying amount includes the reclassification of €153 million to Assets held for sale for the Dumex activity in China.

(i) For CGUs whose recoverable value is determined on the basis of their value in use, except for the CGUs corresponding to the companies acquired in 2015.
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NOTE 9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill of the groups of CGUs in the Early Life
Nutrition and Medical Nutrition Divisions

As of December 31, 2015, the recoverable amount exceeded the
carrying amount by €1.6 billion in the case of the Medical Nutrition
group of CGUs, €2.9 billion in the case of the Early Life Nutrition
Rest of the World group of CGUs and €1.8 billion in the case of the
Early Life Nutrition Asia group of CGUs.

Results of sensitivity analysis

Inaddition, an analysis of the sensitivity of the value in use to the key
assumptions was carried out for each of the three groups of CGUs.
The assumptions usedin the valuation model used by the Group are
(i) the growth in Net sales, (ii] the Trading operating margin (cor-
responding to the ratio Trading operating income over Net sales),
(iii) the long-term growth rate used to calculate the terminal value,
and (iv) the discount rate.

Year ended December 31

recoverable amount

Annual decrease to make recoverable
amount equal carrying amount

Impact on

(in € billions] (in percentage]

2014 2015 2014 2015
Net sales - 50 bps decrease @
Early Life Nutrition Asia (0.2) (0.2) (6)% (7%
Early Life Nutrition
Rest of the World (0.3) (0.3) (4)% (6)%
Medical Nutrition (0.2) (0.2) (3% (4)%
Trading operating margin - 100 bps
decrease®
Early Life Nutrition Asia (0.3) (0.3) (6)% (6)%
Early Life Nutrition
Rest of the World (0.4) (0.5) (5% (6]%
Medical Nutrition (0.3) (0.3) (3)% (6)%
Long-term growth rate -
50 bps decrease
Early Life Nutrition Asia (0.2) (0.2)
Early Life Nutrition
Rest of the World (0.4) (0.3)
Medical Nutrition (0.3) (0.3)
Discount rate - 50 bps increase
Early Life Nutrition Asia (0.2) (0.2)
Early Life Nutrition
Rest of the World (0.3) (0.3)
Medical Nutrition (0.3) (0.3)

(a) Decrease applied, each year, to the assumed growth in Net sales, including the final year, based on (i) the 2015 projections for tests performed in 2014, and

[ii) the 2016 projections for the tests performed in 2015.

(b) Decrease applied, each year, to the assumed growth in Trading operating margin, including the final year, based on (i) the 2015 projections for tests performed

in 2014, and (ii) the 2016 projections for the tests performed in 2015.

Goodwill of other CGUs

As of December 31, 2015, the CGUs of the Fresh Dairy Products and
Waters Divisions represented in total 21% of the carrying amount
of the Group's goodwill and comprised more than 30 CGUs located
in diverse geographic regions and in different countries.

As of December 31, 2015, following the impairment review of intan-
gible assets with indefinite useful life of these CGUs, the Group
recognized impairment on a Waters Division CGU in the amount
of €2 million, which was recorded under Other operating income
(expense] for the period.

As of December 31, 2014, following the impairment review of intan-
gible assets with indefinite useful life of these CGUs, the Group did
not recognize any impairment provisions.
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Brands with indefinite useful lives

The Group’s main brands are Dumex, Nutricia and Milupa. As of
December31, 2015, they represented more than 60% of the carrying
amount of the Group’s brands with indefinite useful lives and none
represented individually more than 40% of the carrying amount of
the Group’s brands with indefinite useful lives. The other brands
are spread over all Divisions and located in diverse geographic
regions and different countries and none represented individually
more than 10% of the carrying amount of the Group’s brands with
indefinite useful lives as of December 31, 2014.
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Impairment review of the main brands with indefinite

useful lives

As of December 31, 2015, the Group reviewed the value of the Nutri-
cia and Milupa brands in accordance with the methodology and the
valuation model described above and on the basis of assumptions
based on those of the groups of CGUs concerned, while the Dumex
brand was valued on the basis of the disposal agreement (see Note
6.2 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements].

This review did not result in the recognition of any impairment
provisions.

In addition, analysis of the sensitivity of the value in use to the key
assumptions was carried out on each of these other main brands.
The key assumptions involved in the valuation model used by the
Group are (i) the growth in Net sales, [ii] the royalty rate, (iii] the
long-term growth rate used to calculate the terminal value, and
liv) the discount rate. The following changes, deemed reasonably
possible, in the key assumptions do not alter the findings of the
impairment review, i.e. the absence of any impairment:

NOTE 10. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY, NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

® 100 bps decrease in Net sales (decrease applied, each year, to
the assumptions concerning growth in Net sales, including the
final year, on the basis of the 2015 projections);

e 50bpsdecreaseinthe royalty rate (decrease applied, each year,
to the assumptions concerning royalty rate, including the final
year, on the basis of the 2015 projections);

® 50 bps decrease in the long-term growth rate;
e 50 bpsincrease inthe discount rate.

Other brands with indefinite useful lives

As of December 31, 2015, following the impairment review of the
other brands with indefinite useful lives, the Group recognized
impairment provisions on certain brands in the Fresh Dairy Products,
Waters and Early Life Nutrition Divisions in an aggregate amount
of €125 million, which was recorded under Other operating income
(expense] for the period.

As of December 31, 2014, following the impairment review of the
other brands with indefinite useful lives, the Group did not recognize
any impairment provision.

NOTE 10. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY, NET DEBT AND COST

OF NET DEBT
Note 10.1. Accounting principles

Financing

Debtinstruments are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet
(i) under the amortized cost method, using their effective interest
rate, or (i) at their fair value.

When the fairvalue risk of a debtis hedged by a derivative, the change
in fair value of the hedged component of said debt is recognized in
the consolidated balance sheet, with the counterpart to the entry
being to the heading Other financial income (expense), which the-
reby offsets the change in fair value of the derivative instrument.

When future cash flows of a debt are hedged by a derivative, the
change in the fair value of the effective portion of the derivative
hedging said debt is recognized in the consolidated balance sheet,
with the counterpart to the entry being to consolidated equity, and
isrecycledto profit or loss when the hedged item (the interest flows
relating to the hedged debt) impacts the consolidated net income.

Short-term investments
Short-terminvestments comprise marketable securities and other
short-term investments.

Marketable securities comprise highly liquid instruments with short
maturities that are easily convertible into a known amount of cash.

Note 10.2. Liquidity risk and management policy

Risk identification

Danone does not use debt in either a recurring or a significant way
in connection with its operating activities. Operating cash flows are
generally sufficient to finance the Group’s business operations and
organic growth.

Danone may, however, take on additional debt to finance acquisi-
tions or, occasionally to manage its cash cycle, particularly when
dividends are paid to the Company’s shareholders.

Theyare measured as securities held for trading within the meaning
of IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and
are carried at their fair value.

Other short-term investments are measured at their fair value as
securities held for trading within the meaning of IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Changes in fair value of short-term investments are recognized
directly under the heading Interest income in the consolidated
income statement.

Translation of transactions denominated in foreign
currencies

At period-end, trade receivables and trade payables denominatedin
foreign currencies are translated using exchange rates on that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of
borrowings or otherinstruments denominated in foreign currencies
that are used to hedge long-term investments denominated in the
same currencies are recognized in consolidated equity under the
heading Cumulative translation adjustments.

The Company’s objective is always to keep this debt at a level enabling
it to maintain the flexibility of its financing sources.

Liquidity risk arises mainly from the maturities of its (i) interest-
bearing liabilities (bonds, bank debt, etc.], and (i) non-interest-bea-
ring liabilities (liabilities on put options granted to non-controlling
interests), and from payments on derivative instruments.

As part of its debt management strategy, Danone regularly seeks
new financing to refinance its existing debt.
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Inthose countries where centralized financing is not available, when
medium-term financing is unavailable and/or in the case of some
existing financing in a company prior to the acquisition by Danone
of a controlling interest in it, Danone is exposed to liquidity risk
involving limited amounts in those countries.

More generally, it is possible that in the context of a systemic
financial crisis, Danone may not be able to access the financing or
refinancing it needs on the credit or capital markets, or to access
such finance on satisfactory terms, which could have an adverse
impact on its financial situation.

In addition, Danone’s ability to access financing and its interest
expense could depend in parton its credit rating by financial rating
agencies. The Company’'s short- and long-term debt ratings and any
potential deterioration could result in higher financing costs and
affect its access to financing.

Lastly, most of the financing agreements entered into by the Com-
pany (bank lines of credit and bonds] include a change of control
provision, which offers creditors a right of early repayment in the
event a change in control of the Company causes its rating by the
financial rating agencies to fall below investment grade.

Risk monitoring and management

Underits refinancing policy, Danone reduces its exposure to finan-
cing risk by (i) centralizing its financing sources, (i) borrowing from
diversified financing sources, (iii) arranging a significant portion of
its financing as medium-term financing, (iv] maintaining financing
sources available at all times, and [v] ensuring that it is not subject
toany covenantrelative to maintaining financial ratios in connection
with financing contracts.

Inthose countries where centralized financing is not available, when
medium-term financing is unavailable and/or in the case of some
existing financing in a company prior to the acquisition by Danone
of a controlling interest in it, certain Group companies may, for
operational reasons, be required to borrow from local sources.
From a Group perspective, the amounts borrowed are relatively
small, whether considered individually or in total, given the level
of operating cash flow that is generally sufficient to finance their
operations and organic growth.

Use of its financing sources

The Group’s policy consists of keeping its financing sources available
and managing them at the Company level. The Group may need to
use (i) its commercial paper program and syndicated credit facility
to manage its cash cycle, notably when paying out the dividend to
Danone shareholders, and [ii] alternatively, its commercial paper
and EMTN programs or its syndicated credit facility to optimize its
financing cost while still ensuring its financial security, such that
the maturity and currency of its financing raised may vary without
changing the net debt level or the Group’s financial security.

Nate 10.3. Group's financing and financial security situation managed at the Company Level

and changes during the period

Structure of the Group’s main financing and its financial security

As of December 31

2014 2015

(in € millions, except bond issued

in the United States in USD millions) Principal amount

Amount used Principal amount Amount used !

Bank financing @
Syndicated credit facility ® 2,000
Committed credit facilities ¢ 3,400

Capital markets financing @

EMTN financing @ (e 9,000
Bond issued in the United States N/A
Commercial paper (Billets de trésorerie) 3,000

- 2,000 =

- 3,400 =
6,691 9,000 8,262
850 N/A 850
1,068 3,000 974

(a) The Group's financial structure and financial security are managed at the Company level.

[b) Syndicated credit facility (revolving) maturing in December 2019.

(c] A portfolio of back-up facilities entered into with major credit institutions, with maturities ranging from 2015 to 2018.

(d) Bonds issued by the Company are disclosed on the Group's website.
(e) Euro Medium Term Notes.

(f) Amounts are expressed in € except amounts related to the bond issued in the United Sates, which are expressed in USD.
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Main financing transactions in 2015

Year ended December 31

2015
Nominal
Currency (in millions of currency) Maturity
New financing
Euro bond issued under the EMTN program EUR 550 2020
Euro bond issued under the EMTN program EUR 750 2025
Euro bond issued under the EMTN program EUR 750 2024
Repayment
Euro bond issued under the EMTN program EUR 604 2015

Main financing transactions in 2014

Year ended December 31

2014
Nominal
Currency (in millions of currency) Maturity
New financing
Euro bond issued under the EMTN program EUR 150 2019
Renewal
Syndicated credit facility @ EUR 2,000 2019
Repayment
Euro bond issued under the EMTN program EUR 618 2014
(a) Multi-currency revolving credit facility implemented in July 2011, renewed in December 2014.
Carrying amount of bond financial debt and change during the period
2014 2015
(in € millions) Non-current portion Current portion Non-current portion Current portion
As of January 1 6,460 618 6,087 603
Bond issues 150 - 2,050 -
Repayments - (618) - (603)
Impact of exchange rate changes 81 - 110 15
Non-current portion becoming current (603) 603 (696) 696
As of December 31 6,087 603 7,551 71
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NOTE 10. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY, NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT
Repayment schedule for financial debt managed at the Company level and put options granted
to non-controlling interests

Projected cash outflows related to the contractual repayment of the principal amount based on the assumption of non-renewal

[in € millions]

2,000 -
1,000 -
1,187
- Bond financing
- Commercial paper (Billets de trésorerie
0 Liabilities related to put options
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Projected cash outflows related to the contractual repayment of interest on the financial assets and liabilities managed
at the Company level, including premiums to be paid on derivative financial instruments based on the assumption of non-renewal

Cash flows Cash flows Cash flows Cash flows Cash flows
(in € millions) 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 and after
Interest on debt (@ (121) (109) (95) (85) (189)
Flows on derivatives @ bl (c] 5 32 2 2 5

(al The floating interest rates are calculated on the basis of the rates applicable as of December 31, 2015.
[b) Net contractual flows, including premiums payable, net flows payable or receivable relating to the exercise of options in the money at year-end.
(c) Concerns derivative instruments on net debt, assets and liabilities.

Sources of financing available at any time
The sources of financing available at any time established by the Group are composed mainly of available committed credit facilities and
a syndicated credit facility carried by the Company.

[in € millions]

4,000 ---

2000 HHHH

2015 016 2017 2018 2019

- Syndicated credit facility

Committed credit facilities
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NOTE 10. FINANCING AND FINANCIAL SECURITY, NET DEBT AND COST OF NET DEBT

Company rating
As of December 31

2014 2015
Moody's Standard and Poor's Moody's Standard and Poor's
Short-term rating @
Rating - A-2 = A-2
Long-term rating ® (¢
Rating Baal © A- Baalld A-
Outlook Stable Negative (@ Stable Negative [

(a) Rating given to the Company’s commercial paper program

[b) Rating on the Company’s debt with a maturity of more than one year.
(c] Rating lowered on December 13, 2014.

(d) Outlook attributed on December 23, 2014.

Note 104 Short-term investments

Carrying amount

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2014 2015
Money market funds 1,838 2,003
Bank deposits, negotiable debt instruments and other short-

term investments 479 512
Total 2,317 2,514

Counterparty risk in respect of short-term investments

The Group invests primarily in money market funds (French SICAV monétaires) or short-term money market funds (French SICAV moné-
taires court terme), which are highly liquid, diversified and not rated.

Bank deposits, negotiable debt instruments and other short-term instruments are subscribed from first-tier financial institutions.

Note 10.5. Net debt

As of December 31

(in € millions)

2014 2015
Non-current financial debt 6,598 8,087
Current financial debt 4,544 2,991
Short-term investments (2,317) (2,514)
Cash and cash equivalents (880) (519)
Derivatives - assets - Non-current (153) (125)
Derivatives - assets - Current (28) (120)
Net debt 7,764 7,799
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Change in net debt in 2015
Danone’s net debt was stable relative to 2014, as operating cash
flows made it possible to finance the acquisitions carried out in 2015.

Netdebtincludes €862 million in put options granted to non-control-
ling interests. The liability related to these options decreased by
€1,696 million relative to December 31, 2014. This change reflects
in particular the acquisition of 15.7% of Danone Spain’s share capi-
tal and the exercise of put options by certain shareholders of the
Danone-Unimilk combined entity.

Note 10.6. Cost of net debt

Accounting principles

Cost of net debt comprises mainly interest charges (calculated at
the effective interest rate) on currentand non-current financing and
the effects of the derivatives relating to said financing.

Interest income comprises mainly interest received and, if appli-
cable, the effects of the measurement at fair value through profit or
loss of the short-term investments and cash and cash equivalents.

The related cash flows are presented within Cash flows provided
by (used in) operating activities.

Change in net debt in 2014

Net debt stood at €7,764 million as of December 31, 2014, including
€2,558 millionin put options granted to non-controlling shareholders.
The debt represented by these options was down €686 million from
December 31, 2013 due in particular to Danone’s increased equity
interest in Centrale Danone (Morocco) in 2014.

Excluding put options for non-controlling shareholders, the Group’s
net financial debt stood at €5,206 million, up €484 million from
December31,2013. The rise was linked mainly to acquisitions made
by Danone in the course of 2014, including its increased stake in
Centrale Danone (Morocco) and Mengniu (Chinal, and its acquisition
of an interest in Brookside (Kenyal.

Cost of net debt in 2015

Cost of net debt declined despite higher net financial debt than in
2014. This decline was linked in particular to lower interest rates
and the benefits of bond issues that enabled Danone to extend the
average maturity of its debt at favorable market conditions.

Cost of net debt in 2014

Cost of net debt declined despite higher net financial debt than in
2013. This decline was linked in particular to lower interest rates
and the benefits of bond issues that enabled the Group to extend
the average maturity of its debt at favorable market conditions.

Note 10.7. Financial risks associated with the financing activity

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk exposure

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its financial liabilities as
wellasits cash and cash equivalents. Through its interest-bearing
debt, the Group is exposed to the risk of interest rate fluctuations
that affect the amount of its financial expense.

In addition, in accordance with IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Reco-
gnition and Measurement, interest rate fluctuations may have an
impactonthe Group's consolidated results and consolidated equity.

The Group has implemented a policy to monitor and manage this
interest rate risk for the purpose of limiting the volatility of its net
financialincome or expense through the use of hedging instruments.

These derivatives are mainly interest rate swaps and sometimes
collars. All these instruments are plain vanilla. The interest rate
derivatives are contracted for the purpose of managing interest
rate risk and are either eligible to be used as hedges or not in
accordance with IAS 39.
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Sensitivity of net income to changes in the cost of net debt
resulting from changes in the short-term interest rate
Sensitivity to interest rate changes reflects the following factors:

® financial debt net of short-term investments, cash and cash
equivalents. It excludes the financial liabilities related to put
options granted to non-controlling interests as these are not
interest-bearing;

® active interest rate hedges as of December 31.
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Hedged and unhedged portion of net debt in respect
of an increase in short-term interest rates

Fixed and floating rate net debt breakdown

- Fixed rate

Floating rate
2014 2015

NOTE 11. OTHER FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS, OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE)

Sensitivity of the cost of net debt to a change in the short-term
interest rate

In 2015 as in 2014, the impact of a change in short-term interest
rates would not have a significant impact on the cost of the Group's
net debt.

Financial currency risk

Due to its international presence, the Group could be exposed
to foreign exchange rate fluctuations in relation to its financing
activities: in application of its risk centralization policy, the Group
manages multi-currency financings and liquidities.

Inapplication of its financial currency risk hedging policy, the Group's
residual exposure (after hedging) is not material.

As part of these policies, the Group uses cross-currency swaps as
described in Note 12.4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

NOTE 11 OTHER FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS, OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME

(EXPENSE)

Note 11.1 Accounting principles

Investments in other non-consolidated companies
Investments in other non-consolidated companies are measured as
available-for-sale investments within the meaning of IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. They are recognized at
fair value in the consolidated balance sheet, with changes in fair
value recognized under consolidated equity in Accumulated other
comprehensive income, except for unrealized losses that are consi-
dered to be significant or prolonged, which are recognized directly
in profit or loss in Other financial income (expense).

Fair value
For listed companies, fair value is assessed according to the stock
price as of the end of the period.

For unlisted companies, fair value is assessed based on recent
transactions entered into with third parties, put or call options
negotiated with third parties or external appraisals.

When such elements do not exist, the fair value of investments in
unlisted companies is deemed to be equivalent to the acquisition
cost of the investments.

Gains or losses on disposal of non-consolidated investments are
recognized under the heading Other financial income (expense) in
the consolidated income statement.

Other long-term financial assets

Otherlong-term financial assets mainly comprise bonds and money-
market funds and security deposits required by the tax regulations
of certain countries in which the Group operates.

Bondsand money-market funds are classified as available-for-sale
financial assets within the meaning of IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. They are recognized at fairvalue in the
consolidated balance sheet, with changes in fair value recognized
under consolidated equity in Accumulated other comprehensive
income, except for unrealized losses that are considered to be
significant or prolonged, which are recognized directly in profit or
lossin Otherfinancialincome (expense). Their fairvalue is calculated
on the basis of listed prices on active markets.

Long-term loans

Long-term loans are measured at amortized cost using the effec-
tive interest rate method within the meaning of IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
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Note 11.Z. Other financial investments

Main changes during the period

2015 transactions
The Group did not carry out any material transactions.

2014 transactions

The Group's equity interest in the Mengniu group (Fresh Dairy Products, Chinal, acquired in 2013, has been accounted for as an associate
since January 1, 2014 (see Note 4.4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Carrying amount

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Investments in non-consolidated companies 92 70

Bonds and money-market funds @ 123 124

danone.communities 20 13
Other® 68 52
Other long-term financial assets 210 189
Long-term loans 17 15
Other financial assets 228 204
Of which, unrealized capital gain (loss]'® 42 17

(al Bonds and money-market funds held as the counterpart to certain “"damage and personal protection” provisions.
[b) Comprises mainly security deposits required by the tax regulations of some countries in which the Group operates.
[c] Pre-tax amount, recognized under consolidated equity in Accumulated other comprehensive income.

Note 11.3. Other financial income and other financial expense

Accounting principles

Other financial income and other financial expense correspond
to financial income and expense other than income and expenses
related to netfinancial debt. Theyinclude, in particular, the following:

e the ineffective portion of the hedges, in particular hedges of
currency risk related to operations in accordance with IAS 39,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement;

® theimpactoftheaccretion of the presentvalue of commitments
net of the expected return on plan assets of retirement commit-
ments and other long-term benefits;

® bank commissions, including commissions for the non-use of
committed credit facilities (recognized in Other financial expensel;

® gainsorlossesondisposals of Investmentsin other non-conso-
lidated companies and Other long-term financial assets.

Change in other financial income (expense) in 2015
Other financial income [expense) was stable in 2015 relative to the
previous year.

Change in other financial income (expense) in 2014
The change in other financialincome and expense resulted primarily
from the exceptionally high basis for comparison in 2013, which
included a capital gain relating to Danone’s disposal of its interest
in SNI as part of the takeover of Centrale Danone (Morocco).

NOTE 12 ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES

MANAGEMENT

Note 12.1. Organization of financial risks management

As partofits normal business, the Group is exposed to financial risks,
especially foreign currency, financing and liquidity, interest rate,
counterparty risks, securities-related risks and commodity risks.

The Group's policy consists of (i) minimizing and managing the
impact that its exposure to financial market risks could have on its
results and, to a lesser extent, on its balance sheet, (i) monitoring
and managing such exposure centrally, (i) whenever the regulatory
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and monetary frameworks so allow, executing the financial tran-
sactions locally or centrally, and (iv) using derivative instruments
only for the purpose of economic hedging.

Through its Treasury and Financing Department, which is part of the
Group Finance Department, the Group possesses the expertise and
tools [trading room, front and back office software] to act on different
financial markets following the standards generally implemented by
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first-tier companies. In addition, the Internal Control and Internal
Audit Departments review the organization and procedures applied.
Lastly, amonthly treasury and financing reportis sent to the Group
Finance Department, enabling it to monitor the decisions taken to
implement the previously approved management strategies.

Note 12.1. Accounting principles

Derivatives are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at
their fair value:

® derivatives used to manage net debt and hedges of net invest-
ments in foreign operations are recognized in the financial debt
or current and non-current asset lines;

® foreign exchange derivativesrelated to operations are recognized
inthe heading Derivatives —assets within Other receivablesorin
the heading Derivatives - liabilities within Other current liabilities

When derivatives are designated as fair value hedges of assets or
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, changes in the fair
value of both the derivatives and the hedged items are recognized
in profit or loss in the same period.

NOTE 12. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

The Groupisalso exposedto price volatilityand to a potential shortage
of the commodities that it purchases, mainly to produce its finished
products. To manage this exposure, the Group has implemented a
commodity purchasing policy (Market Risk Management). This policy
as well as the impact of a price change in the two main commodity
categories on the Group’s annual cost of purchases are presented
in Note 5.7 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

When derivatives are designated as hedges of net investments in
foreign operations, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are
recognized in equity under Cumulative translation adjustments.

When derivatives are designated as future cash flow hedges, changes
in the value of the effective portion of the derivative are recognized
in equity under Accumulated other comprehensive income. This
effective portion is recycled to profit or loss, in the same heading,
when the hedged item itself is recognized in profit or loss. However,
changes in the value of the ineffective portions of derivatives are
recognized directly in profit or loss, in the heading Other financial
income (expense). Changes in the fair value of derivative financial
instruments that do not meet the conditions for classification as
hedginginstruments are recognized directly in profit or loss for the
period, in a heading within operating income or financial income
depending on the nature of the hedge.

Note 12.3. Derivatives used to hedge operational currency risk

The Group's policy is to hedge its highly probable commercial
transactions so that, as of December 31, its residual exposure
in respect of the whole of the following fiscal year is significantly
reduced. However, when the hedging conditions of certain currencies
have deteriorated (less availability, high cost, etc.), the Group may
be required to limit the hedging of its highly probable commercial
transactions inits currencies, by not hedging or only partially hed-
ging the exposure. The Group uses forward currency contracts and
currency options to reduce its exposure.

The execution of the hedging policy for currency risk related to
operations consists of providing the necessary hedges to subsi-

diaries through a centralized management system, or, in the case
of subsidiaries where such hedges are legally prohibited, through
a monitoring and control process.

The Group mainly applies cash flow hedge accounting.

Based on pending transactions as of December 31, 2015, the Group's
residual exposure after hedging of exchange risks on its highly pro-
bable commercial operating transactions is significantly reduced
for 2016, the main currencies partially hedged being the Russian
ruble, the Brazilian real and the Turkish lira.

Portfolio of foreign exchange derivative instruments related to operations

Notional and fair value amounts

As of December 31

2014 2015

Of which, Of which,

recognized recognized

(in € millions) Notional Fair value in equity @ Notional Fair value in equity @
Forward contracts (1,366) 5 20 (1,154) 33 47
Currency options (167) (3] - (222) 2 4
Total (1,532) 2 20 (1,376) 35 51

(a] Amount recorded in equity in respect of instruments designated as cash flow hedges.
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Net notional amount of derivative instruments on principal hedged currencies
As of December 31

2014 2015

Forward Currency Forward Currency

contracts, options, contracts, options,
lin € millions] net @ net® Total net @ net ® Total

(Sales)/Purchases of currencies

GBP (505) (131) (636) (485) (167) (652)
usD e 341 (27) 314 408 (39) 369
MXN (¢} (138) - (138) (137) - (137)
BRL (143) - (143) (117) = (117)
AUD© (66) - (66) (115) = (115)
RUB (36) - (36) (88) - (88)
Other!c (819) (8) (827) (620) (17) (636)
Total (1,366) (166) (1,532) (1,153) (223) (1,376)

(a) Spot portion of notional amount, based on closing rates.
(b) Spot portion of notional amount, includes in- and out-of-the-money options.
(c] Transactions denominated with the EUR or other currencies as counterpart.

Sensitivity of equity and net income to changes in fair value
A change in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments hedging the operating currency risk, induced by a change in foreign
exchange rates, could impact the Group’s equity and net income. The impact recognized in profit or loss relates to:

® the time value and swap point variations, when they are excluded from the hedging relationship;
® transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied.

Sensitivity to a change in the euro against currencies with exchange rate exposure

As of December 31

2014 2015
Equity Gain (loss) Equity Gain (loss)

10% increase in EUR !
GBP 54 (1) 59 (2)
usD ) 11 (6) (2) -
MXN (&) - - 1 -
BRL[® 3 1 2 1
AUD ) b - 10 -
RUB ) - _ 6 _

10% decrease in EUR @
GBP (56) (2] (60 (4)
usD o) (14) 8 4 (1)
MXN (b) _ _ (1 —
BRL ) (4) (1) (3] (1)
AUD ) (7) - (12) =
RUB () - - (8) -

(a) Increase/decrease in EUR applied to transactions that are outstanding and at constant interest rate volatility.
(b) Transactions denominated with the EUR or other currencies as counterpart. In the case of transactions denominated in currencies other than the EUR, the
increase or decrease in the EUR is applied to the base currency and the secondary currency.

These instruments and the hedged items typically have maturities of less than one year. Consequently the cash flows related to these
instruments will, for the most part, be recognized in the consolidated income statement in 2016.
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Gains and losses related to fair value changes
recognized in profit or loss

Gains and losses recognized in profit or loss involve the following
items:

e theineffective portion, during the year, of the change in fairvalue
of instruments designated as cash flow hedges: in 2015 as in
2014, the amounts are not material;

NOTE 12. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

® the effective portion deferred in equity the previous year of
instruments designated as cash flow hedges and recycled to
income during the year: in 2015 as in 2014, the amount recycled
corresponded to the portion of hedges recorded in equity as of
December 31 of the previous year, with these hedges having for
the most part a maturity of less than one year.

Note 12.4. Derivatives used to hedge currency and transtation risk on net assets

The Group has established a policy for monitoring and hedging the
net situation of certain subsidiaries, with regular assessments of
risks and opportunities to use hedging instruments.

The Group's policy consists of maintaining the debtor and/or surplus
cash positions of Danone and its subsidiaries in their respective

functional currencies. Furthermore, in compliance with its policy
of managing risks centrally, the Group may manage multi-currency
borrowings and surplus cash.

As part of these policies, the Group therefore uses cross-currency
swaps.

Notional amount and fair value amount

As of December 31

2014 2015

Of which, Of which,

recognized recognized

(in € millions] Notional Fair value in equity Notional Fair value in equity
Fair value hedge 138 59 - 138 74 -
Cash flow hedge 682 9 9 682 94 14
Net investment hedge 240 92 92 132 61 61
No hedge accounting applied @ 157 (10) - 153 (22) -
Total 1,217 150 101 1,105 207 75

(a) For currency risk related to financing and to net investment in foreign operations, hedge accounting might not be applied to minor amounts. In such cases,
both the derivative and the underlying are revalued and the change in value is recorded in the consolidated income statement.

Sensitivity of equity and net income to changes in fair value

A change in the fair value of these derivative financial instruments induced by a change in foreign exchange rates at the reporting date
would not have a significant impact on the Group’s equity or net income. Changes in the foreign exchange rates of the financial instru-
ments are offset by changes in the foreign exchange rates on loans and borrowings in hedged currencies or on net foreign investments.
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NOTE

17. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

Note 12.5. Derivatives used to hedge interest rate risk

The Group has implemented a policy to monitor and manage interest rate risk for the purpose of limiting the volatility of its net financial
income or expense through the use of hedging instruments.

These derivatives are mainly interest rate swaps and sometimes collars. All these instruments are plain vanilla. The interest rate derivatives
are contracted for the purpose of managing interest rate risk and are either eligible to be used as hedges or notin accordance with IAS 39.

Fair value
As of December 31
2014 2015
Of which, recorded Of which, recorded
(in € millions) Fair value in equity Fair value in equity
Cash flow hedge (2) (2) (2) (2)
Fair value hedge - - (3) -
No hedge accounting applied 1 - = =
Total n (2) (5) (2)
Sensitivity of equity and net income to changes Gains and losses related to fair value changes
in fair value and shown through profit or loss
A change in the fair value of interest rate derivatives induced by a Gains and losses shown through profit or loss are related to:

change in theyield curve recognized as of the reporting date would
have the following impact on the Group’s equity and net income:

impacts recognized in equity relate to the effective portion of the
instruments eligible to be used as hedges of future cash flows;

impacts recognized in profitor loss relate to the ineffective portion
of the instruments eligible to be used as hedges of future cash
flows, as well as to the impact of the change in fair value of the
instruments not qualifying as hedges.

Sensitivity to a change applied to the entire yield curve
In 2015 as in 2014, a rate change applied to the yield curve would

not
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have a material impact on consolidated equity or net income.
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the ineffective portion, during the year, of the change in fairvalue
of instruments designated as cash flow hedges;

the effective portion deferred in equity the previous year of
instruments designated as cash flow hedges and recycled to
income during the year.

In 2015 as in 2014, the corresponding amounts are not material.
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Note 12.6. Counterparty risk

Counterparty risk inherent in financial risk
management

Risk identification
The Group is exposed to counterparty risk, especially on banking
counterparties, as part of its financial risk management activities.

As part of its normal activities, the Group has financial institutions
as counterparties, mainly to manage its cash and foreign exchange
rate and interest rate risks. The failure of these counterparties to
comply with one or more of their commitments could adversely
affect the Group's financial situation.

Risk management

The Group's overall exposure to counterparty risk has been signi-
ficantly reduced through the centralization of financial risks and
implementation of centralization applications as well as its cash
management policy of minimizing and managing surpluses.

Exposure related to derivative instruments

NOTE 12. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

The Group’s banking policy aims to apply deposit limits per counter-
party and emphasize the importance of its credit rating quality by
concentrating its transactions among first-tier counterparties that
(i) have credit ratings at least in the Single A category; [ii) possess
international branch networks and (i) provide it with financing.
Moreover, in order to invest its short-term surpluses, the Group
mainly invests in either money-market funds (SICAV monétaires) or
short-term money-market funds (SICAV monétaires court terme),
which are not rated. These funds are very liquid and diversified.
The other short-term investments are made in accordance with
the Group's above-mentioned banking policy.

Finally, in certain countries, the Group may be obliged to conduct
transactions with local banks that have lower credit ratings.

Exposure related to short-term investments
See Note 10.4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31

(as a percentage of the total fair value as of December 31) @ 2014 2015
Counterparty rating (Standard & Poor's)

AAA, AAand A 79% 77%
BBB, BB and B 21% 23%
Unrated - =

(a) Total, when positive, of fair values of outstanding derivatives by counterparty as of December 31.

Fair value associated with derivatives counterparty risk

The valuation associated with derivatives counterparty risk is calculated on the basis of historical default probabilities derived from the
calculations of a leading rating agency, to which a recovery rate is applied. As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the impact

associated with the adjustment required by IFRS 13 is not material.

Note 12.7. Securities risk

As of December 31

(in € millions) Notes 2014 2015
Risk on Company shares

Treasury shares and DANONE call options @ 13.3 1,859 1,707
Risk on other shares

Investments in associates 4 2,146 2,882
Other non-consolidated investments 11.2 92 70

(a) DANONE call options acquired by the Company.
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NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION OF FINANCIAL RISKS AND DERIVATIVES MANAGEMENT

Note 12.8. Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheet by class and accounting category

Assets Assets Loans Liabilities Liabilities at

recorded at available andrecei- recordedat amortized Carrying Fair Fair value
(in € millions) fair value for sale vables fair value cost amount value level
As of December 31, 2015
Financial assets
Investments in other
non-consolidated companies - 70 - - - 70 70 =8
Long-term loans and other
long-term financial assets - 189 15 - - 204 204 1-3
Derivatives - assets @ 245 - - - - 245 245 2
Trade receivables ® - - 2,230 - - 2,230 2,230 -
Other current assets [®) 70 - 959 - - 1,029 1,029 -
Short-term loans - - 40 - - 40 40 -
Money market funds 2,003 - - - - 2,003 2,003 1
Other short-term investments 512 - - - - 512 512 2
Cash and cash equivalents 519 - - - - 519 519 1
Carrying amount of financial
assets by category 3,350 259 3,244 - - 6,852 6,852
Financial liabilities
Financing - - - 986 9,223 10,209 11,379 2
Derivatives - liabilities @ - - - 7 - 7 7 2
Liabilities related to put options
granted to non-controlling
interests - - - 862 - 862 862 3
Trade payables ! - - - 3,334 3,334 3,334 -
Other current liabilities ) - - - 33 2,826 2,859 2,859 -
Carrying amount of financial
liabilities by category - - - 1,888 15,383 17,271 18,441
As of December 31, 2014
Financial assets
Investments in other
non-consolidated companies - 92 - - - 92 92 1-3
Long-term loans and other
long-term financial assets - 201 26 - - 228 228 1-3
Derivatives - assets @ 181 - 181 181 2
Trade receivables®) - 1,900 - - 1,900 1,900 -
Other current assets ) 86 - 400 - - 486 486 -
Short-term loans - 30 - - 30 30 -
Money market funds 1,838 - - - - 1,838 1,838 1
Other short-term investments 479 - - - - 479 479 2
Cash and cash equivalents 880 - - - - 880 880 1
Carrying amount of financial
assets by category 3,464 293 2,356 - - 6,113 6,113
Financial liabilities -
Financing - - - 213 8,356 8,569 8,835 2
Derivatives - liabilities @ - - - 14 - 14 14 2
Liabilities related to put options
granted to non-controlling
interests - - - 2,558 - 2,558 2,558 3
Trade payables ! - - - - 3,334 3,334 3,334 -
Other current liabilities ) - - - 169 2,572 2,741 2,741 -
Carrying amount of financial
liabilities by categories - - - 3,621 13,595 17,217 17,468

(a) Derivative instruments used to manage net debt.
[b) The carrying amount corresponds to the fair value given the short-term nature of these items.

[c] Valuation hierarchy used to assess fair value.
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Valuation hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 7,
Financial instruments - Disclosures

Level 1
Fair value is based on (unadjusted] prices listed on active markets
foridentical assets and liabilities.

Level 2

Fair value is based on data other than listed prices as per level 1,
which are observable for the asset or liability concerned, directly
orindirectly.

NOTE 13. DANONE SHARES, DIVIDEND, EARNINGS PER SHARE

Level 3
Fair value is based on data relating to the asset or liability which
are not based on observable data on active markets.

For asset and liability derivative instruments recognized at fair
value, the Group uses measurement techniques that include data
observable on the market, notably for interest rate swaps, forward
purchasesand sales or currency options. The modelintegrates diverse
data such as spot and forward exchange rates and the yield curve.

For put options granted to non-controlling interests, the value is
based on contractual terms.

NOTE 13 DANONE SHARES, DIVIDEND, EARNINGS PER SHARE

Note 131 Accounting principles

DANONE shares

DANONE shares held by the Company and its fully-consolidated
subsidiaries are recognized as a reduction in consolidated equity,
under the heading Treasury shares and DANONE call options, and
are measured at effective cost.

DANONE call options
DANONE call options are options held by the Company to purchase
DANONE shares to hedge certain of its stock-option plans granted

to certain employees and corporate officers. They do not constitute
financial assets but are instead equity instruments in accordance
with IAS 32, Financialinstruments: Presentation. They are recognized
upon acquisition as a deduction from consolidated equity, under
the heading Treasury shares and DANONE call options. They are
measured at effective cost, i.e. the premium paid plus transaction
expense, and are not subsequently remeasured.

Note 13.2. Transactions and changes involving DANONE shares

2015 changes involving treasury shares in terms of transactions and use according

to the Company’s purpose

Changes during the period

Delivery Delivery

As of Exercise following of Group As of
(number of shares, December 31, of DANONE Sales/ exercise of performance December 31,
except percentages) 2014 Buybacks call options Transfers stock options shares 2015
Acquisition transactions 30,769,360 - - - - - 30,769,360
Liquidity agreements - 602,195 - (602,195) - - -
Hedging of performance
shares and stock-options 7,163,935 - 622,885 - (4,142,353) (467,657) 3,176,810
Cancellation of shares - - - - - - -
Shares held by the Company 37,933,295 - - - - - 33,946,170
Shares held by Danone Spain 5,780,005 - - - - - 5,780,005
Total shares held by the Group 43,713,300 602,195 622,885 (602,195) (4,142,353) (467,657) 39,726,175
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NOTE 13. DANONE SHARES, DIVIDEND, EARNINGS PER SHARE

2015 changes involving DANONE call options, in terms of transactions

Changes during the period

(number of shares, As of As of
except percentage] December 31, 2014 Acquisitions Expired options Exercises December 31,2015
DANONE call options held
by the Company
Number of call options 998,621 - - [622,885) 375,736
Percentage of the Company’'s
share capital as of December 31 0.2% 0.1%
Note 13.3 Qutstanding DANONE shares

2014 2015

Treasury Treasury

(number of shares) Notes Share capital shares  Outstanding Share capital shares  Outstanding
As of January 1 631,028,000 (44,608, 414) 586,419,586 643,792,000 (43,713,300) 600,078,700
Dividend in shares 13.5 11,932,014 - 11,932,014 10,321,148 - 10,321,148
Other capital increases 7.5 831,986 - 831,986 838,052 - 838,052
Change in DANONE treasury
shares and call options 13.2 - 895,114 895,114 - 3,987,125 3,987,125
As of December 31 643,792,000 (43,713,300) 600,078,700 654,951,200  (39,726,175) 615,225,025

Note 134. Earnings per share - Group share

Accounting principles

Earnings per share correspond to the ratio of Net income - Group
share divided by the Number of shares. The Number of shares
corresponds to the average number of outstanding shares during
the year, after deducting the treasury shares held by the Company
and its fully-consolidated subsidiaries.

Earnings per share after dilution (or diluted earnings per share)
correspond to the ratio of Netincome - Group share divided by the
Diluted number of shares. The Diluted number of shares corres-
ponds to the Number of shares increased by the net impact, when
it is positive, of the following two elements:

® the increase in the weighted average number of shares that
would result from:
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e the exercise of stock-options, taking into account only those
options in the money on the basis of the average price during
the reference period,

e the acquisition of Group performance shares, taking into
account only those shares whose performance conditions
are met as of the closing date,

® the reduction in the number of shares that could theoretically
be acquired.

In accordance with the treasury stock method specified by IAS 33,
Earnings per Share.

Diluted earnings per share do not take into account DANONE call
options held by the Company.
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Earnings per share

NOTE 13. DANONE SHARES, DIVIDEND, EARNINGS PER SHARE

Year ended December 31

(in € per share, except for the number of shares) Notes 2014 2015
Net income - Group share 1,119 1,282
Number of outstanding shares
As of January 1 586,419,586 600,078,700
Effect of changes during the year 13.3 13,659,114 15,146,325
As of December 31 600,078,700 615,225,025
Average number of outstanding shares
¢ Before dilution 594,472,798 609,647,527
Dilutive impact
Dividend in shares 776,192 394,921
Group performance shares 287,338 112,794
Other capital increase - =
e After dilution 595,536,328 610,155,241
Netincome - Group share, per share
¢ Before dilution 1.88 2.10
o After dilution 1.88 2.10

Note 13.5 Dividend

Distributable reserves of the parent company
Danone

The legally distributable reserves of subsidiaries and associated
companies may differ from their reported retained earnings as
a consequence of (i] consolidation adjustments applied to their
separate financial statements, and (ii] the laws applicable in the
countries where the Group operates.

In the case of the Group, under French law, dividends can only be
paid out of the netincome for the year and the distributable reserves
of the parent company Danone.

Payment of the 2014 dividend with the option
of a payment in shares

The Shareholders’ Meeting on April 29, 2015 in Paris approved the
dividend proposed with respect to the 2014 fiscalyear, i.e. €1.50 per
share, and decided that each shareholder could decide to receive
the dividend payment in cash or DANONE shares.

The option period was open from Thursday May 7, 2015 to Thursday
May 21, 2015, inclusive. The issue price of new shares distributed
as payment for the dividend was €57.26. It corresponds to 90% of
the average opening price listed on Euronext during the 20 market
trading days priorto the date of the Shareholders Meeting, less the
amount of the dividend and rounded to the next highest euro cent. The
settlementand delivery of the shares and theiradmission to trading
on Euronextoccurred on June 3, 2015. These shares carry dividend
rights as of January 1, 2015 and are fungible with existing shares.

A total of 65.95% of the rights were exercised in favor of the 2014
dividend payment in shares.

Year ended December 31, 2015

Consolidated cash flow

Number of Consolidated used in financing

(in € millions except for the number of shares) outstanding shares equity transactions
Portion paid in newly issued shares @ 10,321,148 - -
Portion paid in cash - 314 314
Total 10,321,148 314 314

[a) Or 1.60% of Danone’s share capital based on the capital as of April 30, 2015.
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NOTE 14. OTHER NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES AND LEGAL AND ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS

NOTE T4 OTHER NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES
AND LEGAL AND ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS

Note 14.1. Accounting principles

Other non-current provisions and liabilities consist mainly of:
® provisions;
® investment subsidies.

Other non-current provisions and liabilities also include the short-
term portionduein lessthan oneyearsince itis deemed immaterial.

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation
to a third party and it is certain or probable that this obligation will
result in a net outflow of resources for the Group. The timing or
amount of the net outflow may be uncertain, but the amount must
be estimated in a reliable manner. A provision is reversed when it
no longer appears probable that the corresponding payment or an
outflow of resources will occur (provision not utilized).

Note 14.2. Carrying amount and change during the period

Changes during the period

As of As of

December 31, Reversal Translation December 31,

(in € millions) 2014 Increase Reversal [notutilized) differences Other 2015

Restructuring provisions 71 51 (26) (6) - - 90
Other provisions for risks

and charges 652 264 (79) (87) (15) (5] 730

Investment subsidies 14 1 - - - - 14

Total @ 737 316 (105) (93) (15) (6) 834

(a) The portion due in less than one year totaled €64 million as of December 31

Changes to Other non-current provisions and liabilities for 2015
were as follows:

® increases result primarily from lawsuits against the Company
and its subsidiaries in the normal course of business;

e reversals occur when corresponding payments are made or
when the risk is considered extinguished. Unused reversals
relate mainly to reassessments and situations where some
risks, notably tax risks, cease to exist;

® other changes correspond primarily to reclassifications and
changes in scope.

Note 14.3. Legal and arbitration proceedings

In general, the Company and its subsidiaries are parties to legal
proceedings arising inthe normal course of business, in particular
by competition authorities in certain countries. Provisions are reco-
gnized when an outflow of resources is probable and the amount
can be reliably estimated.

Proceedings related to the false alarm given
by Fonterra on certain ingredients supplied
to the Group in Asia in 2013

See Note 6.2 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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, 2015 (€45 million as of December 31, 2014).

As of December 31, 2015, Other provisions for risks and charges
consist mainly of provisions for legal, financial and tax risks as well
as provisions for multi-year variable compensation granted to some
employees, with these provisions established in the context of the
Group’s normal course of business.

Also as of this date, the Group believes thatitis not subject to risks
that could, individually, have a material impact on its financial
situation or profitability.

Proceedings related to the decision of the Spanish
National Authority for Markets and Competition
See Note 6.5 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Other proceedings

To the best of the Group’s knowledge, no other governmental, court
or arbitration proceedings are currently ongoing that are likely to
have, or have had in the past 12 months, a material impact on the
Group's financial position or profitability.
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NOTE 15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTE 15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Note 15.1. Accounting principles

The mainrelated parties are the associated companies and the members of the Executive Committee and members of the Board of Directors.

Note 15.2. Transactions with associates

Transactions with these companies are generally carried out at arm’s length. They mainly involve:

® management fees and royalties paid to the Group;
® services. mainly logistics;
® financing.

As in 2014, the amounts pertaining to 2015 are not material.

Note 15.3. Compensation and benefits granted to members of the Executive Committee

and Board of Directors

Compensation paid

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Compensation paid to corporate officers and members

of the Executive Committee @ 13.4 16.5
Attendance fees paid to Directors ©) 0.6 0.6
Total 14.0 171
Severance pay 2.1 -
Carrying amount of shares subject to performance

conditions granted during the year 9.1 8.2

(al Annual and multi-year fixed and variable compensation (gross amount excluding employer contributions), of which the variable portion totaled €8.4 million

in 2015 (€7 million in 2014).

[b) Amount paid to eligible Directors, in respect of the retirement plan for their benefit for positions they held previously in the Group.

[c) For 2012, the carrying amount represented the full value estimated as of the grant date in accordance with IFRS 2 on the assumption that the performance
conditions had been satisfied (see Note 7.4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

Danone’s commitment to the corporate officers

and Executive Committee members with respect

to the retirement plan

As of December 31,2015, the portion of the totalamount of Danone’s
obligation relating to Danone’s corporate officers and Executive
Committee members under this defined benefit retirement plan
amounted to €47 million, which takes into account the impact of
the new charges applicable according to the provisions of the law of
December 22,2014 regarding the financing of social security for 2015.

Note 154 Related party agreements

In addition, the corporate officers benefit also from the executives’
supplementary retirement plan (defined contribution retirement
plan set up for executives whose gross annual compensation is
greater than or equal to three times the French social security
ceiling). Contributions for this plan in respect of 2015 amounted to
€33,324 for Messrs. Franck RIBOUD and Emmanuel FABER. The
plan rules stipulate that the benefit derived from this plan will be
deducted in full from the possible defined benefit retirement plan.

Loans and guaranties
No loan or guarantee was granted or established by the Company
or its subsidiaries on behalf of Executive Committee members.

See section 6.5 Statutory auditors’ special report on related party agreements and commitments.

NOTE 16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

To the Company’'s knowledge, no material events occurred after the approval date of the 2015 consolidated financial statements (approved

by the Board of Directors on February 22, 2016).
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NOTE 17. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2015

NOTE 17. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2015

Note 171 Fully consolidated holding companies and financial companies held directly by the Company

Group’s control Ownership
Main fully consolidated companies Country (in %) (in %)
DANONE France Parent company
Holding and financial companies
DANONE FINANCE INTERNATIONAL Belgium 100.0 100.0
COMPAGNIE GERVAIS DANONE France 100.0 100.0
DANONE CORPORATE FINANCE SERVICES France 100.0 100.0
DAN INVESTMENTS France 100.0 100.0
DANONE BABY AND MEDICAL HOLDING France 100.0 100.0
HOLDING INTERNATIONALE DE BOISSONS France 100.0 100.0
DANONE FINANCE NETHERLANDS BV Netherlands 100.0 100.0
DANONE SINGAPORE HOLDINGS PTE LTD Singapore 100.0 100.0
DANONE ASIAPTE LTD Singapore 100.0 100.0
Note 17.2. Main fully consolidated companies of the Fresh Dairy Products Division

Group’s control Ownership
Main fully consolidated companies @ Country (in %) (in %)
DANONE SOUTHERN AFRICA PTY LTD South Africa 100.0 100.0
DANONE DJURDJURA ALGERIE Algeria 100.0 100.0
DANONE GMBH Germany 100.0 100.0
DANONE ARGENTINA SA Argentina 99.8 99.8
NV DANONE SA Belgium 100.0 100.0
DANONE LTDA. Brazil 100.0 100.0
DANONE INC. Canada 100.0 100.0
DANONE SA Spain 92.5 92.4
STONYFIELD FARM INC. United States 100.0 100.0
THE DANNON COMPANY INC. b} United States 100.0 100.0
THE YOCRUNCH COMPANY, LLC United States 100.0 100.0
DANONE PRODUITS FRAIS FRANCE France 100.0 100.0
DANONE SPA Italy 100.0 100.0
DANONE JAPAN Japan 100.0 100.0
CENTRALE DANONE Morocco 95.9 95.9
DANONE DE MEXICO SA Mexico 100.0 100.0
DANONE SP Z.0.0. Poland 100.0 100.0
DANONE PORTUGAL SA Portugal 97.6 90.1
DANONE LTD. United Kingdom 100.0 100.0
JOINT STOCK COMPANY DANONE RUSSIA®) Russia 100.0 70.9

(a] Corresponds to the 20 largest companies of the Division in terms of net sales (non-Group sales). They generated more than three-fourths of the Division's
salesin 2015.

[b) For this consolidated company, the business is spread over several legal entities in its country.
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NOTE 17. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2015

Note 17.3. Main fully consolidated companies of the Waters Division

Group’s control Ownership
Main fully consolidated companies (@ Country (in %) (in %)
DANONE WATERS DEUTSCHLAND GMBH Germany 100.0 100.0
AGUAS DANONE DE ARGENTINA SA®) Argentina 100.0 100.0
DANONE WATERS BENELUX Belgium 100.0 100.0
DANONE LTDA. Brazil 100.0 100.0
DANONE (CHINA) FOOD & BEVERAGE CO. LTD. ® China 92.0 92.0
DANONE (GUANGDONG) DRINKING WATER CO. LTD. ) China 92.0 92.0
SHENZHEN DANONE YILI DRINKS CO. LTD. ) China 100.0 100.0
AGUAS FONT VELLAY LANJARON SA Spain 94 .4 91.6
DANONE WATERS OF AMERICA INC. United States 100.0 100.0
EVIAN RESORT® France 100.0 100.0
SAEME SOCIETE ANONYME DES EAUX MINERALES D'EVIAN France 100.0 100.0
PT TIRTA INVESTAMA () Indonesia 74.0 74.0
BONAFONT SADE CV Mexico 100.0 100.0
GRUPO CUZCO INTERNATIONAL S DE RL DE CV ) Mexico 70.0 70.0
ZYWIEC ZDROJ SA Poland 100.0 100.0
DANONE WATERS (UK & IRELAND]) LTD. United Kingdom 100.0 100.0
EVIAN-VOLVIC SUISSE SA Switzerland 100.0 100.0
DANONE HAYAT ICECEK VE GIDA SA Turkey 100.0 100.0
SIRMAGRUP ICECEK AS Turkey 50.1 50.1
COMPANIA SALUS SA Uruguay 94.1 94.1

(a] Corresponds to the 20 largest companies of the Division in terms of net sales (non-Group sales). They generated more than three-fourths of the Division's

salesin 2015.

[b) For this consolidated company, the business is spread over several legal entities in its country.
[c) Evian Resort operates the Evian casino. In that capacity, it is subject to the control of the French Ministry of the Interior and all regulations applicable to games

of chance in casinos.

DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015 139




§.1 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 17. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 7015

Note 174. Main fully consolidated companies of the Early Life Nutrition Division

Group’s control Ownership
Main fully consolidated companies @' Country (in %) (in %)
MILUPA GMBH Germany 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA-BAGO SA® Argentina 51.0 51.0
NUTRICIA AUSTRALIA PTY LTD. ) Australia 100.0 100.0
SUPPORT PRODUTOS NUTRICIONAIS LTDA. b} Brazil 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA EARLY LIFE NUTRITION [SHANGHAI) CO. LTD. China 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA MIDDLE EAST DMCC (bl United Arab Emirates 100.0 100.0
HAPPY FAMILY HOLDING COMPANY () United States 91.9 91.9
BLEDINA France 100.0 100.0
DANONE NUTRICIA AFRICA & OVERSEAS France 100.0 100.0
PT NUTRICIA INDONESIA SEJAHTERA Indonesia 100.0 100.0
PT SARIHUSADA GENERASI MAHARDHIKA Indonesia 100.0 100.0
MELLIN SPA Italy 100.0 100.0
DANONE DUMEX (MALAYSIA) SDN. BHD. Malaysia 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA NEDERLAND B.V. b Netherlands 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA POLSKA SP Z.0.0. ) Poland 100.0 50.0
NUTRICIA LTD. ) United Kingdom 100.0 100.0
JSC ISTRA-NUTRICIA BABYFOQODS @ Russia 100.0 100.0
DUMEX LTD. ® Thailand 98.9 98.9
NUMIL GIDA URUNLERI AS® Turkey 100.0 100.0
DANONE NUTRICIA EARLY LIFE NUTRITION (HONG KONG) LTD Hong Kong 100.0 100.0

(a] Corresponds to the 20 largest companies of the Division in terms of net sales (non-Group sales). They generated more than three-fourths of the Division's

salesin 2015.

[b) This company also has a medical nutrition activity presented in the financial statements of the Medical Nutrition Division.
[c) For this consolidated company, the business is spread over several legal entities in its country.
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NOTE 17. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2015

Note 17.5. Main fully consolidated companies in the Medical Nutrition Division

Group’s control Ownership
Main fully consolidated companies @' Country (in %) (in %)
NUTRICIA GMBH Germany 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA AUSTRALIA PTY LTD. ) Australia 100.0 100.0
NV NUTRICIA BELGIE ®) Belgium 100.0 100.0
SUPPORT PRODUTOS NUTRICIONAIS LTDA. ) Brazil 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA PHARMACEUTICAL (WUXI) CO. LTD. China 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA TRADING (SHANGHAI) CO. LTD. China 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA MIDDLE EAST DMCC b/1d United Arab Emirates 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA SRL Spain 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIANORTH AMERICA INC. United States 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIANUTRITION CLINIQUE S.A.S. France 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA INTERNATIONAL PRIVATE LIMITED India 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA IRELAND LTD. ®) Ireland 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA ITALIA SPA Italy 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA NORGE AS Norway 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA NEDERLAND B.V. ®] Netherlands 100.0 100.0
SORGENTE B.V. ) Netherlands 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIA POLSKA SP Z.0.0. ) Poland 100.0 50.0
NUTRICIA LTD. ) United Kingdom 100.0 100.0
NUTRICIANORDICA AB Sweden 100.0 100.0
NUMIL GIDA URUNLERI AS® Turkey 100.0 100.0

(a] Corresponds to the 20 largest companies of the Division in terms of net sales (non-Group sales). They generated more than three-fourths of the Division's

salesin 2015.

[b) This company also has an early life nutrition activity presented in the financial statements of the Early Life Nutrition Division.
[c) For this consolidated company, the business is spread over several legal entities in its country.

Note 17.6. Main investments in associates

Group’s control Ownership
Main investments in associates @ Country lin %) lin %)
Fresh Dairy Products
ALSAFI DANONE COMPANY LTD (®) Saudi Arabia 50.1 50.1
INNER MONGOLIA MENGNIU DAIRY (GROUP) CO LTD China 9.9 9.9
INNER MONGOLIA MENGNIU DANONE DAIRY CO LTD® China 20.0 20.0
DANONE PULMUONE COMPANY LTD South Korea 50.0 50.0
STRAUSS HEALTH LTD Israel 20.0 20.0
YAKULT HONSHA CO LTD Japan 20.0 21.3
BROOKSIDE AFRICA LIMITED ®) Kenya 40.0 40.0
SOCIETE TUNISIENNE DES INDUSTRIES ALIMENTAIRES (STIAL) Tunisia 50.0 50.0
Other
YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD China 25.0 25.0
BAGLEY LATINO-AMERICA SA®) Spain 49.0 49.0

(a] Corresponds to the 10 largest companies in terms of the share of net assets. They accounted for more than 90% of Investments in associates in 2015.
[b) For this consolidated company, the business is spread over several legal entities in its country.
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STATUTORY AUDITORS" REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements issued in French and is provided
solely for the convenience of English-speaking users. The Statutory auditors’ report includes information specifically required by French law in
suchreports, whether modified or not. This information presented below is the audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements and includes
an explanatory paragraph discussing the auditors’ assessments of certain significant accounting and auditing matters. These assessments were
considered for the purpose of issuing an audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole and not to provide separate
assurance on individual account balances, transactions or disclosures. This report also includes information relating to the specific verification
of information given in the Group's management report. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French
law and professional auditing standards applicable in France.

To the shareholders,

In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your Shareholders” Meeting, we hereby report to you, for the year ended Decem-
ber 31,2015, on:

® the audit of the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Danone;
® the justification of our assessments;
® the specific verification required by law.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. Our role is to express an opinion on these conso-
lidated financial statements based on our audit.

| - Opinion on the consolidated financial statements

We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France; those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
involves performing procedures, using sampling techniques or other methods of selection, to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. It also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
thereasonableness of accounting estimates made, aswellas the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position of
the Group as of December 31, 2015, and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Il - Justification of assessments

In accordance with the requirements of Article L. 823-9 of the French commercial code relating to the justification of our assessments,
we bring to your attention the following matters:

® your company presented under the "Other operating income (expense]” heading in the Consolidated income statement the impacts
of the false alert issued by Fonterra in respect of certain ingredients supplied to your group in Asia in 2013, of your company’s plan
for cost savings and adaptation of the Group’s entities in Europe as well as of the transformational Danone 2020 plan, as described
in Notes 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. Management is of the opinion that these were material
items that, due to their exceptional nature, cannot be regarded as inherent to the Group's ordinary activities.

Ourwork involved examining the elements making up these amounts and assessing the appropriateness, in the light of Recommendation
R 2013-03 of the French National Accounting Board (Conseil National de la Comptabilité CNC), of their presentation in the Consolidated
income statement and of the disclosures in Note 6 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

® your company is committed to acquiring the shares held by shareholders of certain consolidated subsidiaries, should the latter wish
to exercise their put options. In the absence of any specific provision under IFRS on this subject, we have verified that the accounting
treatment applied and described in the section entitled Liabilities related to put options granted to non-controlling interests in Note
3.1 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements was compliant with the principles of IFRS as adopted by the European Union
and currently in effect.

We also reviewed the methods adopted by your company for the valuation of the debt recognized in connection with these put options
based on the information available to date. We have verified that Note 3 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements contains
appropriate information on these put options and on the assumptions used by your company.

® yourcompany performed at the reporting date animpairment test on goodwilland brands with indefinite useful life as described in Notes
9.1 and 9.3 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, and also assessed whether there was any indication of impairment
of associates and of other tangible and intangible assets, in accordance with the procedures described in Notes 4.1, 4.4 and 5.5 of the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements. We have reviewed the procedures for identifying indications of impaired value and for
implementing the impairment test of these assets, and verified that Notes 4.4, 4.7 and 9.3 give appropriate information, in particularin
relation to the assumptions adopted and the sensitivity analysis in respect of goodwill, brands with indefinite useful life and associates.

As indicated in Note 1.1 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, the valuation of intangible assets and associates was
based on estimates prepared in accordance with information and circumstances existing on the date the financial statements were
drawn up. Such estimates may differ from the actual amounts.

These assessments were made as part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, and therefore contributed
to the opinion we formed, which is expressed in the first part of this report.
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STATUTORY AUDITORS" REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Il - Specific verification

As required by law, we have also verified, in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the information presented in
the Group's management report.

We have no observations to make as to its fair presentation and consistency with the consolidated financial statements.
Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris La Défense, March 7, 2016
The Statutory auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit Ernst & Young et Autres

Anik CHAUMARTIN Philippe VOGT Gilles COHEN Pierre-Henri PAGNON
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA

4.7 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA, THE DANONE PARENT COMPANY

Financial statements of Danone SA

Income statement

Year ended December 31

(in € millions ] Notes 2014 2015
Net sales 474 492
Other income 42 42

Total operating income 3 516 534
Personnel costs A (231) (257)
Other operating expense 5 (401) (503)

Total operating expense (632) (760)

Net operating expense (116) (226)

Income from equity interests 730 2,427

Interest on loans and receivables and similar income 32 25

Interest on borrowings and similar expense (197) (145)

Other financial income (expense) 22 40

Net financial income 6 587 2,347

Net income before non-recurring items and tax 471 2121

Net non-recurring income (expense) 7 (6) (15)

Income tax 8 76 m

Netincome 541 2,217
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA

As of December 31

2014 2015
Depreciation,
amortization
(in € millions ] Notes Net amount Gross amount and provisions Net amount
Intangible assets 27 81 (59) 22
Property, plant and equipment 5 35 (21) 14
Equity interests 17,705 18,583 (57) 18,526
Other long-term
financial assets 2,334 2,302 (1) 2,301
Financial assets 9 20,039 20,885 (58) 20,827
Non-current assets 20,071 21,001 (138) 20,863
Short-term loans
and receivables 10 233 2,285 (1) 2,284
Marketable securities 1 324 140 140
Cash and cash equivalents - ® 5
Current assets 557 2,430 (1) 2,429
Deferrals and prepaid expense 124 99 99
Total assets 20,752 23,530 (139) 23,391
Equity and liabilities
As of December 31
(in € millions ] Notes 2014 2015
Share capital 161 164
Additional paid-in capital 3,301 3,929
Legalreserve 4 4
Other reserves 3,781 3,781
Retained earnings 3,125 2,752
Net income for the year 541 2,217
Regulated provisions 1 1
Equity 12 10,914 12,848
Provisions for risks and charges 13 61 53
Bonds 14 6,664 8,127
Other financial debt 14 2,102 1,974
Other liabilities 15 925 330
Deferrals and accrued expenses 86 54
Total equity and liabilities 20,752 23,391
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY DANONE

Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone

The financial statements of the parent company Danone (“the
Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2015 were approved by
Danone’s Board of Directors on February 22, 2016 and will be sub-
mitted for approval to the Shareholders” Meeting on April 28, 2016.
Danone and its consolidated subsidiaries constitute “the Group”.

Unless indicated otherwise, amounts are expressed in millions of
euros and rounded to the nearest million. Generally speaking, the

TABLE OF CONTENTS

values presented inthe financial statements of the parent company
Danone and in the Notes to the financial statements of the parent
company Danone are rounded to the nearest unit. Consequently,
the sum of the rounded amounts may differ, albeit to an insignificant
extent, from the reported total. In addition, ratios and variances are
calculated on the basis of the underlying amounts and not on the
basis of the rounded amounts.

GENERAL INFORMATION. ACCOUNTING
PRINCIPLES AND HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Note 1.
Note 2.

Accounting principles 147
Highlights of the year 149

INCOME STATEMENTS ITEMS

Note 3. Operating income 149
Note 4. Personnel costs and compensation of the

members

of the management bodies and the Board of

Directors 149
Note 5. Other operating expense 150
Note 6. Net financial income (expense) 150
Note 7. Net non-recurring income (expense) 151
Note 8. Income tax 191

BALANCE SHEET ITEMS - ASSETS

Note 9. Financial assets 152
Note 10.  Short-term loans and receivables 154
Note 11.  Marketable securities 154

BALANCE SHEET [TEMS - EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note 12.  Equity 155
Note 13.  Provisions for risks and charges 155
Note 14.  Bonds and other financial debt 156
Note 15.  Other liabilities 158

OTHER INFORMATION

Note 16.  Net debt 159
Note 17.  Post-employment benefit commitments and

commitments to management bodies and the

Board of Directors 160
Note 18.  Off-balance sheet commitments 161
Note 19.  Personnel 161
Note 20. Related party transactions 162
Note 21.  Summary of shares held in portfolio 162
Note 22.  Results and other significant information

relating to the last five years 163
Note 23.  Subsequent events 163

146 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015



4.7 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA, THE DANONE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with
French statutoryand regulatory provisions and generally accepted
accounting principles.

The main accounting methods used are detailed hereafter.

Property, plant and equipment and intangibLe
assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are valued
at acquisition cost (including acquisition-related costs) and are
amortized or depreciated on a straight-line basis according to the
duration of their estimated use, as follows:

Buildings 15 to 20 years

Fixtures and fittings 8to 10 years
Other property, plant and equipment 4 to 10 years

Software 1 to 7 years

Long-term financial assets

Financial assets comprise Equity interests and Other long-term
financial assets.

Equity interests are shares in companies, the long-term possession
of which is deemed to be useful for the Company’s activity, notably
because it enables the Company to exercise an influence on or
control over the issuing company. Investments that do not meet
this definition are classified as Other long-term financial assets.

Equity interests are recognized at acquisition cost, including acqui-
sition-related costs, which are amortized over five years as of the
date of acquisition. For tax purposes, these assets are subject to
accelerated tax amortization rates. An impairment provision is
recognized when the recoverable amount of Equity interests is
below their carrying amount.

Recoverable amountis determined usingvarious criteria including:
® market value;

® value in use based on forecast discounted cash-flows;

® revalued equity.

The assumptions, estimates or appraisals used to determine the
net realizable value are made on the basis of available information
and conditions at the end of the financial period presented, which
may differ from the reality, particularly in an economically and
financially volatile context. Impairment provisions are recognized as
Other financialincome (expense), with the exception of reversals of
impairmentin connection with disposals of equity interests, which
are recognized as Non-recurringincome (expense). Gains or losses
on disposals of equity interests are recognized as Non-recurring
income (expense).

Other long-term financial assets consist mainly of a portion of the
DANONE treasury shares held in connection with the authorizations
given by the Shareholders’ Meeting (see hereafter] and long-term
loans and receivables granted by the Company.

NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

DANONE treasury shares

DANONE shares repurchased by the Company are recognized
under the heading:

® otherlong-term financial assets, when they are repurchased in
connection with corporate acquisitions, to be cancelled or to be
held under the terms of a liquidity contract;

® marketable securities, when they are repurchased to hedge
stock-option plans or Group performance share plans under
which shares are allocated to certain Danone employees and
corporate officers.

They are recognized at acquisition cost, excluding acquisition-
related costs. On disposal, the cost of the DANONE shares sold is
calculated by allocation category in accordance with the weighted
average cost method, this cost being calculated individually for
each plan for the shares held to hedge stock-option plans or Group
performance share plans.

DANONE shares recognized as other long-term
financial assets

In the case of DANONE shares recognized as Long-term financial
assets that are not to be cancelled, an impairment provision is
recognized when their recoverable amount (assessed at the ave-
rage price for the last month of the fiscal year] falls below their
carrying amount.

DANONE shares recognized as Marketable
securities

Hedging of out-of-the-money stock-option and Group
performance share plans

In the case of treasury shares allocated to hedge plans that cannot
be exercised (the market value of DANONE shares is less than the
option exercise price in the case of the stock-option plans oritis
probable that the performance conditions will not be metin the case
of the Group performance share plans), a provision for impairment
isrecognized when the market value of the shares (assessed at the
average price for the last month of the fiscal year] is less than their
carrying amount.

Hedging of in-the-money stock-option and Group performance
share plans

In the case of treasury shares allocated to hedge plans that can
be exercised (the market value of DANONE shares exceeds the
option exercise price in the case of the stock-option plans or it is
probable that the performance conditions will be metin the case of
the Group performance share plans), a provision for impairment is
not recognized. However, a provision for risks and charges s, where
necessary, recognized in respect of these plans and corresponds:

® inthe case of stock-option plans, to the difference between the
carrying amount of the shares allocated to these plans and the
exercise price set under the terms of the plan if lower;

® inthe case of Group performance share plans, to the carrying
amount of the shares allocated to said plans.

The provision is booked prorata to the rights vesting period. It is
recognized in Personnel costs in the income statement.
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NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

DANONE call options held by the Company

The DANONE call options (calls) held by the Company are alloca-
ted in full to hedge stock-option plans granted to certain Danone
employees and corporate officers. The premiums paid in respect
of these options are recognized in Marketable securities.

Hedging of out-of-the-money stock-option plans
Inthe case of call options allocated to plans that cannot be exercised
(the market value of DANONE shares s less than the option exercise
price set under the terms of the plan), a provision forimpairment is
recognized when the market value of the call options, determined
by banks, is less than their carrying amount.

Hedging of in-the-money stock-option plans

In the case of call options allocated to plans that can be exercised
(the market value of DANONE shares exceeds the option exercise
price set under the terms of the plan), a provision for impairment is
notrecognized. However, a provision for risks and charges is, where
necessary, recognized in respect of these plans and corresponds
to the difference between the exercise price set under the terms of
the stock-option plan and the call premium paid plus the forward
DANONE share price.

The provision is booked prorata to the rights vesting period. It is
recognized in Personnel costs in the income statement.

Loans and receivables

Loansandreceivables are stated at theirnominalvalue. An impair-
ment provision is recognized when the recoverable amount is less
than the carrying amount.

Recognition of transactions in foreign currencies

Expense and income in foreign currencies are recorded at their
exchange value in euros at the date of the transaction.

Liabilities, receivables and cash denominated in foreign currencies
are recorded in the balance sheet at their exchange value in euros
at the year-end rate. The differences resulting from translation at
this latter rate are recorded in the balance sheet in the line items
Deferrals and prepaid expense and Deferrals and accrued expense
in the case of liabilities and receivables. A provision for risks is
recognized for non-hedged unrealized exchange losses.

Marketable securities

Marketable securities comprise a portion of the treasury shares and
DANONE call options held by the Company and other investments
made by the Company.

The grossvalue of Marketable securities corresponds to the acquisi-
tion cost excluding acquisition-related costs. When the market value
of each category of securities of the same nature is lower than the
acquisition cost, a provision for impairment is recognized equal to
the difference. For further information about treasury shares and
DANONE call options reclassified as Marketable securities, see the
above section DANONE shares recognized as Marketable securities.

Bonds

Bonds consistin borrowings raised by Danone, on debt and capital
markets, notably underits EMTN (Euro Medium Term Note) program,
through publicissues and private placements, denominated in euros
orforeign currencies. Bonds denominated in foreign currencies may
be maintained in those currencies or swapped into euros:
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e foreign currency bonds that are not swapped into euros are
recognized at their nominal value, translated at the closing
exchange rate;

e foreign currency bonds that are swapped into euros are reco-
gnized at their nominal value, which continues to be translated
at the historical exchange rate.

Derivatives

Danone hedges part of its bonds denominated in foreign currencies
by cross-currency swaps. For each bond hedged, Danone applies
hedge accounting, which involves recognizing at the historical rate
(hedged rate resulting from the implementation of the cross-currency
swap] the interest relating to the bond and the cross-currency swap.
Since Danone is not ultimately exposed to foreign exchange risk on
repayment of the bonds, said bonds are not revalued at the closing
rate. Conversely, unhedged bonds are revalued at the closing rate
at each balance sheet date.

In addition, Danone Corporate Finance Services, a wholly-owned
subsidiary, also carries out interest rate hedging transactions on
behalf of the Company in respect of certain borrowings and com-
mercial paper (Billets de trésorerie) issued by the Company.

Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions are recognized foridentified risks and charges of uncertain
timing or amount, when the Company has an obligation to a third
party and it is certain or probable that this obligation will result in
a net outflow of resources for the Company.

Forfurtherinformation about provisions against stock-option plans
and Group performance share plans, see the above section DANONE
shares recognized as Marketable securities.

Retirement commitments

Supplementary retirement commitments and severance pay borne by
the Company are presented within Off-balance sheet commitments
[see Note 17 and Note 18 of the Notes to the financial statements of
the parent company Danone).
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NOTE L. HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Danonereceived aninterim dividend in the amount of €1,464 mil-
lion from one of its holding company subsidiaries for Early Life
Nutrition and Medical Nutrition activities;

e Danonecarried out three euro-denominated bond offerings (see
Note 14 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent
company Danonel;

® Danone recapitalized one of its subsidiaries for a total amount
of €820 million in order to refinance the acquisition of company
shares in the Fresh Dairy Products business;

NOTE 3. OPERATING INCOME

Operating income comprises mainly the billing of direct and indirect
subsidiaries for services rendered by the Company to those sub-
sidiaries. It totaled €492 million for the year ended December 31,
2015 (€474 million for the year ended December 31, 2014).

NOTE 7. HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

® inorder to generate strong, profitable and sustained growth
through 2020, Danone launched its "Danone 2020" plan. 2015
was a preparatory year that enabled the foundations to be laid
for Danone’s transformation;

® theShareholders Meeting held in Paris on April 29,2015 approved
the proposed dividend for 2014 of €1.50 per share and decided
that each shareholder could choose to receive the dividend pay-
ment in cash or in DANONE shares. In the event, 65.95% of the
rights were exercised in favor of a dividend payment in shares.
The total cash dividend paid to shareholders who chose not to
receive the payment in shares totaled €314 million.

Other operating income totaled €42 million (also €42 million in
2014) and comprised mainly the reversal of a provision for risks
and charges relating to hedging of the stock-option and Group per-
formance share plans granted by the Company (See Note 1 of the
Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

NOTE 4 PERSONNEL COSTS AND COMPENSATION OF THE MEMBERS
OF THE MANAGEMENT BODIES AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Persannel costs

Personnel costs comprise the gross compensation of the Company’s
employees and senior executives and the related social charges as
well as the charges relating to the stock-option plans and Group
performance share plans under which shares are allocated to

certain Danone employees and corporate officers subject to per-
formance conditions.

Personnel costs totaled €257 million in 2015 (€231 million in 2014).
Social charges totaled €76 million (€71 million in 2014).

Company’s share of the compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors

and the Executive Committee

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Compensation paid to corporate officers and members

of the Executive Committee 1@ 7 12
Attendance fees paid to non-executive members

of the Board of Directors (®) 1 1
Total 8 13

(a) Recognized in Personnel costs.
[b) Recognized in Other operating expense.

The Company's other commitments to the management bodies and the Board of Directors

See Note 17 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone.
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NOTE 5. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE

NOTE 5. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE

Other operating expense comprised mainly fees paid to external service providers and charges for rent and services provided and totaled
€503 million in 2015 (€401 million in 2014).

NOTE 6. NET FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE)

Net financial income totaled €2,347 million in 2015 (€587 million in 2014).

Income from equity interests

Income from equity interests consisted mainly of dividends received from the Company’s equity interests. In 2015, these dividends amounted
to €2,427 million (€730 million in 2014). The €1,697 million increase was due mainly to the interim dividend received in the amount of
€1,464 million [see Note 2 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

Interest on Loans and receivables and similar income

Interest on loans and receivables and similar income comprised mainly interest received on the loans and receivables granted by the
Company to Zywiec Zdroj and Danone Poland and totaled €16 million in 2015 (€32 million in 2014).

Interest on borrowings and similar expense
Interest on borrowings and similar expense comprised mainly interest in respect of the following borrowings:

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2014 2015
Medium-term loan from and current account

with Danone Finance International @/ (®) 43 14
Bonds @ 152 129
Commercial paper @ 2 2
Total 197 145

(a) Interest paid and accrued in respect of the year

[b) The change during the year was mainly due to the repayment of the medium-term loan (see Note 14 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent
company Danone).

Other financial income (expense)

Asregards Other financial income [expense), the Company generated netincome of €40 million in 2015, comprising mainly the allocation
of a provision on equity interests and income from the sale of DANONE treasury shares not used as a hedge for a stock-option plan.

In 2014, the corresponding figure was net income of €22 million.
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NOTE 7. NET NON-RECURRING INCOME (EXPENSE)

NOTE 7 NET NON-RECURRING INCOME (EXPENSE)

Net non-recurring income (expense) in 2015 consisted of a €15 million expense. It mainly includes non-recurring costs related to the
“Danone 2020 transformational plan (see Note 2 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

In 2014, the net non-recurring expense of €6 million consisted mainly of non-recurring costs related to the implementation of the Group’s

plan for savings and adaptation of its organizations in Europe.

NOTE §. INCOME TAX

Tax group

Danone forms a tax group with the French subsidiaries in which it holds, directly or indirectly, a stake of more than 95%.

Companies that were members of the tax group in 2013

As of December 31, 2015

BLEDINA

COMPAGNIE GERVAIS DANONE

DANONE CORPORATE FINANCE SERVICES
DANONE PRODUITS FRAIS FRANCE
DANONE DAIRY ASIA

DANONE NUTRICIA AFRICA ET OVERSEAS
DANONE BABY AND MEDICAL HOLDING
DANONE 6l

DANONE RESEARCH

DAN INVESTMENTS

FERMINVEST

HELDINVEST 8

HELDINVEST 9
HOLDING INTERNATIONALE DE BOISSONS
LES 2 VACHES RESTO

MENERVAG

NUTRICIA NUTRITION CLINIQUE SAS
PRODUITS LAITIERS FRAIS EST EUROPE
PRODUITS LAITIERS FRAIS SUD EUROPE
PRODUITS LAITIERS FRAIS ESPAGNE
SOCIETE ANONYME DES EAUX MINERALES D'EVIAN
SOCIETE DES EAUX DE VOLVIC

STEP SAINT JUST

STONYFIELD FRANCE

(a) The Company.

The subsidiaries that are members of the tax group recognize and
pay their tax to the Company as if they were taxed separately, in
compliance with the rules set by the French tax authorities.

The savings (or additional charges) - based on the difference between
the sum of the tax charges recorded by the different subsidiaries
of the tax group and the tax charge resulting from the computation
of the consolidated tax results of the tax group - are recognized in

Other information

In accordance with the provisions of Article 39.4 of the French tax
code [Code Général des Impéts - CGl), in 2015 Danone recognized
€368,956 in respect of passenger vehicle depreciation and rental
under taxable income.

The application of Article 39.5 of the CGl did not resultin any amounts
recognized under taxable income in 2015.

theincome statement under Income tax. The amount booked in this
line for 2015 relates exclusively to this difference.

At the year end, the tax group had recorded a taxable loss. As of
December 31, 2015, tax loss carry-forwards accumulated within
the tax group in France amounted to €1,286 million, compared to
€1,149 million as of December 31, 2014.

Asof December 31,2015, items likely to resultin a reduction of future
tax liabilities consisted mainly of accrued charges. They totaled
€54 million and would reduce future tax charges by €21 million.
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NOTE 3. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Carrying amount and changes during the period

Changes during the period

As of Reclassification, As of
(in € millions) December 31, 2014 Increase @ Decrease translation December 31,2015
Gross amount
Equity interests 17,755 828 18,583
Long-term loans
and receivables 742 (64) 32 710
DANONE treasury shares () 1,578 1,578
Other 14 14
Other financial assets 2,334 (64) 32 2,302
Total 20,089 828 (64) 32 20,885
Provisions ¢ (50) (8) (58)
Net total 20,039 820 (64) 32 20,827

(a) See Note 2 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone.

(b) Portion of DANONE treasury shares recognized as Long-term financial assets (See Note 1 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

(c] Consists mainly of provisions for impairment of Equity interests.
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NOTE 9. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Equity interests

Equity interests held in portfolio as of December 31, 2015
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Subsidiaries (at least 50% of the share capital held by the Company)
French investments
DANONE CORPORATE
FINANCE SERVICES 142 97 100% 8,875,000 179 179 750 - 28 -
COMPAGNIE GERVAIS
DANONE 1,663 1174 100% 65,979,757 1,293 1,293 - - 531 707
DANONE BABY AND
MEDICAL HOLDING 12,369 (1,427) 100% 12,369, 171,277 12,366 12,366 - - 1,541 1,529
DAN INVESTMENTS 6 (1) 100% 300,000 6 3 - - (2)
HOLDING INTERNATIONALE
DE BOISSONS 174 972 100% 86,768,722 966 966 - - (43) -
Foreign investments
DANONE SINGAPORE HOL-
DINGS PTE LTD 148 13 61% 144,830,596 108 108 - - 12 8
FPS DANONE
COMMUNITIES 14 (2) 64% 14,392 8 8 - - - -
DANONE ASIAPTELTD 1,311 230 88% 1,951, 114,726 1,151 1,151 - - 255 89
DANONE FINANCE
NETHERLANDS 8 - 100% 800,000 94 45 - - - 35
Investments in associates (at least 10% to 50% of the share capital held by the Company)
NV DANONE SA 983 793 23% 21,988 400 400 - 299 58 -
DANONE FINANCE
INTERNATIONAL 965 4,968 33% 4,034,154 2,012 2,007 2,000 - 127 59
Total 18,583 18,526

(al Amounts related to foreign companies are translated at the year-end exchange rate.
[b) Amounts related to foreign companies are translated using the average exchange rate for the year.
[c) Excluding net income (loss] for the year.

Long-term Loans and receivables

The change in Long-term loans and receivables was due to the repayment of euro denominated loans by Danone Poland and Zywiec
Zdroj totaling €64 million and the revaluation of foreign currency current accounts with Danone Finance International for €32 million.

Foreign currency loans
Foreign currency loans are translated at the closing rate, resulting in the recognition of translation differences at the year end, which are
presented in the balance sheet under Deferrals and prepaid expense and Deferrals and accrued expense.

As of December 31, 2015

(in € millions, except Nominal value Nominal value in
in foreign currency, in currency millions) foreign currency Historical value Translation difference Carrying amount
Yen 43,000 381 (53) 328
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NOTE 10. SHORT-TERM LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

NOTE 10. SHORT-TERM LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

As of December 31,2015, this balance sheetitem comprised mainly interests totaling €2,049 million, tax receivables totaling €89 million
€2,285 million of receivables due to the Company within less than (€83 million as of December 31, 2014) and receivables from custo-
oneyear,including receivables due fromits subsidiaries and equity mers totaling €80 million (also €80 million as of December 31, 2014).

NOTE 11 MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Carrying amount and changes during the period

Changes during the period

As of Decem- Decrease As of Decem-
(in € millions) ber 31,2014 Increase (exercised) Reallocation Reclassification ber 31,2015
DANONE shares
DANONE shares hedging
stock-option plans @ 197 (146) 51
DANONE shares hedging Group
performance shares @ 86 (19) 67
Total 283 - (165) - - 118
DANONE call options 21 (12) 9
danone.communities ® 20 (7) 13
Total 324 - (177) (7) - 140

(a) Portion of DANONE treasury shares recognized as Marketable securities [see Note 1 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

[b) danone.communities is a mutual fund (French SICAV) aimed at financing certain social projects through an investment that generates a return nearly com-
parable to the money market rate.
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NOTE 12. EQUITY

Carrying amount and changes during the period

As of

December 31,

As of December 31, 2014 Changes during the period 2015

Before After Capital Capital Capital Before

(in € millions] allocation  allocation®  Netincome decrease increase ! increase® allocation
Share capital 161 161 - - - 3 164
In number of shares @ 643,792,000 643,792,000 - - 838,052 10,321,148 654,951,200
Additional paid-in capital 3,301 3,301 - - 39 589 3,929
Legalreserve 4 4 - - - - 4
Other reserves 3,781 3,781 - - - - 3,781
Retained earnings 3,125 2,752 - - - - 2,752
Net income for the year 541 - 2,217 - - - 2,217
Regulated provisions 1 1 - - - - 1
Total 10,914 10,000 2,217 - 39 592 12,848

(a) Ordinary shares with a par value of €0.25.

[b) Following shareholder approval at the Shareholders’ Meeting of April 29, 2015, the entire 2014 net income amount was allocated to the dividend (see Note 2
of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

(c] Issue carried out on June 11, 2015 under the terms of the Company savings plan (Plan d'Epargne Entreprise).
(d) Issue carried out on June 3, 2015 as part of the payment of the dividend in shares.

NOTE 13. PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

Carrying amount and changes during the period

Changes during the period

As of December 31, Reversal Asof December 31,
(in € millions) 2014 Allocation Reversal (not utilized) 2015
Provisions in respect of stock-
option and Group performance
share plans @ 55 25 (37) - 43
Other provisions 6 6 (2) - 10
Total 61 31 (39) - 53

(a) Provisions in respect of stock-option plans hedged by DANONE call options and Group performance share plans. The provision was established at the time
of the first purchases of DANONE call options in 2011 in the amount of €96 million.
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NOTE T4 BONDS AND OTHER FINANCIAL DEBT

Bonds

Carrying amount

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Nominal value 6,615 8,093
Accrued interest 49 34
Total 6,664 8,127

Bonds issued by the Company are disclosed on Danone’s website.

Most of the financing agreements entered into by the Company [bank credit facilities and bonds) include a change of control provision,
which offers creditors a right of early repayment in the event a change in control of the Company causes its rating by the financial rating
agencies to fall below investment grade.

2015 transactions

Year ended December 31

2015
Nominal
Currency (in millions of currency) Maturity
New financing
Euro bond issue under the EMTN program EUR 550 2020
Euro bond issue under the EMTN program EUR 750 2025
Euro bond issue under the EMTN program EUR 750 2024
Repayment
Euro bond issue under the EMTN program EUR 604 2015

Bonds: fixed rate/floating rate breakdown (after hedging where applicable) and changes during the period

Changes during the period

As of Decem- Changein As of Decem-
(in € millions] ber 31,2014 New borrowings Repayment accrued interest Revaluation ber 31,2015
Fixed rate portion
Bonds 6,327 1,500 (604) 32 7,255
Accrued interest 49 (15) 34
Floating rate portion
Bonds 288 550 838
Accrued interest - -
Total 6,664 2,050 (604) (15) 32 8,127
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NOTE 14. BONDS AND OTHER FINANCIAL DEBT

Bonds breakdown by currency

As of December 31, 2015

(in € millions except Nominal value in Nominal value

foreign currency, in currency millions] in foreign currency Historicalvalue  Translation difference Carrying amount
Bonds denominated or swapped into

euros

Euro 6,979 6,979 6,979 6,979
Swiss franc 225 138 138 138
U.S. dollar @ 850 682 682 682
Bonds denominated

in other currencies

Yen 43,000 381 328 328
Total 8,180 8,127 8,127

(a) The establishment of cross-currency swaps facilitated the conversion of the USD 850 million bonds (recognized originally in the amount of €685 million), into
euros in the amount of €682 million, thus corresponding to its new historical value.

Portfolio of cross-currency swaps hedging certain foreign-currency denominated bonds

As of December 31, 2015

(in € millions, except Nominal value in foreign currency, Nominal value Historical value
in currency millions)] inforeign currency in euros
Euro - Swiss franc 225 138
Euro - U.S. dollar 850 682
Total 820

Inaddition, as specified in Note 1 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone, Danone Corporate Finance Ser-
vices, a wholly-owned subsidiary, also carries out interest rate hedging transactions in respect of certain bonds issued by the Company.

Other financial debt

Fixed rate/floating rate breakdown and changes during the period

Changes during the period

As of Decem- Changein As of Decem-
(in € millions) ber 31,2014 New borrowings Repayment accrued interest Revaluation ber 31,2015
Fixed rate portion
Loan from Danone Finance
International ®) 1,000 1,000
Floating rate portion
Commercial paper® 1,066 (97) 969
Other 36 (31) 5
Total 2,102 - (128) - - 1,974

(a) Fixed rate medium-term loan maturing in June 2019.

[b) Changes in commercial paper are show as net changes.

Maturity of Bonds and Other financial debt

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2014 2015
Due date less than 1 year 1,755 1,646
Due date between 1 and 5 years 4,160 4,586
Due date more than 5 years 2,851 3,869
Total 8,766 10,101
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NOTE T5. OTHER LIABILITIES
Composition of Other Liabilities

THE DANONE PARENT COMPANY

As of December 31

(in € millions)

2014 2015
Amounts owed by the Company
to certain subsidiaries and affiliates @ 672 28
Trade payables 46 68
Accrued expenses 207 239
Total 925 335

(a) Including a current account balance due to Danone Finance International totaling €614 million as of December 31, 2014. As of December 31, 2015, the balance
on this current account was an excess cash balance presented under Short-term loans and receivables.

Composition of Accrued charges

As of December 31

(in € millions)

2014 2015
Services provided 92 114
Personnel costs 70 83
Social charges 32 37
Tax liabilities 12 4
Financial debt 1 1
Total 207 239

Maturity of Other LiabiLities

The majority of Other liabilities have a maturity of less than one year. The maturity dates of Trade payables are shown in the following table:

As of December 31, 2015

Due date between Due date more than
(in € millions) Due date 30 days or less 31and 60 days 60 days Total
Trade payables 52 16 - 68
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Composition of net debt

NOTE 16. NET DEBT

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2014 2015
Bonds 6,664 8,127
Other financial debt 2,102 1,974
Amounts owed by the Company

to certain subsidiaries and affiliates @ 672 28
Total debt 9,438 10,129
Amounts owed to the Company by certain subsidiaries

and affiliates (b} - 2,049
Marketable securities 324 140
Cash - 5
Total cash and cash equivalents 324 2,194
Total net debt 9,114 7,935

(a) Portion of the amounts owed by the Company to subsidiaries and affiliates presented in Other liabilities.
[b) Portion of amounts owed to the Company by subsidiaries and affiliates presented in Short-term loans and receivables.

Change during the period

The €1,179 million decrease in Net debt was due mainly to the receipt of dividends from one of its subsidiaries that is the holding company
for the Early Life Nutrition and Medical Nutrition activities, partially offset by the recapitalization of one of these subsidiaries (see Note

2 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone].
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NOTE 17. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS AND COMMITMENTS T0
MANAGEMENT BODIES AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Post-employment benefit commitments

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Supplementary benefits in addition to defined benefit retirement plans 2

Gross commitments 539 493
Commitments net of retirement plan assets 340 299

(a) Commitments measured using the actuarial method.

These net commitments are presented off-balance sheet (see Note 18 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company
Danone). The main commitment involves the retirement plan granted to some Danone executives.

Retirement plan granted to some Danone executives

Commitments measured using the actuarial method

As of December 31

Retirement plan for executives

(in € millions) 2014 2015
Gross commitments 468 418
Commitments net of plan assets 296 254

The €42 million decrease in commitments net of plan assets was mainly due to the increase in discount rates.

Main actuarial assumptions

Year ended December 31

Retirement plan for executives

(as a percentage, except for age in years) 2014 2015
Discount rate 2.2% 2.4%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 2.2% 2.4%
Salary growth rate 3.0% 3.0%
Retirement age 60-65 60-66

Commitments to management bodies and the Board of Directors

Post-employment benefit commitments for corporate officers and Executive Committee members

As of December 31

(in € millions) 2014 2015
Supplementary benefits in addition to defined benefit retirement plans @
Gross commitments 67 47

(a) Commitments measured using the actuarial method.

Severance pay for Executive Committee members

Severance pay for members of the Executive Committee in certain cases where they cease to continue their terms of office or exercise
their functions were set at twice the annual gross compensation (fixed, variable, and in-kind] they received over the 12 months preceding
the date on which they cease to continue their functions, and, in the case of the Company’s two corporate officers, the Board of Directors
decided on February 22, 2016 that the severance pay would be subject to the fulfillment of defined performance conditions.
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NOTE 18. OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

Main commitments given directly and indirectly by the Company

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Put options held by non-controlling interests over some

of the Company’s direct and indirect equity interests @ 2,558 862
Post-employment benefits ) 340 299
Rents 84 107
Services provided 9 14
Derivative instruments (@ 820 820
Security interests 2,000 2,000
Guarantees® 750 750
Total 6,561 4,852

(a) Commitments given directly or indirectly by the Company (see details hereafterin the section Put options over the Company’s direct and indirect equity interests).
[b) Net commitments in respect of defined benefit retirement plans [see Note 17 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

(c] Cross-currency swaps to hedge bonds denominated in foreign currencies (see Note 14 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).
(d) The Company acted as joint and several guarantors for Danone Finance International.

(e) The Company may grant a guarantee or security interest for the various financial risk management transactions to be carried out by its subsidiary Danone

Corporate.

Put options over the Company’s direct and indirect
equity interests

The Company or certain of its direct orindirect subsidiaries granted
put options to third parties with non-controlling interestsin certain
consolidated subsidiaries, with these options giving the holders the
right to sell part or all of their investment in these subsidiaries.
Their exercise price is generally based on the profitability and
financial position of the company concerned at the exercise date
of the put option.

As of December 31, 2015, the financial commitments given by the
Company and all of its consolidated subsidiaries were estimated
at €862 million, of which €614 million may be paid in accordance
with contractual terms in the 12 months following the year end.

NOTE 13 PERSONNEL

Commitments received

Commitments received by the Company concern €4.7 billion in
available committed credit facilities.

Other commitments

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to a variety
of legaland arbitration proceedings arising in the ordinary course of
business. Some of these proceedings involve claims for damages,
and liabilities are provided for when a loss is probable and can be
reliably estimated.

Average number of Company employees during the year

Year ended December 31

(in number, except percentages) 2014 2015
Executives and managers 575 79% 636 80%
Supervisors and technicians 103 14% 113 14%
Clerical staff 47 7% 49 6%
Total 725 100% 798 100%
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NOTE 70. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with related parties

Year ended December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Operating income 463 467
Income from equity interests 730 2,427
Interest on loans and receivables and similar financial income 27 25
Totalincome 1,220 2,919
Operating expense (29) (77)
Interest on borrowings and similar financial expense (43) (14)
Total expense (72) (91)
Balances with retated parties

As of December 31
(in € millions] 2014 2015
Long-term loans and receivables - =
Short-term loans and receivables @ 113 2,238
Total assets 13 2,238
Other financial debt 1,035 1,000
Other liabilities 69 36
Total liabilities 1,104 1,036

(a) As of December 31, 2015, the main component was the current account balance due from Danone Finance International.

NOTE 21 SUMMARY OF SHARES HELD IN PORTFOLIO

Securities of subsidiaries and associates

As of December 31

(in € millions] 2014 2015
Gross amounts 17,755 18,583
Provisions for impairment (50) (57)
Carrying amount @ 17,705 18,526
(a) See details for 2014 in Note 9 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone.
DANONE treasury shares

2014 2015
(in € millions, except number
of shares) Number of shares Carrying amount Number of shares Carrying amount
Treasury shares classified
as Long-term financial assets @ 30,769,360 1,578 30,769,360 1,578
Treasury shares classified
as Marketable securities @ 7,163,935 283 3,176,810 18
Total 37,933,295 1,861 33,946,170 1,696

(al See classification in Note 1 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone.

161 DANONE REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2015



4.7 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DANONE SA, THE DANONE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE 17 RESULTS AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE LAST FIVE YEARS

NOTE 77. RESULTS AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT INFORMATION RELATING
10 THE LAST FIVE YEARS

201 2012 2013 2014 2015
Capital at year-end
Share capital (in €] 160,561,643 160,790,500 157,757,000 160,948,000 163,737,800
Number of shares issued 642,246,573 643,162,000 631,028,000 643,792,000 654,951,200
Operations and results for the year
(in € millions]
Net sales 417 478 520 474 492
Net income before tax, depreciation,
amortization and provisions 530 395 686 482 2,070
Income tax 109 112 77 76 1M
Income after tax, depreciation,
amortization and provisions 631 44?2 762 541 2,217
Dividends paid 837 857 860 915 1,048
Earnings per share
(in € per share)
Income after tax but before depreciation,
amortization and provisions 1.00 0.79 1.19 0.85 3.33
Net income after tax, depreciation,
amortization and provisions 0.98 0.69 1.16 0.84 3.38
Dividend per share 1.39 1.45 1.45 1.50 1.60
Personnel
Average number of employees for the year 725 746 740 725 798
Payroll expense (in € millions] 236 170 149 159 180
Amounts paid in respect of employee benefits ! (social
security, social benefit schemes, etc.) (in € millions) b6 71 b6 71 77

(a) Income [expense).

[b) Amount relative to the 2015 fiscal year estimated as of December 31,2015 based on the number of treasury shares held on that date by the Company. The 2014
dividend corresponds to the amount actually paid out during the 2015 fiscal year. This dividend totaling €915 million was paid out in cash totaling €323 million
and in new shares for €591 million.

(c) Includes personnel expense excluding social charges (see Note 12 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent Company Danone) as well as provisions
related to stock-options and Group performance shares (see Note 13 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone).

NOTE 3. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

To the best of the Company’'s knowledge, no significant events occurred between the end of the reporting period and February 22,
2016, the date on which the Board of Directors approved the financial statements of the parent company Danone for the year ended
December 31, 2015.
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STATUTORY AUDITORS" REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF THE PARENT COMPANY DANONE

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory auditors’ report on the financial statements issued in French and is provided solely for the
convenience of English-speaking users. The Statutory auditors’ report includes information specifically required by French law in such reports,
whether modified or not. This information presented below is the audit opinion on the financial statements and includes an explanatory paragraph
discussing the auditors assessments of certain significant accounting and auditing matters. These assessments were considered for the purpose
of issuing an audit opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole and not to provide separate assurance on individual account balances,
transactions or disclosures. This report also includes information relating to the specific verification of information given in the management
report and in the documents addressed to the shareholders. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance with,
French law and professional auditing standards applicable in France.

To the shareholders,

Pursuant to the assignment entrusted to us by your Shareholders’ Meeting, we hereby report toyou, for the year ended December 31, 2015, on:
® the audit of the accompanying financial statements of Danone;

® the justification of our assessments;

® the specific verifications and information required by law.

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. Ourrole is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

| Opinion on the financial statements

We conducted ourauditinaccordance with professional standards applicable in France; those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit involves performing
procedures, using sampling techniques or other methods of selection, to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the annual financial statements. It also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made, as well as the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position of the Company
as of December 31, 2015, and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in accordance with French accounting principles.

Il Justification of our assessments

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 823-9 of the French commercial code relating to the justification of our assessments, we
bring to your attention the following matters:

® the section Financial assets in Note 1 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone describes the methods for
accounting for equity interests as well as the methods used to calculate impairment losses. We performed sample tests to confirm
that these methods were applied correctly and we reviewed the methods used to determine the amount of the impairment losses.
We have assessed the data and assumptions on which these estimates are based: as indicated in Note 1 of the Notes to the financial
statements of the parent company Danone, these estimates were prepared in accordance with information and circumstances existing
on the date the financial statements were drawn up and such estimates may differ from the actual amounts.

® asstatedin Note 18 of the Notes to the financial statements of the parent company Danone, your company or some of its direct orindirect
subsidiaries have undertaken to acquire the shares held by third-party shareholders in certain companies in which your company has
a direct orindirect stake should such shareholders wish to exercise their put option. We reviewed the methods used by your company
to calculate these financial commitments based on the information currently available. We have assessed the data and assumptions
on which these estimates are based and the resulting valuations.

These assessments were made as part of our audit of the parent company financial statements taken as awhole, and therefore contributed
to the opinion we formed, which is expressed in the first part of this report.
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I1l. Specific verifications and information

We have also performed, in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the specific verifications required by French law.

We have no observations to make as to the fair presentation of the information given in the management report of the Board of Directors
and in the documents addressed to shareholders with respect to the financial position and the financial statements or its consistency
with the parent company financial statements.

Regarding the information provided in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code relating to
compensation and benefits granted to the corporate officers and any other commitments made in their favor, we have verified its consis-
tency with the financial statements, or with the underlying information used to prepare these financial statements and, where applicable,
with the information obtained by your company from companies controlling your company or controlled by it. Based on this work, we attest
the accuracy and fair presentation of this information.

In accordance with French law, we have verified that the required information concerning the identity of the shareholders and holders of
the voting rights has been properly disclosed in the management report.

Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris-La Défense, March 7, 2016
The Statutory auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit Ernst & Young et Autres

Anik CHAUMARTIN Philippe VOGT Gilles COHEN Pierre-Henri PAGNON
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4.3 FEES TO THE STATUTORY AUDITORS AND MEMBERS OF THEIR NETWORK

43 FEES TO THE STATUTORY AUDITORS AND MEMBERS

OF THEIR NETWORK

Fees net of tax paid by Danone

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Ernst & Young et Autres

(in € millions except

percentage) Fees 2014 Fees 2015 Fees 2014 Fees 2015
Audit

Statutory audits, certifications

and review of the individual

and consolidated financial

statements 4.4 53% 4.9 60% 4.1 48% 4.5 79%
including Danone SA 0.7 9% 0.7 8% 0.8 9% 0.7 12%
including fully consolidated

subsidiaries 3.7 45% 4.2 51% 3.3 39% 3.8 67%
Other services directly related

to the audit 3.3 40% 2.3 28% 4.0 47% 0.9 16%
including Danone SA 3.0 36% 2.2 26% 3.8 45% 0.7 12%
including fully consolidated

subsidiaries 0.3 4% 0.2 2% 0.2 3% 0.2 3%
Total Audit 7.7 9%4% 7.3 88% 8.1 96% 5.5 95%
Other services provided by the

auditors’ networks to the fully

consolidated subsidiaries

Legal, tax, social 0.3 4% 0.4 b 5% 0.4 b 4% 0.3 5%
Other 0.2 2% 0.5 6% - 0% - 0%
Total Other services 0.5 6% 1.0 12% 0.4 4% 0.3 5%
Total @ 8.2 100% 8.3 100% 8.5 100% 5.7 100%

(a) Services provided in 2015 included due diligence directly related to the Statutory auditors’ engagements performed during the transactions of acquisition or
disposal of entities for €2.2 million (PricewaterhouseCoopers, €2.9 million in 2014) and €0.7 million (Ernst & Young, €3.7 million in 2014).
[b) This amount related solely to tax services provided by the networks to some foreign Group subsidiaries. These services related mainly to the issuance of tax
certifications as required by local authorities (Turkey - PricewaterhouseCoopers, Mexico - Ernst & Young) as well as the review or technical analysis of tax
positions adopted by some foreign subsidiaries.
(c] Thisamount, for 2015and 2014 included mainly services of assistance and training on non-financial fields provided by the network to some Danone subsidiaries

[Japan and China).

(d) Fees invoiced in foreign currencies have been translated into euros on the basis of the yearly average rates used by Danone.
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4.4 INFORMATION ORIGINATING FROM THIRD PARTIES, EXPERT OPINIONS AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

44 INFORMATION ORIGINATING FROM THIRD PARTIES,
EXPERT OPINIONS AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Nil.
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SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

3.1 DANONE SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL APPROACH

This section describes Danone’s policy and accomplishments in the area of social, societal and environmental responsibility. It is organized as follows:

® description of Danone’s approach to social, societal and environmental responsibility;

® nformation concerning Danone’s social, societal and environmental performance in compliance with the provisions of Article 225 of law
No. 2010-788 of July 12, 2010 [“Grenelle II"] and its implementing decree;

® otherinformation related to Danone’s social, societal and environmental responsibility: Funds sponsored by Danone.

More extensive information concerning Danone’s strategy and performance with regard to Sustainable Development can be found in Danone’s
Sustainable Development Report published annually. Practices and quantitative results are described there, based in particular on the Global

Reporting Initiative (GRI) indicators.

In general, the amounts presented are rounded to the nearest unit. As a result, the sum of the rounded amounts may vary slightly from the reported
total. Moreover, ratios and differences are calculated on the basis of the underlying amounts, not of the rounded figures.

5.1 DANONE SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL APPROACH

General policy

As a direct result of Danone’s dual economic and social project,
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is deeply anchored in Danone’s
business activity.

In 1972, Antoine RIBOUD noted that “corporate responsibility does
not stop at the factory gate or the office door.” This vision led to the
dual economic and social project that forms the basis for Danone’s
development and organizational model.

In2006, Danone redefined its mission: “bringing health through food
to as many people as possible.” This mission requires that Danone
takes concrete steps with regard to today's major societal challenges:

® the challenges related to products and consumers with the
launch of safe, healthy products, efforts to promote a healthy
lifestyle and nutritional education;

e environmental challenges, because for Danone, healthy food
starts with a healthy natural environment;

Danone’s CSR policy in detail

Danone’'s CSR approachis characterized by the depth of its integra-
tion into the businesses and by the constant effort to create value
for shareholders and for all stakeholders.

To achieve this, Danone has integrated its CSR approach into its
main processes and business activities across the various stages
of the value chain, and particularly into the following processes:

® production, in particular through the direct participation of the
industrial functions in achieving targets related to safety and
reduced water and energy consumption;

® purchasing, based on a policy of responsible procurement;

® humanresources, throughdiversity, social dialogue and individual
employee development;

® marketing, research and development and sales, by developing
synergies between CSR and these functions.

Danone has, in particular, created an organization and specific
governance, including:
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® social challenges, including employment, enhancement of em-
ployability and occupational skills, employee commitment, social
dialogue and awareness of the specific characteristics of the
regions in which Danone operates and their social cohesion.

To continue to meet these challenges and grow in accordance with
its mission, Danone decided to focus on three key strategic areas:

® alimentation: encourage healthier eating behaviors;

® strategic resources: strengthen Danone’s ability to protect and
optimize our essential resources (milk, water and plastic) and
secure our license to operate in a cycle-oriented way;

e peopleandtheorganization: the goalistotap into the full range of
talent at Danone to give our corporate architecture more solidity
and more relevance for today’s world.

Social Responsibility Committee

Formed from the Board of Directors, it examines, in particular,
non-financial information and ratings, as well as social policy and
investments related to social aspects implemented by Danone (see
section 6.1 Governance bodies related to the Social Responsibility
Committee).

Health governance

Health governance includes the principles, mechanisms and eval-
uation methods that allow Danone to meet its commitments as
defined in 2009 in the Food Nutrition Health Charter (see section
Food Nutrition Health Charter hereafter).

CSR goals set by Danone

CSR goals are requested by General Management at the level of
Danone and its consolidated subsidiaries and may be defined over
the medium term, such as the carbon footprint reduction goal, staff
safety, etc. Inaddition, the achievement of certain goals determines
a portion of its employees’ variable compensation.



Variable compensation system

Since 2008, Danone has integrated societal performance into its
variable compensation system with the introduction of criteria to
evaluate the performance of around 1 300 senior executives. This
system is based on a three-part approach to performance: (i] one
parton economic, (i) one part on social and/or environmental, and
(iii) one part on individual performance (see section 6.3 Compensation
and benefits of corporate officers and governance bodies).

Funds sponsored by Danone

These are funds created at Danone’s initiative: danone.communities
created in 2007, the Danone Ecosystem Fund created in 2009, the
Livelihoods fund created in 2011, and the Livelihoods Fund for Family
Farming created in 2015 [see section 5.3 Funds sponsored by Danone).

SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

5.1 DANONE SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL APPROACH

ImpLementation of the CSR approach in all Danone’s
subsidiaries through the design and impLementation
of policies and framework agreements

The main framework agreements and policies implemented by
Danone are detailed in the section hereafterand described in section
5.2 Information concerning Danone’s social, societal and environmental
performance in compliance with the Grenelle Il law.

Primary programs, policies and actions implemented by Danone with regard to social,

societal and environmental responsibility

Danone Way

The Danone Way program, launched in 2001, is a key component
of Danone’s sustainable development strategy, with the goal of
ensuring compliance with basic sustainable development criteria
by all subsidiaries. In 2015, the subsidiaries covered by the program
represented 95% of Danone’s consolidated net sales.

It defines best practices for social, societal and environmental
responsibility in the various stages of Danone’s businesses, from
purchasing raw materials to recycling the packaging of finished
products. To evaluate the subsidiaries’ level of maturity with regard to
sustainable development, the Danone Way program measures their
performance in terms of their compliance with these best practices.
This program isverified by anindependent third-party organization.

Eachyear, every subsidiary self-assesses its sustainable develop-
ment performance based on 17 key social responsibility practices,
organized into the following five areas:

® humanresources fundamentals (forced labor, child labor, social
dialogue, workplace health and safety and working timeJ;

® One Danone [skills development, training and diversityl;

e environment [environmental footprint management, environ-
mental risk control, raw materials management and reduction
of the environmental footprint of packaging);

® health and nutrition (quality management and product and
communication standards);

® governance (business conduct policy, social responsibility ap-
plied to suppliers and integration of a sustainable development
strategy developed jointly at the local level).

WISE “Work In Safe Environment”

WISE is a global program implemented by Danone since 2004
which aims to develop a robust health and safety culture in all its
subsidiaries and reduce workplace accidents.

This program defines health and safety rules and best practices. It
is deployed at all the Divisions around the world, at the plants and
logistics warehouses and in distribution. It also applies to subcon-
tractors working at Danone sites. The programis led by the Human
Resources Department, with designated managers at each level:
Division, subsidiary and site.

To ensure that the health and safety culture is disseminated, the
WISE program relies on WISE audits to evaluate the subsidiaries
in the following 13 categories: integrated safety organization,
communication, supervisor responsibility, ambitious objectives and
indicators, dialogue and observations, gradual motivation, policies
and principles, training, standards, support for safety personnel,
accident surveys and analysis, visible engagement and involvement
of management, and subcontractor management.
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SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

3.1 DANONE SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL APPROACH

IUF agreements

Danone has signed framework agreements with the IUF (International
Union of Food workers), beginning in 1988. As of December 31,2015,
nine global agreements and one European agreement between
Danone and the IUF were in effect.

These agreements define rules and best practices, particularly with
regard to diversity, social dialogue, steps to be taken for business
changes impacting employment or working conditions, combating
all forms of discrimination and encouraging diversity, trade union
rights, and procedures for consulting employee representatives in
the case of business changes with consequences for employment.

The latest globalagreement between Danone and the I[UF was signed
on September 29,2011 concerning health, safety, working conditions
and stress, and is a follow-up to the framework agreement signed
in 2010 with trade union organizations in France.

This agreement defines the following principles:

® consideration forthe human consequences of change, inadvance
of major changes to the organization;

® preservation of the balance between personaland professional life;

e identification of ways to simplify work to improve efficiency as
well as employee well-being;

® employee participation in safety-related preventive actions to
ensure their safety as well as their right to remove themselves
from a hazardous situation; and

® implementation of medical monitoring at all subsidiaries and sites.

These framework agreements between Danone and the IUF are
implemented at each subsidiary and their application is evaluated
jointly each year by a representative from Danone and a represen-
tative from the IUF.

RESPECT

The RESPECT policy aims to protect the Sustainable Development
Principles across Danone’s entire supply chain and in particular
with regard to Danone’s major suppliers.

This policy was launched in 2005 and has been implemented since
2006 in all Divisions to ensure compliance with the seven funda-
mental labor principles formalized by Danone since 2001 based
on standards defined by the International Labor Organization: (i)
child labor, (ii) forced labor, (iii) non-discrimination, (iv] freedom
of association and the right to collective bargaining, [v] workplace
health and safety, (vi) working hours, and (vii) compensation. These
principles are described in the section hereafter.
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The RESPECT methodology is based on a system of controls that
includes: (i) suppliers’ signature of the Sustainable Development
Principles, (i) a map of supplier risks drawn up by purchasing
managers, (iii) external labor audits of the most “at risk” suppliers,
(iv] corrective action plans in case of non-compliance identified
during the audit, and [v] monitoring of this action plan by Danone’s
purchasing managers.

RESPECT is based on a specific tool called Sedex (Supplier Ethical
Data Exchange), a dedicated online information-sharing and pooling
platform used by many companies in the food and beverage sector
which allows their suppliers to (i) enter information regarding their
production sites, sustainable development and societal responsibility
policies, and (i) share this information with several customers at once.

In 2009, the scope of the RESPECT policy was expanded to include
environmental and ethical sections.

Based on these three pillars -social, environmental and ethical-
RESPECT constitutes a global policy for managing sustainable
development standards with suppliers.

Food Nutrition Health Charter

Danone’s Food Nutrition Health Charter describes the concrete policies
that result from Danone’s mission of “bringing health through food
to as many people as possible.” This charter, implemented in 2005
and updated in 2009, formalizes Danone’s five commitments. These
commitments address the concerns of authorities on food-related
public health issues.

The five commitments include:

® proposing nutritional solutions that are continuously tailored to
nutritional needs and recommendations, localtastes and incomes;

® developing products with relevant, scientifically proven health
benefits;

® informing consumers clearly and advertising responsibly;
® promoting healthy diet and lifestyle;

® addressing major societal challenges related to health and
nutrition.



SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

5.1 INFORMATION CONCERNING DANONE'S SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE GRENELLE II LAW

5.1 INFORMATION CONCERNING DANONE'S SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE GRENELLE 1 LAW

This section presents information concerning Danone’s social, societal and environmental performance in compliance with the provisions
of Article 225 of law No. 2010-788 of July 12, 2010 (“Grenelle II") and its implementing decree.

Scopes and definitions related to Danone’s social, societal and environmental performance data are described in the Methodology Note,

at the end of this section.
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SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

5.7 INFORMATION CONCERNING DANONE'S SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE GRENELLE I LAW

social information

Employment

Danone’s workforce

As of December 31, 2015, the workforce of all Danone’s fully consolidated companies was 99,771 employees (99,927 as of December 31,
2014). This data covers the Group Total Workforce Scope as defined in the Methodology Note.

Breakdown by geographical area and by Division

Total number of employees, breakdown by geographical area and by Division for the Social Indicators Scope, excluding the subsidiaries
that did not report social indicators other than the total workforce (see Methodology Note]

Year ended December 31

2014 2015
Total Workforce @ 93,925 99,771
By geographical area
France 9% 9%
Rest of Europe 30% 27%
China 1% 10%
Rest of Asia Pacific 18% 18%
North and South America 28% 27%
Africa and Middle East 4% 9%
Total 100% 100%
By Division
Fresh Dairy Products 40% 40%
Waters 40% 39%
Early Life Nutrition 13% 13%
Medical Nutrition 6% 6%
Central function 1% 2%
Total 100% 100%
(a) Social Indicators Scope (see Methodology note).
Workforce by age and gender
By gender
Year ended December 31
Women Men Total
2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015
Total Workforce @ 29,311 29,331 64,614 70,440 93,925 99,771
Percentage of the total 1@ 31% 29% 69% 7% 100% 100%

(a) Social Indicators Scope [see Methodology Note).
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SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

5.2 INFORMATION CONCERNING DANONE'S SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE GRENELLE 1T LAW

By age

As of December 31, 2015, more than 88% of Danone employees (Social Indicators Scope, see Methodology Note) were under age 50.

Year ended December 31

Workforce percentage @ 2015
< 20 years old 0.5%
from 20 to 29 years old 24.0%
from 30 to 39 years old 39.6%
from 40 to 49 years old 24.2%
from 50 to 59 years old 10.5%
> 60 years old 1.2%
Total 100.0%

(a) Social Indicators Scope [see Methodology note).

By geographical area

As of December 31, 2015, less than 20% of all employees in Western Europe, North America and Africa and the Middle East were under
age 30, while employees under age 30 in the other geographical areas accounted for 26% to 29% of the workforce.

Year ended December 31

2015
Workforce percentage @ Lessthan30yearsold From 30 to 49 yearsold 50years and older
Africa and Middle East 18% 70% 13%
Asia-Pacific 28% 67% 5%
Eastern Europe 26% 61% 14%
Western Europe 16% 57% 26%
Latin America 29% 65% 6%
North America 15% 59% 26%

(a) Social Indicators Scope [see Methodology Note).

New hires and dismissals

Inatenseinternational economic environment, Danone must adjust
as necessary to changes in the market, projects and competition
and adapt its organization in order to return to sustainable growth
and ensure its long-term viability. An ongoing social dialogue re-
garding the impacts of these adjustments on employment is part of
an employee support system designed to minimize these impacts.
Alternative solutions to layoffs are routinely sought, such as changing
the organizations and related activities, discontinuing the use of
temporaryworkers, re-insourcing activities and providing training
or leave periods. When layoffs become inevitable, a significant
employee support system is set up to minimize the consequences
for individuals. The continued employment of workers following
the sale of several sites has therefore been made possible by the
guarantees implemented by Danone.

In 2015, there were 7,010 dismissals compared to 8,773 in 2014 (Social
Indicators Scope, see Methodology Note) along with 13,662 new hires.

Compensation and promotion

Compensation

Danone fosters competitive and equitable compensation based on
its own system of evaluating and classifying jobs to support human
resources development worldwide and create an individualized
compensation management approach that takes into account the
local requirements and situations of the various subsidiaries.

This policy is updated annually within each subsidiary based on
market studies by country of external compensation levels and
on decision-making tools and processes that guarantee equitable
compensation. Median salaries by classification level and wage
increase rules are defined relative to local job market conditions and
subsidiaries’ needs, and based on the ability of Danone’s subsidiaries
togenerate growth and profits, as well as employment performance.

Moreover, the compensation policy is based on an overall com-
pensation approach related to economic, social and managerial
performance goals (see section 6.3 Compensation and benefits of
corporate officers and governance bodies).
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5.7 INFORMATION CONCERNING DANONE'S SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE GRENELLE I LAW

Incentive and profit-sharing plans for employees of certain
Danone companies

The Company’s employees benefit from a three-year profit-shar-
ing plan, which was renewed in 2014 and is mainly based on the
Group’s results.

Danone’s other French subsidiaries and some of its foreign subsid-
iaries have implemented employee profit-sharing and/or incentive
plans based on their own results.

In 2015, expenses recognized by Danone and its fully consolidated
subsidiariesin connection with employee incentive and profit-sharing
plans totaled €114 million (€99 million in 2014).

Employee shareholding and Company Savings Plan for certain
Danone companies

The employees of Danone’s French subsidiaries may subscribe for
anannual capitalincrease as part of a Company Savings Plan. The
share subscription price corresponds to 80% of the average listed
Danone share price during the 20 trading days prior to the Board
of Directors’ meeting at which the capital increase is approved
(see section 7.3 Authorization to issue securities that give access to
the share capitall.

Work organization

Organization of working hours

The organization of working hours varies according to the local
environment of each subsidiary, with differentwork schedules, such
as employees opting for a transition to part-time work (number of

Retirement commitments, retirement indemnities and
personal protection

Danone contributes to state-sponsored and/or private retirement funds
to build up its employees’ retirement benefits, in accordance with
the laws and customary practices of countries where its companies
operate. As no actuarial liability exists, no provision is recorded for
these retirement benefitsin the consolidated financial statements.

Danonealso has contractual commitments related to supplementary
retirement, severance pay, retirement indemnities and personal
protection, most of which are managed by independent funds
responsible for their service and fund administration, where appli-
cable. These commitments take the form of defined contributions
or benefits. Commitments related to defined benefits generate an
actuarial liability, which results in a provision being recorded in the
consolidated financial statements.

The amount provisioned for these commitments as of December 31,
2015 and the expenses for the year are presented in Note 7.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

work hours below that legally defined for full-time employment
or the number of hours generally worked at the subsidiary) or the
implementation of work-at-home practices at various Danone
companies, which helps to improve the employees’ quality of life.

Breakdown of full-time and part-time employees by geographical area and by Division

Year ended December 31

Full-time employees

Part-time employees

Workforce percentage 1@ 2014 2015 2014 2015
By geographical area

Africa and Middle East 99.7% 99.7% 0.3% 0.3%
Asia-Pacific 98.6% 99.5% 1.4% 0.5%
Eastern Europe 97.7% 97.6% 2.3% 2.4%
Western Europe 86.2% 86.9% 13.8% 13.1%
Latin America 99.6% 99.5% 0.4% 0.5%
North America 98.3% 99.1% 1.7% 0.9%
By Division

Fresh Dairy Products 97.9% 98.2% 2.1% 1.8%
Waters 97.2% 98.0% 2.8% 2.0%
Early Life Nutrition 94.6% 95.0% 5.4% 5.0%
Medical Nutrition 90.3% 90.1% 9.7% 9.9%
Corporate functions 91.6% 93.6% 8.4% 6.4%

(a) Social Indicators Scope (see Methodology Note).

Danone also promotes the application by its subsidiaries of best
practices for work organization, particularly through the Danone
Way initiative based on the "Working hours and Organization” key
practice (see section 5.1 Danone social, societal and environmental
approach), which includes:

® evaluating the policies implemented by the subsidiaries, par-
ticularly with regard to introducing procedures and information
systems for measuring work time, employee surveys to assess
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workload, and targeted action plans if excess work time is noted
with regard to the standards set orwishes expressed by employees;

® monitoring indicators such as average weekly time worked per
employee (including overtime) and the number of days off per
week for each employee.
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5.2 INFORMATION CONCERNING DANONE'S SOCIAL, SOCIETAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE GRENELLE 1T LAW

Absenteeism

The absenteeism rate (see Methodology Note) was estimated at 2.3% in
2015. Given the limited availability of information in certain countries,
Danone made estimates for this indicator as of December 31, 2015.

Social relations

Organization of social dialogue

The attention given to its employees and the desire to ensure their
best possible growth in afast-changing economic environment are
at the heart of Danone’s culture and its dual economic and social
project. Social dialogue is therefore one of the key elements to
Danone’s long-term success as well as a means of supporting its
transformation to benefit the company’s performance.

Social dialogue at Danone is organized around:

® aworldwide social dialogue body: the Information and Consultation
Committee (ICC] and its Steering Committee (Comité de Pilotage
- COPIL);

® the negotiation and monitoring of international framework agree-
ments with the IUF (International Union of Food Workers), see
section 5.1 Danone social, societal and environmental approach;

® active social dialogue at Danone’s subsidiaries with union and
employee representatives.

Danone also promotes the application by its subsidiaries of best
practices related to social dialogue, particularly through the
Danone Way initiative based on the “Social Dialogue and Employee
Involvement” key practice (see section 5.1 Danone social, societal
and environmental approach), which includes:

® evaluating the policies implemented by the subsidiaries, par-
ticularly with regard to the application of the IUF agreement
on social dialogue, the creation of a favorable framework for
social dialogue, the organization of elections for independent
employee representatives, and the organization of discussions
with employee representatives and negotiation of agreements;

Health and safety
Workplace safety

Since 2004, Danone has been committed to a worldwide program
known as WISE (see section 5.1 Danone social, societal and environ-
mental approach), with the goal of developing a safety culture at all
its sites in order to significantly reduce the number of workplace
accidents. This programis implemented worldwide in each Division,
in the plants and logistics warehouses, and within the distribution
channel. Italso applies to subcontractors working at Danone sites.

Danone decided to enhance the WISE program, renamed Wise?,
with more far-reaching goals by 2020: zero fatal accidents and a
reduction by half of the number of workplace accidents with medical
absence compared to the reference year 2014. To this end, Wise?
aims to ensure Danone’s compliance with its higher safety at work
standards and promote a more comprehensive prevention approach
thatincludes, in particular, health risks, ergonomics and well-being
in the workplace.

The WISE program and health and safety management are coor-
dinated by the Human Resources Department with the support of
designated managers at each level of Danone’s organization.

The absenteeism rate was used in 2015 to assess the benefit of a
systematic program to promote health and quality of life at the work-
place, whichwould resultinalowerillness-related absenteeism rate.

® monitoring indicators such as the number of economic and em-
ploymentinformation sessions forall employees, the proportion
of employees represented by employee representatives and
the number of annual meetings between site management and
employee representatives.

Review of collective agreements

Nine globalagreements between Danone and the IUF were in effect
as of December 31, 2015 (see section 5.1 Danone social, societal and
environmental approach). They mainly concern diversity, social dia-
logue and steps to be taken when changesin business activity affect
employment or working conditions. The most recent agreement
was signed on September 29, 2011 and addresses health, safety,
working conditions and stress.

The nine globalagreements are deployed at each Danone subsidiary
and theirapplicationis jointly assessed each year at several subsid-
iaries by a representative from Danone and a representative from
the IUF. Between 2009 and 2015, more than 50 visits were made to
fully consolidated subsidiaries.

Three European agreements were also signed over the last three
years to support the implementation of the organizations’ savings
and adaptation plan in Europe and, in particular, the industrial
facilities of the Fresh Dairy Products Division.

Inaddition, collective agreements may also be signed at the subsidiary
and country level, such as the amendment to the agreement on the
donation of leave time for a seriously ill child or spouse signed in
April 2015 for Danone Produits Frais France (Fresh Dairy Products,
France] or the extension of the agreement on work-at-home for
Danone SA [Danone’s parent company).

Workplace accidents

The annual frequency rate of workplace accidents with medical
absence (FR1 rate, see Methodology Note) rose slightly from 1.9 to
2.0 between 2014 and 2015. Danone’s 2015 severity rate (SR rate,
see Methodology Note) for workplace accidents with medical absence
was 0.1 for the Safety Scope (see Methodology Note).

For the past three years, Danone has expanded its workplace ac-
cident management to include accidents with and without medical
absence through systematic monitoring of the FR2 rate (accident
frequency rate without medical absence]. Danone now manages
safety improvements at each of its sites and subsidiaries by mea-
suring the decline in both types of accidents.

In 2015, the continued improvement in the results of the Waters
division (-20%) and of the Early Life Nutrition division (-14%) helped
limittheincrease in Danone’s FR1 rate (+5%) despite the integration
of Centrale Danone [Fresh Dairy Products, Morocco), whose FR1 rate
was 5.9. At constant scope, Danone’s FR1 rate decreased by 10%.

Danone’s 2015 frequency rate (FR2 rate, see Methodology Note) for
workplace accidents without medical absence was 3.5 for the Safety
Scope (see Methodology Note).
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Number of fatal accidents, number of accidents with at least one day of medical absence and frequency rate 1 by Division

Year ended December 31

2014 2015

Accidents with Accidents with at

) . at least one day least one day of
(in number of accidents except Fatal of medical Frequency Fatal medical Frequency
frequency rate) accidents @ absence@  Rate1(FR1)® accidents @ absence®  Rate1(FR1) @
Fresh Dairy Products - 195 2.4 = 258 2.9
Waters 3 86 1.0 - 72 0.8
Early Life Nutrition - b4 2.3 - 53 1.9
Medical Nutrition - 26 2.4 - 25 2.3
Central functions - 28 6.5 - 31 6.8
Total 3 399 1.9 - 439 2.0

(a) Safety Scope (see Methodology note).

Working conditions

Use of the WISE program to promote improved working
conditions

For the past three years, as an extension of the WISE program (see
section 5.1 Danone social, societal and environmental approach) and
due to the increase in musculoskeletal disorders resulting from
workplace accidents at various types of Danone sites, working
conditions form an integral part of the safety action plans.

The initiatives begun over the past several years have been con-
tinued in terms of:

® training: motion and posture training, ergonomics training for
technicaland engineering teams and training on risks associated
with the use of chemicals;

® workstation adaptations;

® new project design: dedicated investments and participatory
projects;

and have been expanded in the following areas:

e measures for employee turnover and working hours (local
distribution);

® engineering guidelines at the Fresh Dairy Products Division,
currently being disseminated to the other Divisions.

Deployment of human feasibility studies

The agreement signed in September 2011 with the IUF on health,
safety, working conditions and stress (see section 5.1 Danone social,
societal and environmental approach) stipulates that planning for the
human consequences of major organizational changes is a factor
in maximizing the success of these changes and preventing their
potential negative impacts on employees’ working conditions.

The “human feasibility studies” carried out pursuant to this agree-
ment and intended to analyze, manage and monitor the human
components of organizational projects continued in 2015 as part of
the local projects of the various subsidiaries and projects related
to Danone’s transformation.
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Work-related illness

The rate of work-related illness and associated absenteeism are
monitored only at the local level, mainly to take each country’s
legislation into account.

Health at work
Danone undertakes initiatives aimed at promoting and developing
health and well-being at work.

Ensure the health and well-being of Danone employees by
promoting good nutrition and a healthy lifestyle

Danone has also promoted health through food among its employees
for several years through its subsidiaries’ Health{dWork initiatives
(training, sports rooms, workplace nutritionist, discussions, etc.).

Most subsidiaries have rolled out programs at the workplace to
encourage employees to take responsibility for their health through
a balanced diet and regular physical activity.

Provide quality social welfare and medical coverage to all
employees, notably through the Dan’Cares program

In 2010, Danone launched the Dan'Cares program, with the goal of
providing all Danone employees with basic healthcare coverage:
hospitalization and surgery, maternity care, medical exams and
pharmacy services.

Dan'Cares’ specificity lies in its scope of application: it is designed
tobeimplementedinall Danone subsidiaries, including in countries
where such coverage is not traditionally provided (for example,
maternity care). All employees are covered, including those with
long-term, short-term and in some cases temporary contracts.

In some countries, employee healthcare covera